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PREFACE.

TrE Translator, having accomplished his very in-
teresting, though laborious, task of rendering into
English the manuscripts of (Reneral Ferrier, is anxious
to avall himself of this opportunity to congratulate that
officer on having added these instructive volumes
to the Eastern literature of this country. They can
be more thoroughly appreciated here than in France ;
and that they must prove of real value in England is
evident when we consider how great are the interests
involved in the development—commercial, social, and
religious—of that vast continent which Providence
has permitted to fall under our rule.

As an old soldier also, the Translator wishes to mark
his sense of the frank and generous manner in which
General Ferrier has spoken of the arduous services of
the Anglo-Indian army in Afghanistan ; more especially
as at the period at which he gave expression to these
sentiments—1845—the enfenfe between his own nation
and England was by no means so cordial as happily
it is now, The Author’s criticisms, when unfavour-
able, are generally well-founded; and though, no
doubt, inaccuracies are to be met with in some -por-
tions of the ¢ History of the Afghans,’ it is evident
that they proceed from defective information, and
not from any ignoble desire to write disparagingly
of the British Empire or our gallant soldiers. As
to his comments on the Indian policy of this country,
or the manner in which that policy has been carried
out, the Translator cannot, agreeing as he .does with
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the greater number of them, feel at all surprised
at their severity; indeed, he considers that we ought
to accept these comments with gratitude, inasmuch
as they present to us a more unprejudiced view of the
subject than we have yet seen.

At a very early period French travellers greatly
distinguished themselves in the East, and the names of
Tavernier, Bernier, and Thevenot justify the assertion ;
but the travels of General Ferrier are even of a more
interesting character than those of these pioneers
in Asiatic adventure; moreover, his sufferings were
great while wending his weary way over the deserts
of Central Asia, in some districts where European foot
had never before left its imprint on the burning sands.
The cruelty and hardships he then endured entitle him
to the commiseration of every feeling mind, and the
industry and perseverance that enabled him to collect
and to preserve the materials for his History and
Travels, under circumstances so adverse, are worthy
of all admiration.

Important also are the opinions of one who is capable
of giving us much sound advice, and critically examin.-
ing the conduct of Great Britain, in connection with
the countries which join her Indian frontiers on the
north and north-west. Our information regarding
these countries, their inhabitants, and their policy,
has hitherto come almost exclusively from officers or
civilians in the East India Company’s service; it is
profitable to see the same subjects treated by a
foreigner and from another point of view, for reasons
which must be apparent to many.

. General Ferrier has pointed out, in his chapter on
the invasion of India, in ¢ Caravan Journeys,’ the
probability of the Sepoys joining the Russian army,
and the princes and rajahs throwing off their alle-
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giance ; opiniong which, no doubt, elicited expressions
of indignation from many of his readers, especially
those who were the servants of the East India Com-
pany—but how fearfully has his estimate of native
fidelity been justified since the publication of that
volume !

The reader will do well to consult the highly
interesting notes and appendices of Sir H. Rawlinson,
Sir John Login, and Mr. Danby Seymour, in ¢ Caravan
Journeys,” a8 they elucidate many points in the History
of the Afghanes,

The style of the author is rather severe, and there
are several portions of the present work in which there
was an opening for much touching writing and for
appeals to the highest and best feelings of our nature;
even a few words only here and there would have
considerably increased the interest of the subject, but
the translator did not consider himself at liberty to
do otherwise than adhere strictly to the text. When
there was a duplication of thought, or want of arrange-
ment, he has endeavoured to remedy these defects;
but otherwise the reader is in possession of General
Ferrier's work in its integrity.

WiLLiAM JESSE.

Maisonette, Ingatestone, March 27, 1868.
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HISTORY OF THE AFGHANS.

CHAPTER 1.

Origin of the Afghans — Opinion of Monsieur Ruffin, Eugéne Boré, and others —
Opinion of Afghan authors — Afghans mentioned by Tamerlane in his Insti-
tutes — The probability of their Jewish origin —Their conversion to Islamism
— A Hebrew Bible presented to Nadir Shah by the Yooscofzyes — Afghans of
Indian and Khorassian origin — Warlike and independent under Sebek-Taghee
— Aborigines of Afghanistan — Afghans in India known as Patans and Rohillas
~— First mentioned as Afghans in the reign of Aboo Seid — Classification of
Afghan tribes — The author adopts that of Abdullah Khan — Persecution of the
Afghans under Ghengis Khan — The Abdalees settle in the Suleiman mountains
— Yoosoofzyes established in Cashmeer — Afghanistan inhabited almost exclu-
sively by Abdalees and Ghildjgyes — List of Afghan tribes and their branches —
Schism amonget them on this subject — Makoohees and Khaouganees — A singular
reason for taking offence — Subdivision of the tribes and their branches.

TaE origin of the Afghans, which is involved in obscurity, has
given rise to a variety of opinions, and it is not easy to adopt
any one in particular. Some pretend that they are descended from
the soldiers of Alexander the Great, whom he left in these countries
after he had conquered them ; and from some Greek colonists who,
under the kings that succeeded that emperor, subsequently joined
these descendants of his victorious legions. Others affirm that the
Copts of Egypt, the Chaldeans, and even the Armenians, were
their ancestors ; but the majority of Fastern writers consider them
to be the descendants of one of the ten tribes of Israel—and this
is the opinion of the Afghans themselves. Finally, a few authors
assure us that this nation is not of Jewish origin, but that those

who introduced the Mahometan religion amongst them were con-
verted Jews.

The following is taken from the work of that celebrated orien-
talist, M. Ruffin: “The Afghans,” he says, “had their origin
from the Albanians of Asia, who, in consequence of their numerous
revolts, were transported from one extremity of Persia to the other,
and driven into Khorassan; they were a very warlike people,
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2 ORIGIN OF THE AFGHANS. CHar. 1.

known under the name of Aghvan or Avghan, and made them-
selves famous in the history of Persia. Their Albanian origin is
evideot by the name itself, for agvan is the Greek word HA'AB.”

This opinion, which has been contradicted by several authors,
merits nevertheless some attention, because it is in accordance with
the custom which the Persian monarchs are supposed to have fol-
lowed, viz. that of removing from the shores of the Mediterranean
or the Black Sea any population that gave them the least uneasi-
ness or apprehension ; also that of bestowing upon the Greeks, a
considerable number of whom were at all times in the Persian
armies, a certain portion of territory, where they were allowed to
establish themselves, as a reward for their services. The historians
of Alexander have made us acquainted with one of these colonies,
and we learn from them that, when that monarch advanced into
Bactria in pursuit of Bessus, he destroyed the town of the Brances,
the inhabitants of which, descended from Milesian Greeks, he put
to death, as a punishment for a crime committed by their ancestors
—a most cruel and unjust act.

The opinion of M. Ruffin 18 in opposition to that of another
oriental scholar, M. Eugene Boré, who, in his Letters on the East,
thus explains himself on the subject of these Albanians :—

“The Aghovans,” lie remarks, “were an ancient and distinct
people, first brought to ¢ur.notice by Pompey at the time of his
expedition into the Caucasus. The Greeks and Latins, by an inac-
curate transcription of their name, called them Albanians; they
inhabited the high mountains and the valleys bordering on the
Caspian Sea, which now form the provinces of Daghestan and
Shirvan. The Armenians were never able to subjugate this brave
people, who were governed by feudal laws similar to those which
existed in Europe during the middle ages; they were Christians
before they adopted the faith of Mahomet, and it is known that
they preserved their liberty up to the period of the arrival of
Bouzan, general of the Sultan Seljookide Malek Shah. The lan-
guage of this nation differed entirely from that of the Armenians,
..... In short, we may say that the people mentioned by the
Greek authors under the denomination of Albanians cannot, on
account of their peculiar language, be considered as of Chaldaean
origin—an opinion which is in direct contradiction to that of their
historian, Moses Galganderasti, who lived about the ninth century
of the Christian era, and who, with Moees of Chorenus, affirms
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that they are descended from Sisag, of the Armenian race. We
hope to clear up this point afier baving collected from the moun-
tainous district in which these pretended sons of the Aghovans
lived, the remains of the language they speak. It is with less
reason still that some of the learned, led astray by a similarity of
words, have confounded the Aghovans with the Afghans, feudal
tribes dispersed over the south of Persia, and who, more than any
other, recall to our minds the ancient Parthians. The language
of the Afghans is analogous to that of the primitive Persian, and,
in the opinion of Sir William Jones, they are neither of Jewish
nor Chaldean extraction. The supposition that they were identified
with the Agbovans, once formed, has led to the conclusion that
they were the descendants of Jews, because the province of Kir, to
which the Assyrians transported the captive tribes of Israel, ap-
peared to commentators to be the country watered by the Kour,
the Cyrus of the Greeks.” ‘

Some persons have with reason affirmed that Tamerlane, exas-
perated at the depredations committed by the people inhabiting
Mazanderan, south of the Caspian, transported the whole of them
into the mountains situated between India and Persia. But they
erred in supposing that from this population are descended the
Afghaus of our own day, for the posterity of the unfortunate people
who were removed to these mountains by the Tartar conqueror form
at the present time a small tribe of Eimaks, known under the appel-
lation of Firooz Kohis, after the city of that name (situated about
sixty-three miles from Teheran), where they were defeated and taken
captive by Tamerlane : this tribe now inhabit the country between
Herat and Meimana. Besides, the Tartar warrior and legislator
mentions the Afghans, in his Institutes, as a nation which had for
many years inhabited the Suleiman mountains, and was much
given to pillage.

The Afghan authors who admit the Jewish origin of their nation
thus account for the removal of their ancestors to Central Asia :
some declare that Afghana, who gave his name to the Afghans,
was lineally” descended from Abraham and Hagar by Ishmael ;
others affirm that he was the grandson of Saul ; and all think that
Baekht ul Nasser * must have sent some Jewish prisoners into the
mountains of Gour. These prisoners would soon have considerably

* Nebuchadnezzar.
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4 CONVERSION TO ISLAMISM, Caar. L.

increased ; and though far from their mother-country, without doubt
they would have preserved their faith, which was kept alive by
the periodical reception of letters from their countrymen who, more
fortunate than themselves, had returned to the Holy Land. Matters
remained in ths state until Mahomet announced himself as the
messenger of God. A Jew, by name Khaled, whom he converted,
wrote at this tune to his brethren in Gour to give notice of this
happy event, and induce them to embrace the new faith; but they,
before adopting Islamism, sent several of their chiefs to the Prophet.
Amongst these was Kels, who pretended to be descended in a
direct Iine from Saul through forty-seven generations, and Abraham
through sixty-five. Mahomet loaded him and his companions with
favours, and gave him the title of Malek ®* Abd-ul-reshid, a rank
to which he was entitled as the descendant of the Jewish king.
These Afghan ambassadors, now Mussulmans, aceompanied Ma-
homet in several of his wars, and distinguished themselves by many
remarkable deeds of valour; nevertheless, with the sanction of the
Prophet, and after having received his benediction, they returned
to their own homes, accompanied by a few Arabs, and with their
assistance succecded, in the space of forty years, in completely con-
verting their countrymen to Islamism,

= Some authors affirm that Afghana was the son.of Khaled ; others
say he was contemporary with Solomon, and assert that he was one
of the principal officers of that monarch.

These different versions, which do not rest upon any sufficient
proof, are very difficult to admit; the Afghans, however, think
that they have evidence of their Jewish origin in the following tra-
dition. When Nadir Shah, marching to the conquest of India,
arrived at Peshawur, the chiefs of the tribe of the Yoosoofzyes pre-
sented him with a Bible written in Hebrew, and several articles
that had been used in their ancient worship which they had pre-
served ; these articles were at once recognised by the Jews who
followed the camp. This fact, supposing it to be one, if affording
evidence sufficiently convincing to some persons, can only be con-
sidered as authority with respect to the Yoosoofzyes; but it does
not folluw, therefore, that other Afghan tribes are branches from
the same stem; on the contrary, everything leads to the conclusion
that, although they all speak a common language, the Pushtoo,

* Prince,
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the tribes are not all of the same origin,—they are distinguished by
marked characteristics, moral as well as physical. The Afghans
of Kabul consider themselves as Indian Afghans, whereas those
of Herat say they are Khorassani Afghans; one tribe repudiates
another, and denies its Afghan ongin, and there is not the least
sympathy between them. We may believe that, being enemies
in bygone ages, their union, such as it was, progressed only by
degrees, with a view of delivering themselves from slavery, and
repulsing the common enemy. The names of Patan, Rohilla,
Afghan, which serve at the present time to designate the Afghan
nation, are really those of so -many distinct races now confounded
in one. If we could admit, as they do, their Jewish origin, we
must also suppose that they would, on the spot to which they were
transferred, have developed all the characteristics of an enslaved
people, humble and degenerate ; but such is not the case, for we
find the Afghans from the very first, that is to say from the reign
of Sebek-Taghee, courageous, and animated by a love of inde-
pendence—always warlike and energetic, retiring to their moun-
tain fastnesses to escape from tyranny, and leaving them whenever
the smallest hope presented itself of seizing lands which they con-
gidered they had any right to—it 18 only a primitive race who
could have remained so strongly attached to the soil.

No one has thought of the aboriginal people, nevertheless they
must not be lost sight of, for, according to Quintus Curtius and
Arnan, the Arians, Arrachosians, and others, were both numerous
and brave. The conquests of Alexander did not lead to their exter-
mination ; and it i8 very natural to suppose that their race has
descended to the present day through intermarriages, though in small
proportions, with the Greeks who remained amongst them, and after-
wards with the Tartar and Persian conquerors who invaded them.
However, under all circumstances, there 18 little affinity between
them and these two nations; it is not thus with the Beloochees, with
whom they have many points of resemblance, moral as well as
pbysical. In spite of the foreign domination which has weighed
upon the Afghans for so many generations, we ought to believe
them when they state that their race has never mixed with any
other, for in our day they make no alliances except amongst
themselves ; and the Afghan who should give his daughter in mar-
riage to a stranger would dishonour himself; this, however, is a
remark which in a strict sense applies only to those tribes that
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inhabit Afghanistan properly so called, for those disseminated
through India connect themselves without distinction with all
Mahomedan nations.

The natives of India have known the Afghans for centuries under
the name of Patans and Robillas,* a designation which they now
apply to them ; they also call them Pushtoonees, from the language
they still speak ; and it is not till the reign of the Sultan Abou-
seid, of the race of Ghengis Khan, that certain Eastern writers
speak of them under the name of Afghan, which is only the plural
of the Arab word feghan.t This was applied to them because
they were always in a disunited state amongst themselves, and
continually addressing their complaints to the sovereigns on whom
they were dependent; nevertheless the name was but little used
till the reign of Shah Abbas the Great, who, tired with their in-
cessant lamentations, ordered them henceforward to be called by
that designation only.

There are almost as many clasifications of the Afghan tribes
as there are Eastern authors who have written on the subject; not
only are they not agreed, but they have called each other very hard
names to prove their accuracy. Being incompetent to decide
which is right, we shall adopt the opinion of Abdullah Khan of
Herat as the one most deserving of credit, and we will precede it
by giving his view of the manner in which the Afghans were
brought to Afghanistan. The following is a translation of his
manuscript :—

“The word Afghan is derived from the Arab, that of aoughan
fram the Persian, and both one and the other are used in Hebrew.

‘“ Malek Thalut (Saul) king of the Jews had two sons, Afghan
and Djalut—the first was the father of the Afghan nation and gave
his name to it. After the reigns of David and Solomon, who suc-
ceeded Saul, anarchy divided the Jewish tribes, and this continued
to the period at which Bouktun Nasri took Jerusalem, massacred
70,000 Jews, and after destroying that city led the surviving
Mmhabitants captives to Babylon. Subsequently to this disaster the
Afghan tribe, struck with terror, fled from Judea and settled in
Arabia: here they remained some considerable time, but as pas-
turage and water were scarce, and both man and beast suffered
extreme privation, some of the tribe determined to emigrate to

* Roh in Pushtoo signifies mountain, %+ Noise, tumult.
and Rohdlla sn inhabitant of mountaina, 4 Nebuchadnezzar,
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Hindostan. The branch of the Abdalees continued to reside in
Arabia, and during the caliphat of Aboo Bekr their chiefs allied
themselves to a powerful sheikh, by name Khaled ibn Velid, of the
tribe of Korech. The position and condition of the Abdalees was
senmbly ameliorated in consequence of the assistance which they
obtained from Khaled, but at the period when the Arabe subju-
gated Persia the Abdalees left Arabia and settled in this new con-
quest, establishmg themselves in the provinces of Fars and Kerman,
and here they remained until Ghengis Khan invaded those districts.
The tyrammical proceedings of this conquerar weighed with such
terrible effect on the population, that the Abdalees quitted Persia
and, passing by the Mekrane, Seinde, and Mooltan, arrived in
India ; but the results of this new migration were not more for-
tunate, for they were scarcely settled here when their neighbours
made war upon, and forced them to leave the plains and inhabit
the rugged mountains of Suleiman, considered as the cradle of
the tribe, and called by them Kooh-Khasseh.* The whole Afghan
nation was brought together by the arrival of the Abdalees in
the Suleiman mountaing, and then consisted of twenty-four tribes,
of which, as it has been already obeerved, Afghan, the son of
Saul, was the father: this prince had three sons, named Teera-
Bend, Argoutch, and Kerlen, and each of them was the father of
eight sons, who gave their names to the twenty-four tribes.
“The following is the manner in which they are classed :—

“Bons of Taera-Bend. Names of the Tribes. Bons of Argoutch. Names of the Tribes.
Abdal .. .. .. .. Abdalees, Ghildj .. .. ., Ghildjayes.
Yoosoof .. .. .. Yoosoofzyes Kauker .. .. ., Eaukerees,
Baboor.. .. .. .. Baboorees. Djumourian ., .. Djumourianees.
Lohooan .. .. .. Lohooanseea, Pen .. .. .. .. Peneea.
Beritch .. .. .. Beritchees. Kass ., .. .. .. Kassees.
Chivan .. .. .. .. Chiranees. Nagsar .. .. .. Nassarves,

~ Sons of Kerlen. Kames of the Tribes. Sons of Kerlen. Names of tho Tribes
Boor .. .. .. .. Sooresa, Bab .. .. .. .. Babees,
Afreed.. .. .. .. Afreedees. Benguech.. .. .. Benguechees.
Toor .. .. .. .. Toorees, Lendeh-poor.. .. Lendeh-poorees,

* Aden and the surrounding country  as an Af] author bas stated ¥ I do
is at the present time inhabited byan not think we should: a similarity of
Arab tribe, whioh, as well as the prin- name and the alliance of the Afghan
cipal Afghan tribe, is known by the  Abdalees with the Arab tribe of Korech
pame of Abdalee. Are we to conclude are not sufficient proofs in the affirma-
that they have one and thesame origin, tive,~—Ferrer,
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“The greater number of these tribes were scattered over India; but
there, instead of increasing, they so diminished that scarcely a trace
of any of them is to be found in these days. The only exception
to this remark is the tribe of Yoosoofzyes settled in Cashmeer.
Nadir Shah, desirous of ascertaining their numbers, issued a de-
cree that each family should bring a spear to his camp, and when
these were counted they were found to amount to 600,000: at
the present time there would not be balf that number. This tribe
has for more than thirty years been umnder the domimion of the
Sikhs. Afghanistan, properly so called, is inhabited almost exclu-
sively by Abdalees and Ghildjzyes, and of these we shall speak
more especially. The first, although inhabiting every part of
Afghanistan, are principally resident in Herat and Kandahar;
the Ghildjzyes are established in the last-mentioned principality
and Kabul ; the Kaukerees near the Bolan Pass ; the Baboorees,
Nassarees, Lohooanees, and Babees, in Kandahar and Scinde, where
they are profitably vccupied in commercial pursuits ; the Beritchees
are in the neighbourhood of Pisheen ; the Chiranees and the Moh-
munds to the north-east of Kabul ; the Benguechees (Shiahs) between
the last-mentioned town and the country of the Hazarahs,—these
are divided into four branches, viz. the Bede-kheelee, Chaloozanee,
Djajee, and Bertedjee ; finally, the Chiranees are to be found every-
where, though in small numbers : the remaining tribes are in India,
or have become extinct.

“ Having only to consider Afghanistan Proper, I will now give
more detailed information respecting the Abdalees and the
Ghildjzyes, which form the bulk of the population of this country ;
and as the offshoots in which they are subdivided are tolerably
numerous, it will be useful to give here a tabular statement, which
I have endeavoured to render as accurate as possible.

“The powerful tribe of the Abdalees is known at the present
time under the name of Dooranee, which was given to them by
Ahmed Shah Suddozye on the occasion of his ascending the throne
in 1747, 'When Nadir Shah ordered a census to be made of the
Abdalee tribe, there were 195,000 families, and from these he
raised 12,000 excellent cavalry ; but the Abdalees have decreased
i number since Nadir’s time.

“ Abdal, the son of Tsera-Bend, the fuunder of this tribe, had only
one son, named Teryn, who bad two sons, Zirek and Pindjpa:
from the first originated three tribes, and from the second five.
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“The tribes that descended from Zirek are,—

“1st. Koofelzye, more generally known under the name of
Popolzye, divided into five branches, namely,—1st, the Hussenzalee ;
2nd, Badoozye ; 3rd, Kalenderzye ; 4th, Ayoobzye ; 5th, Suddozye.
The legitimate sovereigns who have reigned over the Afghans
during the 17th and 18th centuries were of the branch of the
Suddozyes. The tribe of the Koofelzyes numbered 20,000
families.

“2nd. Barukyze. This was in very ancient times one of the
moet distingnished offshoots of the Abdalees; it is divided into six
branches—1st, the Mohamedzye ; 2nd, Kharzye; 3rd, Sefretzye;
" 4th, Inguizye; 6th, Gurjizye; 6th, Etchekzye. 'The actual
sovereigns of Kandabar and Kabul are of the branch of Mo-
hamedzye. The Barukzyes numbered 40,000 families.

“3rd. Alikiouzye, which is divided into three branches—1st, the
Djaloozye, to which belonged the chiefs of the Alikiouzye tribe;
2nd, Melazye ; 3rd, Serkanee. Yar Mohamed Kban, of Herat, is
of this tribe and the Djaloozye branch. The Alikiouzyes number
20,000 families.

"¢ The tribes descended from Pindjpa are—

“ 1st. Isakzye, numbering 10,000 families and divided into four
branches, viz., lst, Ahmedzye ; 2nd, Avazye; 3rd, Merdinzye ;
4th, Biroozye.

“2nd. Alizye, numbering 10,000 families and divided into three
branches—1st, Hassanzalee, to which the chiefs of the Alizye tribe
belong ; 2nd, Alekzye; 3rd, Guerazye.

“3rd. Noorzye, numbering 30,000 families and divided into three
branches—1st, Tchalakzye ; 2nd, Bahaderzye ; 3rd, Derzakee.

“ 4th. Khaouganee, numbering 6000 families and divided into
two branches—1st, Khaouganee Kelan ; 2nd, Khaouganee Kitchik.

% dth. Makoohee, numbering 10,000 families and divided into
three branches—1st, Bedelzye ; 2nd, Firoozye ; 8rd, Sebzalee.

“ The tribe of the Ghildjzyes, from which sprung Mir Weis, Mir
Mabwmood hjgson, and Mir Echreff his nephew, had Ghildj, the
son of Argoutch, for its founder. Ghildj had two sons, Ibrahim
and Thooran, from whom sprung the six tribes that follow, viz.,
1st, Suleiman-Kheilee ; 2nd, Outekee ; 3rd, Tookhee—from this
came the branch of the Loods, which gave India its sovereigns;
4th, Khaleelee; 5th, Toorkee ; 6th, Euderee. The three first
descended from Ibrahim, and the three last from Thooran.
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A Tasre of the Triss of the ABDALEES.

I — _—#

Founders. Btock. Tribes. Branches.

[ ( SBuddoxye.

Hussenzalee.

Popolzye .. Badoozye.
Kalenderzye,
Ayoobzye.

' Mohamedeye.

Zirek .. Kharzye,

Sefretzye.
Baruksye .. Inguisye.
Gurjizye.
| Etchekzye,
Djaloogye.
Alikiouzye .. | ( Meluzys.
Serkanee.

( Ahmedeye.
Avazye,
Merdinzye,
Biroozgye.
Hassanzalee.
Alizye .. .. | { Alekzye.
Pindj guhemya.
. chalakzye.
o i Noorzye .. Bahaderzye.
Derzakee.

Abdal and
his son Teryn {
founders of

the Tribe. Isakzye .. .,

Khaouganee Kelan.
Khaouganee | { Rhaouennos Kitohik.
Bedelsye.
Makoohee ., Firoozye.
Sebgalee,

TriBE of the GEILINZYE. ’

Suleiman-Kheilse.
Ibrahim.. .. Qutekea.

1ds , Tookhea.
Ghildy - - o Khaleelee,

Thooran .. Toorkee,
Enderes.”

The primitive tribe of the Afghans was called taifeh, a word
which corregponds with that of nation : the first divisions of this
primitive tribe are called fergueh, tribe ; the subdivisions of this,
{irehs or dranches. Thus the families which are descended from
the first generation—Tsera-Bend, Argoutch, and Kerlen—as the
Abdalees, the Ghildjzyes, the Kaukerees, form the Taifeh, nation ;
those which descend from these last, such as the Popolzyes, Baruk-
zyes, Ibrahim, Thooran, &o., are called Fergueh, tribes; and the sub-
divisions of these (see the above table) are called the TireA, branches.

The Abdalees and Ghildjzyes, by reason of their numerical
superiority over the others, and also from the power they bave
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exercised, and continue to exercise, in Afghanistan at the present
day, have arrogated to themselves a certain kind of supremacy
over the other tribes, and consider themselves of an orgin more
noble than theirs : they_even refuse to acknowledge their right to
the title of Afghan. It is more especially the Abdalee tribe that
has put forth, and in the most positive manner, this pretension,
Not only do they refuse the title of Afghans—and this even to the
Ghildjzyes—but also there i3 a schism on the subject amongst
themselves, and the Zireks affirm that they are of a more noble
extraction than the Pindjpas. This scornful assumption has often
given rise to sanguinary conflicts between them, and is based upon
the fact that the mother of Abdal was a legitimate wife, whereas
the mother of Ghildj was a concubine, which is, they say, proved by
the name which was given him, for Ghild] in Pushtoo signifies
bastard.

On the other hand, the tribes of Makoohee and Khaouganee,
though of Afghan origin, were not at the outset of the Abdalee
tribe, but, by reason of the perfect friendship which always existed
between them, the Abdalees adopted them and classed them
amongst the Pindjpas, and they have ever since been considered
as belonging to that family. After the death of Nadir Shah an
occurrence took place which will give some idea of the impartance
the Afghans attach to their belonging to the most noble tribe.

Ahmed Shah had scarcely founded the dynasty of the Suddozyes
when it was nearly overthrown by an intrigue fomented against
him by the Serdar Noor Mobamed Khan. Ohbliged to employ
severe measures to repress the evil-disposed, he ordered that ten
persons of each tribe taken from amongst the most guilty should be
put to death. It was the first time he had shed the blood of his
subjects, and the experiment was not without danger, for the
Afghans talked of avenging themselves and retaliating upon the
Shah and his family ; but the sovereign authority triumphed, and
from that moment it was admitted by the tribes that the king had
the right of shedding blood without any one having the power to
question it. The Makoohees and Khaouganees had not been
included in these acts of severity, on the ground that, not being
Abdalees by descent, their fault was of less magnitude, and therefore
it was possible to pardon them; but these tribes, affronted at the
exception, withdrew from the Shah’s camp. An explanation
naturally followed, and Ahmed Shah, to satisfy them, ordered ten
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Makoohees and ten Khaouganees to be put to death, upon which
they immediately returned to their duty, for they considered them-
selves vilified by the exception that had been made in their favour.

Independently of the tribes and branches that we have classified,
those of the Abdalees and the Ghildjzyes are again subdivided into
so great a number of tiref, or families, and there is 8o much con-
fusion in these subdivisions, that it would be impossible for an
Afghan, even the best informed upon the subject, to give a perfect
list of them. There would be no exaggeration in stating their
numbers at more than three hundred. These have been formed
from time to time when the surplus population of a tribe has been
obliged to separate from it and seek a fresh district, or when an
influential relative of the chief had some misunderstanding with
him and withdrew from his authority, with those who were attached
to his own person. At other times some succeasful conqueror broke
up a tribe, to render it less powerful ; each subdivision then tock the
name of the new chief whose fortunes it followed, but they always
looked upon themselves as members of the ungmal tribe, though
often separated by considerable distances from each other. These
separations are also to be attributed to the fear entertained by the
sovereigns of the numerical force of some of the tribes. Shah
Abbas the Great was the last who adopted this measure on a large
scale ; and to secure the permanent tranquillity and stability of the
populations to which he had assigned a new territory, he carried a
number of hostages with him to Ispahan,

The Abdalees, besides having the name of Dooranees, which
they received from Ahmed Shah, are still called Suleimanees, from
the mountains whence they came ; the district they then inhabited
bears the appellation of Tobeh-Maharoof.
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CHAPTER II

Afghanistan conquered by Alexander — Reconquered by the aboriginal inhabitants
—-Taken by the Tartars — Death of Mansoor-— Success of Sebek-Taghee —
Character - of the Afghans at this period — Concession of territory to the
Abdalee tribe — (Ghildjzyes opposed to the Tartar dominion — The first sove-
reign of Afghanistan— His son Mahmood — Cruelty of the Tartar princee —
Expulsion of Beiram — Khosroo Malek the last of the Ghaznevide dynasty — List
of the monarchs of that race — Afghan princes of Gour — Mahmood Gouree —
His conquests in India — Eldoos — Djellal Eddin — Afghanietan conquered
by Ghengis Khan — Malek Kurt — Chems Eddin Gouree < Their susorainty to
the Tartars — Conquered by Tamerlane — Deecription of the Afghans by that
invader — Afghan rule in India — Mahmood III. — Ibrahim Khan defeats Bellal
and seizes Kabul and Kandahar — Mirza Baboor — Asasisted by the Persians —
Defeated by the Uzbeks, but succesaful in India — Fall of lbrahim Khan —
Death of Mirza Baboor — Suoceeded by his son Humayoon — Protected by
Shah Thamasp — Anecdote of the latter — Assista Humayoon with a Persian
army — The Loods defeated — Their attempts to retake Delhi — The prophetess
Kiemal Eddin — S8hah Jehan drives out the Loods — Aurungeebe finally anni-
hilates them — Kandahar ceded to Persia by Humayoon — Tuaken and retaken
by the Persians and Moguls — Afghan deputation to 8hah Abbas — Extract from
8ir John Malcolm's * History of Persia'— Afghans quiet under Shah Abbas —
Tyranny of his grandson Shah Seffee — Kandahar taken by Shah Abbas II. in
1642 — Success of the Ghildjzyes — Their revolt suppreesed by the Shah
Hoosein — Qourguin Ehan — Deputation of the Afghans to the Persian Court
in 1706.

AMoNGST the conquests of Alexander the Great was that of Af-
ghanistan, and at the death of this invader his lieutenant, Seleucus,
succeeded to the sovereignty of the greater portion of his dominions
in Asia. It is presumed that his son and grandson followed him ;
but history does not inform us how or why, under the reign of the
last-mentioned monarch, Afghanistan was taken from the Seleukides
by the aboriginal chiefs, and soon formed, with Bactria, an inde-
pendent state, which existed with some degree of splendour during
one hundred and fifty years. After the lapse of that period the
Tartars made themselves masters of the country, and appear to
have held possession of it up to the tenth century. This blank
remains in profound obscurity, and it is only from about the year
A.p. 997 that we have any information which can elucidate the
history of the Afghane,

At that time Mansoor reigned in Tartary,and when he died
an officer of rank, named Sebek-Taghee, threw off the allegiance
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he owed to his successor, established his dominion over all the
southern part of Afghanistan, and made Ghuznee his capital.
The Afghan tribes at this period were for the most part a nomade
and barbarous people, living by plunder and rapine, and under
a host of chiefs very careful of their independence, who were
almost always at enmity with each other, and ready to sell their
services to the highest bidder. Thence it often bhappened tbat a
part of the nation was to be found in one camp, while another was
opposed to it in that of the enemies, and, like true Condottieri, they
fought against one another without the least scruple. The disunion
existing amongst the Afghan tribes in the present day may be
traced back to the most remote times, and it is not surprising that
with this sentiment they huve so long delayed to organize them-
selves a8 a pation. Their migratory habits also contributed to
this result, and they were for a long time a wild race dispersed
over Persia, India, and the mountaine of Afghanistan, but every-
where and at all periods turbulent and difficult to govern, adapting
themselves very little to the habits of those of a different origin
within whose territory they establigshed themselves. The consequence
was, that on very many occasions quarrels arose in which many of
the tribes were decimated without pity, while the remainder were
obliged to seek refuge in the mountains where they are to be met
with in the present day. The tribe of the Abdalees, the most
powerful now existing, did not fix itself in the Suleiman range
till it had received authority to do so from Sebek-Taghee, who was
desirous of recompensing them by this concession of territory
for the sapport they had afforded him in his Indian campaigns.
The Ghildjzyes, on the contrary, were always strongly opposed to
the Tartar dominion over their country, which was 80 much the
more dangerous for them, because their tribe was at that time
exceedingly numerous. They carried their malpractices to such
an extent, that Mabmood, son of Sebek-Taghee, who succeeded
him on the throne of Ghuznee, was obliged almost entirely to
exterminate them. But succeeding centuries have enabled the
Ghildjzyes to recover from this disaster, and the tribe is now,
next to that of the Abdalees, the most numerous and the most
powerful in Afghanistan.

Sebek-Taghee may be considered as the first sovereign who ruled
over Afghanistan properly so called ; but the Afghans, in conse-
quence of his Tartar origin, looked upon him and his descendants
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as tyrants and usurpers, and thought little of his good deeds
and the benefitz he conferred upon them. Mahmood, after the
death of his father, carried his arms into Persia aud India, and
with the spoils of war obtained in these countries enriched
Afghanistan, and made Ghuznee, his capital, one of the most
beautiful cities in Asia. His death took place in 1028, His de-
scendants, little worthy of succeeding him, soon lost the territory
which he had added to the kingdom founded by Sebek-Taghee ;
their dominion was soon reduced to the Afghan provinces, in which
their authority was not always respected; and if they preserved
these during two centuries, they owed this circumstance much more
to the difficulties in which their neighbours were involved than to
any fear they entertained of the Tartar dynasty.

Beiram, one of these princes, seized upon an Afghan chief, of
the name of Sooree, who about the year 1151 commanded in the
province of Gour, and put him to a cruel death to punish him for
the resolution with which he had opposed him. The barbarity
of the Tartar prince on this occasion exceeded anything that can
be imagined ; he made him suffer a thousand tortures, and insulted
him by every species of outrage.

Allah-Eddin, brother of this unfortunate Afghan and his successor
in the sovereignty of Gour, determined to revenge himself by force
of arms, and completely succeeded. He seized the town of Ghuznee,
abandoned it during seven days to the fury and excesses of an
army burning with vengeance and possessed with an inherent pas-
sion for plunder, and who carried the spirit of a savage temperament
80 far as to mix the blood of the vanquished with the mortar des-
tined to repair the walls of the city.

Beiram, thus vanquished, retired beyond the Indus, and con-
tinued to reign in the Punjab, abandoning the western provinces of
his kingdom to his victorious adversary.

War was declared on several other occasions between these two
princes, when Beiram was less unfortunate, and his son Khosroo Shah
inherited the reduced territory he had preserved ; but the dynasty
of the Ghaznevides was brought to a close during the lifetime of
his grandson Khosroo Malek. Attacked in 1160 by Mahmood
Gouree, cousin and successor of Allah Eddin, Khosroo Malek
- was overthrown, and his kingdom annexed to that of Afghanistan,
The following is a list of the Ghaznevide princes who reigned over
the last-mentioned country :—
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4.0, Hejira. A.D, Hejira
Sebek-Taghee .. 976 .... 365 All .. .o o0 oo oo 1049 ... 441
Iemasl .. .. .. 9897 .... 387 Abd-ul-Reschid .. 1052 .... 443
Mahmood .. .. 997 ..., 387 Ferakh-zad .. .. 1053 .... 444
Mohamed .. .. 1030 .... 421 Ibrahim .. .. .. 1059 .... 450
Mansood ., .. .. 1031 ..., 422 Maseood .. .. .. 1098 ... 492
Madood .. .. .. 1041 ,, .. 433 Arselane Shab .. 1104 ..., 508
Massood .. .. .. 1049 ., ., 441 Beiram Shah .. .. 118 ... 513

The Afghan princes of Gour, from being simple chiefs of a small
principality, were thus raised to the sovereign power in Afghanistan,
to which they soon added divers principalities of India. Gourisa
little province, well situated for defence, and in the heart of the
most rugged mountains of the Paropamisus, but possessing none
of those means of aggression which could enable the Afghans to
hope for victory against one so powerful as that of Ghuznee. Tt
may be supposed that Allah Eddin found a ready support in the
other tribes of his nation, who submitted with regret to the dominion
of the Tartars. The humiliation which the Afghans experienced in
being treated as a conquered people, added to their feelings of
nationality, must have excited heroic sentiments in their breasts, and
made them triumph over the foreign race that oppressed them.

Mahmood Gouree carried his arms into the interior of India
and seized Benares, in which city he committed a thousand
atrocities. This prince left no heirs, and died in 1205. His
empire, in accordance with his desire, was divided between
his favourites and his freedmen. Afghanistan proper fell to
Eldooz, but he was soon despoiled of it by a prince of Kharism,
whose successor, Djellal Eddin, was in like manner obliged to
retire before the victorious armies of Ghengis Khan. Ferighteh
informs us that the descendants of this conqueror were in possession
of Afghanistan up to the year 1251—the period at which an
Afghban or Patan King, which is synonymous, seized upon Ghuznee
and Kabul, and annexed them to the Indian empire.

Less than a century later a new dynasty, which western authors
mention under the name of Malek Kurt,* establigshed itself in the
province of Gour and extended its dominion over Kandahar and
Herat from a.p. 1336 (Hejira 736) to A.n. 1383 (Hejira 785).

The first sovereign of this dynasty, Chems-Eddin Gouree,

* The word Kurt is a corruption of dynasty was of the Afghan race.—
the word Gour, which, united with that  Ferrier,
of Malek, signifies Prince of Gour, This
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nevertheless, acknowledged the suzerainty of the Tartar monarchs ;
this was the case also with his sons and successors, Rookn-Eddin
and Fakhr-Eddin, but the third, Ghyaz-Eddin, threw off the vassal-
age which had been laid upon him by the descendants of Ghengis
Khan. Chems-Eddin, Malek Hafez, Moez Eddin Hoosein, and
Malek Bagher, who succeeded him, preserved their independgnce ;
nevertheless the latter claimed the support of the Tartars to main-
tain him in the positioh he bad usurped; but his reign was of
brief duration, for his brother Moez-Eddin overthrew him, and left
the reins of power to his son Ghyaz-Eddin, the ninth and last sove-
reign of this dynasty. This prince was made prisoner by the
Emir Tamerlane, who seized his territory as well as that of Ghuznee
and Kabul.

Tamerlane speaks of the Afghans in his Institutes as a barbarous
people, devoted to pillage, and by no means so far advanced in
civilization as the Tartars; but he limits the country they then
occupied to the Suleiman mountains, from which we are left to
conclude that be understood by the name Afghan or Aoughan
only the tribe of the Abdalees, who, siuce the days of Sebek-Taghee,
were in possession of the country mentioned in the Institutes. This
circumstance i8 therefore confirmatory of the opinion we bave
already set forth on the uncertainty of the origin of the Afghans.

From the conquest of Afghanistan by Tamerlane up to the com-
mencement of the sixteenth century the information respecting them
18 exceedingly vague, and yet this epoch ought to have been one of
the most honourable in the annals of Afghan history ; but a portion
of the facts which relate to it occurred in India, and beyond the ter-
ritory the history of which we are endeavouring to sketch : we shall
therefore pass on very rapidly, and only have recourse to the manu-
script from which we have already given some passages.

The Afghan rule in India commenced at the death of Mahmood
Gouree, which took place in 1205; thus, as we have already
stated above, the dominions of this Mabhmood were, for want
of a direct heir, divided between his favourites and freedmen.
The Indian provinces fell to Koutoob, one of his generals of the
Afghan tribe of Lood. This tribe, seeing its chuef the sovereign
of a vast empire, with Delhi for its capital, left Afghanistan
and settled themselves in India, where, protected and favoured
by the monarch, they increased rapidly. Accustomed from their
infancy to a life spent in camps, and of rude and simple habits,

G .
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they with little difficulty obtained an ascendancy over the natives
of India, and the fear with which they inspired them resulted in
their accepting with resignation the yoke of the Afghan dynasty.
This dynasty still held possession of that country in 1398, when
Tamerlane conquered it. Mahmood IIL. was then on the throne,
and the invader allowed him to retain the supreme power as a
recompense for the assistance which he gave him during those
bloody massacres that obtained for him the title of the destroyer
of humanity.

Mahmood III. died in 1450, a period at which an Afghan lord,
also of the tribe of Lood, named Bellal, overthrew the reigning
family. This new sovereign made Agra his capital. During his
reign the empire was a prey to continual agitation; the revolts
amongst the Loods were incessant, and Bellal was at length driven
out and succeeded by Ibrahin Khan, another Afghan chief of the
same tribe, who subdued each of his competitors in turn; he in-
vaded successively Kandahar and Kabul, meeting with scarcely
any resistance, favoured as he was by the Afghan tribes. Suc-
cesses 80 easily obtained increased his ambition, and he resolved to
march upon the Tartar kingdom of Ferghana, already attacked in
the rear by Chahee Beg, king of Bokhara, with whom he concluded
a treaty offensive and defensive, stipulating that the conquered
countries should be divided between them. Mirza Baboor, of the
tribe of Gurkani, and fifth in descent from Tamerlane,* was at
this time sovereign of Ferghana, who, already despoiled of some
of the best parts of his territory by Chahee Beg, and menaced on
the south by Ibrahim Khan, despaired of being able to resist this
combination of his enemies, fled from his kingdom, and placed
himself under the protection of the King of Persia. This took
place in the year 1498 (Hejira 904). Shah Ismael Seffavye re-
ceived him in the most gracious manner, and soon after gave him
a force of 20,000 horsemen, commanded by Mir Nadjm, with
which to recover his kingdom. Mirza Baboor also took the field,
and commenced operations against the Ugbeks ; but he had
acarcely laid siege to Bokhara when the inhabitants, reinforccd by
the troops which Ibrahim Khan had sent to his support, attacked
the Persians during the night, routed them, and killed their leader,
Mir Nadjm. Thise occurred in 1505 (Hejira 911).

* Ho was the son of Omar Sheikh, was the son of Miranshidh, who weas
who waa the son of Aboo Seid, who the son of Tameriame. — Fervier.
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After this disaster Mirza Baboor retréeated by the way of Balkh,
the road to which city remained open: he was fortunate enough
to be able to take Kabul, and within a brief space he had
made numerous partisans in that country, which he entirely sub-
dued. In 1508 (Hejira 913) he seized upon Kandahar, and
not long after the Punjab. The natives of India, seeing his suc-
cess, wrote to him in 1511 (Hejira 916), and besought his assistance
m throwing off the tyranny of Ibrahim Khan, promising to act
with vigour the moment he should appear at the head of his
army. This request consorted with the projects of vengeance that
Mirza Baboor cherished against Ibrahim Khan, and he accepted
it with readiness. He marched, therefore, against that monarch
in 1525, defeated him, and took possession of the whole of the
Indian territories of which Ibrahim had usurped the sovereignty.

After this brief description of the transient power which the
Afghans possessed in this part of India, the manuscript of Ab-
dulleh Khan of Herat proceeds thus. The natives of India had
little reason to congratulate themselves in having requested another
monarch to come and govern them, for Mirza Baboor oppressed
and plundered, and made them almost regret Ibrahim Khan the
Lood.

At the death of Mirza Baboor, sovereign of India and Afghan-
istan, which took place in 1530 (Hejira 937), his eldest son suc-
eceded to all his dominions, but his brother Kamran, and his
vizier Shere Kban, an Afghan of the tribe of Lood, revolted
against him, and, assisted by those devoted to their interests,
obliged bhim to fly; the Persians, on the other hand, had some
time before attacked Kandahar and taken it from the Moguls.
Notwithstanding this act of hostility, Humayoon did as his father
had done—he retired to the court of Persia and sought the pro-
tecion of the Shah Thamasp. Thiz monarch, having been in-
formed that the fugitive prince was approaching his territory, sent
an order to the governor of Herat to receive him with every mark
of respect, and to escort him to Kasbeen, the capital, in a manner
worthy of his rank and with a splendour truly regal. - After their
meeting the two monarchs felt a lively interest in each other. The
Shah Thamasp not only acceded to the wishes of his royal guest,
but did everything in his power to anticipate them, as the follow-
ing anecdote will show :—

Humayoon, walking one day in the streets of Kasbeen, came to a

c2
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canal, the clear and limpid waters of which ran with a rapid course
between banks covered with flowers and verdure ; the spot pleased
him greatly, and turning to one of his officers he said, “If I had
the means of doing so, I would here build a magmficent mosque.”
A Persian nobleman who heard these words repeated them to the
Shah Thamasp, who swore that the wish of Humayoon should not
remain ungratified, and his architect, baving been called into his
presence, was ordered to construct a magnificent mosque, and
within the space of six months, upon the site indicated by the
exiled prince. He also forbade any of hs servants from men-
tioning the circumstance, and gave strict injunctions that Humayoon
should never be permitted to walk near the spot until the edifice
was completed. In six months the beauntiful mosque was finished,
and the name of the Shah’s guest inscribed over the portal in the
fagade as bhaving been the founder. Humayoon, to whom no
intimation on the subject had been given, was conducted to it.
His astonishment on seeing it was great indeed, and his gratitude
to the Shah Thamasp for this delicate mark of his friendship not
less. Subsequently the Shah gave him further proofs of his attach-
ment ; indeed he was prodigal of them.

Humayoon, nevertheless, became at length sensible that the state
of his affairs in India would never improve if he continued to pass
his time amidst the festivities of the court at Kasbeen ; he therefore
begged the Shah to give him some troops with which he might
hope to regain his crown and punish the usurpers of his throne.
The King of Persia received this new request as he had done every
other, and placed 12,000 cavalry, commanded by Beyram Khan,
at his disposal. This officer had resided many years in India, was
well acquainted with the habits and feelings of the people of that
country, and the Shah charged him to re-establish Humayoon in
all his rights. The march of this army upon Delhi was soon
known, and the Loods at once made every preparation for defence,
but in vain. Humayoon had scarcely arrived at Kabul when his
Indian subjects revolted against Shere Khan, and after having
killed a large proportion of his Afghans obliged him to fly from the
country. On hearnng this Humayoon travelled might and day to
reach his dominions, leaving Beyram Khan and his Persians, with
a crowd of Tartars and Parsivans that soon joined him, to follow.
This numerous and well-trained army was broken into divisions on
its arrival in India, and Humayoon sent them in various directions
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with orders to massacre the Afghan ILoods wherever they were
met with and not leave one alive. These instructions were
rigorously executed, and those who were fortunate enough to escape
were reduced to a pitiable condition; but when they recovered
from the terror into which they had been thrown, they showed
themselves in arms at various points and again threatened the
Emperor of the Moguls. Nevertheless they did not attempt any-
thing in the lifetime of Humayoon, but after his death, which
took place in 1555, and in the reign of his son Mohamed
Akim Mirza, surnamed Djellal Eddin Akbar, Roouchen Bayazid,
one of the chiefs of the Loods, who passed amongst them as
inspired, in short almost & prophet, united the scattered warriors of
the tribe, placed himself at their head, and declared his preten-
sions to the throme of Delhi. For several years he kept up a
desultory warfare against the Moguls, but without obtaining any
positive result, for death surprised him in the midst of it. His son,
Omar Sheikh Kiemal Eddin, continued the strife, and owed the
success which he obtained, as his father had done, to the co-operation
of the Prince Noor Eddin Jehanghir, second son of Humayoon, who
had also raised the standard of revolt against Akbar. The Loods
continued to carry on this party warfare for a considerable time, but
without being able to grasp a second time the Indian sceptre, for the
Moguls were too powerful®

After the death of Omar Sheikh Kiemal Eddin, a young maiden
of the tribe of Lood, named Kiemal Khatoon, endeavoured to create
a schism in the Mahomedan religion as professed by the Afghans,
the Moguls, and a few Indian tribes; her preaching and that of
her disciples was the cause of great commotions in the empire: the
Loods, who were always at the head of every disturbance, suffered
new misfortunes, and fresh massacres considerably reduced their
numbers. 'These troubles were rife up to the commencement of the
reign of Shah Abedin Mohamed Shah, surnamed Shah Jehan, who
again persecuted the Afghan Loods, and in 1632 (Hejira 1042)
drove them out of India, but the revolts, which had been excited by
this religious schism, were not thoroughly put down until the close
of the reign of Aurungzebe, who succeeded him. From this period
the Lood tribe ceased to have any influence in India ; they made
no further attempts to obtain power ; and we shall in future become
further acquainted with their history in that of Afghanistan Proper.

Mirza Baboor, the founder of the dynasty of the Moguls, was
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enabled to hold possession of Kabul, which he left to his successors ;
but he lost Kandahar, and this as well as the principalities of Herat
and Gour fell into the hands of the Persians. Subsequently, how-
ever, he retook Kandahar, against which he sent his son Kamran
Mirza, but soon after it was again in the power of the Shah Thamasp.
Seffavye Humayoon, the successor to Baboor, seized upon it once
more, but, to mark his gratitude for the services which he had
received from the Shah of Persia, he ceded it to him by treaty in
1545 ; it continned in the possession of Persia during the lifetime
of Humayoon, after which his son Akbar retook it. It fell, how-
ever, in 1609 (Hejira 1018), into the hands of the great Shah Abbas
Seffavye, but only to revert to the Emperor Jehangir, who carried
Kandahar by assault. This was the last time but one that the Moguls
were enabled to take this fortress, the advantageous position of which
on the frontiers of the two states made them dispute its possession
with so much tenacity against the Persians. The contest for it was
again renewed in 1620 by Shah Abbas, and the efforts which
Aurungzebe made to retake it at a later period completely failed.
The officers appointed by the Persian monarch to govern Kandahar
so oppressed the Afghans that they sent two of their principal
Serdars to the Shah to obtain a relaxation of the rigorous measures
to which they were subjected, and requested that the governor
might henceforth be chosen from the dhiefs of the Afghan tribes,
promising that their fidelity should be proof against every tempta-
tion. The following are the terms in which Sir John Malcolm,
in his excellent work on Persia, speaks of this embassy ; the informa-
tion is taken from the Persian manuscript of Mirza Syud Mobamed
of Ispahan :—

“In the time of the Saffavean kings of Persia the Affghans were
often oppressed ; and on one occasion they were so discontented with
their Persian governor, that they sent a secret deputation to
Ispahaa to solicit his removal and the appointment of one of their
own tribe. Their request was granted ; and two of the tribe of
Abdallee were raised to the office of Reish Saffeed, or Kutkhodah of
the tribes, and their authority was confirmed by a royal patent
‘The name of one of these two persons was Seedoo, of the family of
Bameeyehi, from whom Ahmed Shah, the founder of the present
royal family of Cabul, is lineally descended. The name of the
other was Ahmed, of the family of Bareekzehi, from whom the
present Affghan chiefs, Serafray Khan and Futteh Khan, are
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descended. The Affghans were delighted with this arrangement,
and granted their entire and respectful obedience to the chief
appointed by the Persian Government. Time has confirmed this
respect ; and the superiority of the chiefs so selected has become an
inheritance to their family. The race of S8eedoo obtained sovereignty,
while that of Ahmed has only gained high station and command.
The Seedoozehis (or descendants of Seedoo) are held in such venera-
tion, that, if one of them was to attempt the murder of an ameer, or
lord of another tribe, it would be considered wrong to obtain
safety by assaulting the Seedoogzehis. If an Affghan acted other-
wise he would be deemed an outcast in his own class or tribe.
There is, however, an exception to thiz rule in favour of the
descendants of Ahmed, and the Ahmedzehis may without sacrilege
slay a Seedoozehi ; but a great number of the Affghans deny this
privilege, even to the Ahmedzehis. Seedoo and Ahmed (this
author adds) were raised to rank by Shah Abbas the Great, and

derived their fortunes from that fountain of dignity and eplendour.”
* This respect for the Suddozyes amongst the Afghans has dis-
appeared in our days; and since they have been dispossessed of
the throne, not only these who belonged to this branch, but also
all the members of the tribe of Popolzye, from which it was
derived, are persecuted and often plundered by the Mo es
actually in power.

So long as Shah Abbas lived the Afghans settled in Herat and
Kandahar remained perfectly tranquil under his dominion; but a
Persian governor, appointed by his grandson and successor Shah
Seffee, having maltreated them, they revolted. This sovereign
managed to keep the Heratees in check, but his governor in Kan-
dahar, a traitor to his duty, passed over to the camp of the Mogul
Emperor with the Persian troops under his orders, and gave up
the fortress to the Shah in 1634.

Kandshar was taken from the Moguls by the Persians in 1642,
dunng the reign of Shah Abbas the Becond. The conquerors of
Delhi subsequently made every effort, but in vain, to recapture
the city, and were obliged to remain satisfied with the possession
of Kabul, which had belonged to them from the time of Baber.
The Persians retained Herat and Kandahar in spite of the adverse
feeling of the Afghans, who were always more anxious to be under
the dominion of the Great Mogul, which they considered less bur-
densome than that of the Persians.
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The Afgbans of the tribe of Ghildjzyes, dispersed over the pro-
vince of Kandahar, were, however, the most restless and the most
constant enemies of Persia, so that, towards the close of the seven-
teenth century, they had pretty nearly rendered themselves masters
of the principality.

In 1698, a little before his accession to the throne, the Shah,
Sultan Hoosein, felt that it was absolutely necessary that they
should be put down, and with a view to effect this object he selected
as their governor the Walee of Georgia, Gourguin Khan, sur-
named Shah Nawaz Khan, a clever and energetic man, and sent
with him a well-appointed and numerous army, and instructions to
take severe measures with the Afghans.

Shah Nawaz Khan arrived at Kandahar in 1702, and treated
the Afghans without pity, as a conquered but rebellious people ;
nothing could escape his inflexible and harsh proceedings—neither
rank, age, nor sex was any protection ; his troops, surfeited with
murders and pillage, reduced the women and girls to a state of
slavery, and made them the unhappy victims of their base violence.
The Afghans, bewildered and alarmed at this state of things, sent
a deputation to Ispahan, in 1706, to entreat the King to put a
stop to the calamities which weighed upon them ; but this embassy
did not succeed as a similar one had done in the reign of Shah -
Abbas, for their delegates were received with haughty and harsh
indifference ; and the individuals who composed the deputation re-
turned to their countrymen to share with them the despair they
also fel .

Disappointed in their hopes, the Afghans could not dream of
emancipating themselves by force of arms from the heavy yoke
of Gourguin Khan, for his vigilance was equal to his severity ;
flight being impossible and complaint useless, and seeing no other
mode by which they could put a stop to the cruelties that were
practised upon them, they awaited in silence, and bowed down with
grief, the moment when they should be able to take vengeance
upon their oppressors for so many outrages; and this was not far
distant, for an act on the part of Gourguin Khan soon presented
them with an opportumnity.
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CHAPTER IIL

The Kelauter of Eandahar is sent prisoner to Ispahan — His intrigues againat
Gourguin EKhan — He makes a pilgrimage to Mecca — Obtains a feivo from the
chief mollah of Islam — Returns to lspaban, and finally to EKandahar — Indig-
nation of Gourguin Khan — Eventa consequent upon this — Opinion of Abdullah
Ehan upon them — Death of (Gourguin Khan — Mir Weis enters Kandahar —
Statement of Mirza Mehdee — The Ghildjzyes declare their independence, and
exterminate the Persian troope — The tribe of the Abdalees establish them-
solves in Herat — The Persian generals attack the Kelauter and are beaten —
Ease Khoaroo Khan besiegee Kandahar — He is defeated and killed wath 30,000
of his troops — Mohamed Roostem suoceeds him, but is also beaten — The
Afghans acknowledge Mir Weis as their sovereign chief — Death of the Mir in
1715— His brother Mir Abdullah succeeds him — His negotiations with Persia
—Is put to death by the eldest son of Mir Weis, who succeeds him -— Alayar
Ehan, Governor of Herat — Zeman Khan appointed by the Persian monarch to
succeed him — Heyat Sultan — He marches against Kandahar — Attacked by
Asmd TUllsh and defeated — Enters Herat — Persian campaign against the
Uszbeks — Sefi Kooli Khan -~ Is defeated by the Afghans — Independence of the
Afghana established — Assad Ullah lays siege to Furrah — Is attacked by Mir
Mahmood of Kandahar — A Belooch chief, Mir Mohamed, seizes Herat.

AmonagsT the Afghan nobles who had signed the petition to the
Shah against Nawaz Khan was Mir Weis, the Kelauter ® of Kan-
dahar, and chief of a branch of the tribe of Ghildjzyes. This
Serdar had, by his amiable manners, liberality, persuasive powers,
and great intelligence, made himself much beloved by his countrymen.
Gourguin Khan feared him, and knew that he was the principal
instigator of the hatred which the Afghans bore him ; he therefore
ordered the Kelauter to be arrested, under the pretext that he was
conspiring against the government, and sent him, with several
other rich Sefid t Afghans, to Ispahan, there to explmn his cuuduct
to the Shah.

Mir Weis did not on this occasion belie his reputation for ability-
On his arrival at the court of the Seffavyes, he at once perceived the
corruption which reigned on all sides; and scattering a little gold
about him, he endeavoured to turn his captivity to account. In a

* The duties of kslaufer in Pernia are  his other functions to superintend the

not exactly defined. In different towns

are more or less important: but
in the case of Mir Weis, at Eandahar,
the office must have been Governor in
chief, And he had probably amongst

administration of the police, but with
very extenaive powers,—

+ Literally tohite beard, but in this
instance eminent,— Ferricr,
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solemn audience granted him by the King he succeeded in obtain-
ing from the sovereign an acknowledgment that be was innocent
of the accusations which had been brought against bhim; and such
was his tact, and the ductile character of his mind, that in the
course of a few days he became one of the principal favourites of
Shah Sultan Hooeein, and the friend of all the great nobles of his
court. :

Assured of having for the future an influence over the degraded
courtiers of the Persian King, the views of Mir Weis took a wider
range than they had hitherto done, for he concluded that a country
thus delivered up to men so worthless and corrupt might become
an easy conquest if attacked by some brave men well led. Strong
in the power of his own genius, he deeply reflected upon the mode
in which he might carry out so gigantic an enterprise as an inva-
sion of Persia; and, to give himself the best chance of success, he
determined to work upon his countrymen by that most powerful of
agents, fanaticism. Instead of evincing a desire to return to his
country, he solicited and obtained the Shah’s permission to under-
take a pilgrimage to Mecca, and also his consent that the rick sefids
who had accompamed him should return to Kandahar; but before
they left Ispahan he instructed them secretly to prepare the Afghans
for revolt. A few days after their departure Mir Weis was on his
way to the Holy City, where, having enlisted the sympatbies of
the chief mollahs of Islam, who, like the Afghans, were Soonees,
he found no difficulty in obtaining from them a fefvo, in which
they declared that his countrymen were bound by every means in
their power to throw off the thraldom of the Shiah heretica.

- Mir Weis returned to Ispahan as soon as he bad performed his
pilgrimage, aud occupied himself in carrying out the intrigue
which, with no little ingenuity, he had set on foot before his de-

Like all Persian nobles in high situations, Gourguin Khan had
enemies at court anxious for his downfall, as much from jealousy
as in the hope of succeeding to the government of Kandahar, or
replacing him by one of their own creatures. Amongst these
enemies was the vizier of Shah Sultan Hooeein, who could not
forgive Gourguin Khan and his nephew, the Sipabee Salar Kaee
Khosroo Khan, the estimation in which they were held by the
Shah, and the influence which they had always employed against
him. Mir Weis, with considerable penetration, saw that this
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personage interded to compass the ruin of both uncle and nephew
by prejudicing the mind of the Shah against them whenever an
occasion should present itself; he made, therefore, secret advances
to the Vizier with the hope of induciog him to associate himself in
his design. The Vizier, well convinced of the bad feeling which
the Afghan chief entertained against Shah Nawaz Khan, and
believing him to be entirely devoted to the interests of the Shah,
entered into his views, and became one of Mir Weis's warmest
protectors. In order the more rapidly to bring about the fall
of Gourguin, the Vizier made every effort to support the Af-
ghan chief against him, and solicited the Shah’s permission for
Mir Weis to return to Kandahar. This feeble prince had been
persuaded that Gourguin Khan and his nephew secretly sup-

ported by the Tzar of Russia, wished to raise the standard of
revnlt in Georgia, and declare themselves independent. This
was sufficient to induce the Shah to give Mir Weis permission to
return to his native city, with orders to resume the important func-
tions of Kelauter, satisfied that his fidelity and vigilance would
enable him to penetrate the real sentiments of Gourguin, and at
the same time serve as a counterpoise to his power, which had con-
siderably increased, and given rise to some apprehensions. Mir
Weis, well assured that every one would be in his favour, returned
to Kandahar by Kerman and the Seistan, observing attentively on
his journey the state of things in each locality. On his arrival he
saw that the power and tyranny of Gourguin Khan had attained
their utmost limits, and thought that his adversary might refuse to
recognise the firman which conferred on him the functions of Ke-
lauter. But the GD‘FEI'II{}I‘, thﬂugh iﬂdignal]t at his return, con-
formed to the orders of his sovereign, and reinstated the Mir in his
post. Nevertheless, to humiliate him in the eyes of the people,
and to prove that he himself was absolute in his own govern-
ment, he ordered him to send one of his daughters, a girl of great
personal beauty, to his harem without delay——his intention being
not to make ber his wife, but his concubine.* 'The Afghans, in-
formed of the affront which had been put upon their chief, and eager

* The manuscript of Abdullah Ehan  Mir, with whoee talemts and influence
is here at varianos with that of Mirea he was well acquainted, and ﬂnt he
Ali Mohamed, whose wocount of the wished by means of this marriage to
transaction I have fullowed. Abdullah put an end to the differences that
Khan states that Go in Ehan was existed between himself and that chief,
really desirous of an alliance with the —Ferreer.
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to avenge it, rushed immediately to arms; but Mir Weis, secretly
assembling the principal chiefs, arrested their ardour, and they
decided upon temporiging in order that they might take measures
which should better ensure the success of their plans. *The time
which must prove our courage,” said he to them, “is arrived, but
the prudence of the serpent that watches overcomes the strength of
the lion who permits himself to slumber; we must conceal our
swords in a bed of roses, and those who have sufficient faith in me
to place their destiny in my hands may be convinced that the most
profound secresy is the first condition ef success.”

After this conference Mir Weis affected to submit to the go-
vernor’s wishes; but instead of sending him his own daughter, he
substituted one of his slaves, also a very beautiful girl, who, dressed
in the richest attire, was conducted in great state to the harem of
the Shah Nawaz Khan. Not less animated than Mir Weis against
the oppressors of her country, his slave accepted, and with delight,
the part she was called upon to perform. Qourguin Khan, not in
the least suspecting the plot, believed: the Afghan was really de-
sirous of forgetting the past and Being on friendly terms with him
for the future; he therefore trusted him implicitly.

Mir Weis profited by the favour which he now enjoyed with the
governor to bring about his fall with greater certainty ; at the same
time he secured the co-operation of the officers of the palace, and
excited the turbulent Abdalee and Kaukeree tribes to commence a
revolt, which soon spread its ramifications over all the southern part
of the province of Kandahar. This rising occasioned Gourguin so
much anxiety, that he decided on sending his best Georgian troope
to put it down, and retained only twelve or fifteen hundred men near
him to defend the citadel.

Mir Weis took advantage of the absence of these troops to put
‘the projects he had so long meditated into execution, and sent
Shah Nawaz an invitation to a feast which he had prepared at one
of his country houses, situated about half an hour’s ride from the
city. This he accepted, and without suspicion, and such was the
security felt by Gourguin after he had arrived there, that he quaffed
immoderate quantities of wine during the repast, and with his
suite, who had indulged to an equal extent in their libations, even-
tually fell asleep. Everything, in short, worked well for Mir
Weis ; the conspirators slaughtered all the inebriated sleepers, after
which the Kelauter dressed himself in the robes of Gourguin,
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and ordered the Afghans in his own service to put on those of
the Georgians who bad accompanied their Walee. Thus dis-
guised, they returned to Kandahar in the middle of the night, put
to death the Persian troops on guard at the gate, and entered the
city without being recognised. The insurgents, at first but few in
number, were soon reinforced by the Afghans from the environs,
who had preﬂmsly been prepared for the movement, and the Per-
glan garrison was so cowpletely exterminated, that not one soldier
was left alive. Mirza Mehdee, a Persian, and author of the ¢ Life
of Nadir Shah,’ gives a different account of the death of Nawaz
Khan. He states that the governor had quitted Kandahar to
chastise some rebels of the Kaukeree tribe, when Mir Weis arrived,
who fell upon the Georgian Walee at Dehchir, defeated and took
him prisoner, and subsequently put him to death by the hands of
Murad Khan, a low Afghan. This statement seems, however, to
be inaccurate.

The natives of different countries residing at Kandahar were
at that time at variance with each other, and, after this tragedy was
over, Mir Weis assembled them together with a view to their recon-
ciliation. In bis usual persuasive style of eloquence he showed
them the advantages they might obtain from the liberty which had
thus been given them, and invited them to form that bond of union
which alone could emancipate them, and for ever, from the Persian
yoke. He then drew forth the fefvo he had obtained from the chief
mollahs at Mecca, which had an irresistible effect upon the feelings
of this fanatical people, whose warlike instincts, having been power-
fully excited, required only to be cleverly directed. They were
not long in deciding what course to take, and swore that they would
obey the Mir, inviolably attach themselves to his fortunes, and
respect his person.

Three days after this unlooked-for event, the Georgians who had
been despatched against the rebels in the south, and succeeded in
their mission, arrived under the walls of Kandahar. Here they
were suddenly attacked by five thousand Afghan horse, com-
manded by Mir Weis; and though they fought with a heroism
worthy of a better cause, they were unable to stand the unexpected
shock or make good their retreat: only eighteen escaped and re-
turned with the disastrous intelligence to Persiaa Such is the
account given by Mirza Ali Mohamed, from whom Abdullah Khan
again differs. The latter states “ that Gourguin Khan himself
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marched at the head of his troope against the Abdalees and Kau-
kerees, who had taken up a position about twenty leagues from
Kandahar, and, refusing to pay the taxes, massacred without pity
every Persian they came in contact with. Gourguin Khan was
scarcely ten miles from the city, when Mir Weis, having quickly
asembled the principal chiefs and all the fighting men of the Ab-
dalee, Ghildjzye, and Kaukeree tribes then in Kandahar, followed
rapidly in the rear of Gourguin Khan. It was the habit of the
governor and his GGeorgians to get drunk regularly every day after
sunset, and no precautions were ever taken to guard a camp in
which every one was plunged in debauch. Mir Weis knew this,
and fell upon them during the night : it was a massacre rather than
a combat, for the Shah Nawaz and his troops were put to death
almost without resistance. After this coup-de-main Mir Weis re-
turned immediately with his men to Kandahar, to which he laid
siege, and after a few days obtained an easy victory over the
remaining half-starved Persians that defended the place. These
he put to death, as well as those individuals who were not of Afghan
origin, or who held an appointment under the late governor. Dis-
cord ensued when the plunder was to be divided, and swords were
drawn; but the Abdalees and Kaukerees were beaten by the
Ghildjzyes, and finally obliged to submit, nor could they have
remained in Kandahar without their permission. The Abdalees up
to this time had always inhabited the country to the south of the
Urghendab and the Helmund without having ever obtained the
consent of the Mogul or Persian kings to pass those rivers; but
now, by virtue of a frezsh agreement with the Ghildjzyes, they were
enabled to do so, and many of them settled amongst the mountains
of the Siah-bend, situated between Kandahar and the principality of
Gour. The emigration of the Abdalees into the principality of
Herat dates from this period, and there in the course of a very few
years they greatly increased in numbers and became very rich.
Nevertheless the Afghans agree in stating that a branch of the
Noorzyes had been established in the plaine of Obeb and Chehrak
for more than one hundred years before the bulk of that tribe came
to reside n the principality.”

Mir Weis, having driven out the oppressors of his country, turned
his attention to the manner in which he might best consolidate his
work : he restored union between the different tribes, established a
kind of discipline amongst them, and released them from the heavy
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imposts which had till then weighed heavily upon their exertions.
Finally, in 1713, the principal families acknowledged him as the
Sovereign Prince of Kandahar,

The Court of Persia, instead of putting down this rebellion
with vigour, adopted a system which exposed all its weakness It
commenced by negotiating ; but Mir Weis, having detained the
ambassadors who were sent to advise him to return to his duty, the
Sbah at length determined to march an army upon Kandahar.
With this view the chiefs who commanded in Khorassan were ordered
to unite their forces and attack the rebels. This they did, and,
though outnumbering the Afghan troops in the proportion of
eight to one, they were, in consequence of the want of co-operation
between the Persian chiefs, completely beaten by Mir Weisin three
successive battles. These events took place in 1713.

The Shah, on receiving information of this catastrophe, saw
at once the imminence of the danger. The revolt might gain
ground in other provinces of his empire, in which alarming indications
had manifested themselves; however, two years elapsed before he
ordered his army of 30,000 men to take the field. It was com-
posed of Persians, Arabs, and Abdalee Afghans, at enmity with the
Ghildjzyes, and commanded by Sipahee Salar Kaee Khosroo Khan,
Walee of Georgia, and nephew of the unfortunate Gourguin Khan.

In this campaign Mir Weis was not successful. He lost all the
territory he had taken from the chiefs of Khorassan, was completely
defeated by Kaee Khosroo between the Helmund and the Urghendab,
and, retiring from thence, was obliged to seek refuge within the walls
of Kandahar, to which city his adversary soon laid siege. This the
Sipahee Salar pushed forward with great activity and perseverance,
and ravaged all the environs of the city, which, ere many days bad
pamed, became a complete desert. As a reprisal for the acts which
the Abdalees and Kaukerees had committed, he put to death all
the Afghans who fell into his power, and did not even spare the
women and children.

The besieged were soon reduced to the greatest extremity, and,
alarmed at the terrible consequences that might befall them if the
city was taken by assault, they insisted that Mir Weis should offer
terms of accommodation to the Persian general. But Kaee Khosroo
Khan, thinking himself sure of success, and eager to avenge the
death of his uncle by that of his murderers, demanded the uncon-
ditional surrender of the place. The garrison saw by this reply that
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they had nothing to hope for, and, gaining courage from despair,
continued the defence with renewed energy, the abilities of their
chief rising with the difficulties which he had to contend with.

Mir Weis, having succeeded in baffling the vigilance of the be-
siegers and escaped from Kandahar, assembled several thousand
Afghan cavalry, ravaged the localities Khosroo had spared for the
purpose of supplying his own camp, and harassed the Persiauns day
and night. The result was obvious. The Sipahee Salar was obliged
to raise the siege to obtain provisions, of which he stood greatly in
need ; but constantly molested on his march, he found it impossible
to secure a moment’s repose for his troops, who, decimated and
discouraged, began to disband. This new danger induced him to
offer battle to the Afghans, who accepted it on the 26th of Ramazan
1714 (Hejira 1126), and they so completely annihilated the Persian
army, that only one hundred out of thirty thousand men escaped
with their lives. Khosroo Khan, borne down with despair, threw
himself at the head of a few brave compantons into the thickest of
the fight, and there sought an honourable death, which defeat had
made more welcome to him than life. This narrative is also from
the text of Mirza Ali Mohamed. Abdullah Khan assures us that
Khogroo did not attack the Afghans, but that they surprised and
defeated him in a night attack.

Mohamed Roostem, another Persian general of some repute,
was subsequently sent with a third army to subdue Mir Weis,
but he was not more fortunate than his predecessor. Defeated
by the Afghans in several encounters, he owed his own safety
only to a rapid retreat, which left the Mir absolute master of the
whole province of Kandahar. After this fresh success all the
Afghan tribes gave in their adhesion to him, and acknowledged Mir
Weis for their sovereign chief, as the inhabitants of the capital had
done after the death of Gourguin Khan, Unfortunately, how-
ever, this adroit and courageous man could not continue the great
work which he had up to this time so cleverly conducted, for he
died towards the close of 1715, in the eighth year of his rule over
the Afghans, and in the succeeding one to that in which he obtained
his last victory over the Persians. It was also the very moment
at which the measures he had taken with a view of insuring the
independence of his country and ameliorating the condition of the
people afforded every hope that they would be realised; but,
though checked for a time, these hopes were not extinguished, for
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those measures received a fresh impulse under the government of
his son Mahmood.

Mir Weis left two sons, Mir Mahmood and Mir Hoosein. The
former, who was the elder, had scarcely attained his eighteenth year
at the time of his father’s death, and in consequence of this the
Afghan chiefs declared that he was not competent to succeed him.
Their uncle, Mir Abdullah, was therefore placed at the head of
affairs, but the expectations which had been raised by the bold and
characteristic conduct of his brother were not realised by him:
his first act was to open a conference with the Persian govern-
ment, whose suzerainty he agreed to admit, and also to pay a
tribute, if the Shah would give him the government of Kanda-
har, make it hereditary in his family, and withdraw the Persian
garrisons from the principality.

Two years were consumed in these disgraceful negotiations,
and, though the projects of Mir Abdullah were but imperfectly
known to the Afghans, they were mistrustful of his intentions, and
opposed him as best they could ; but when these projects came to
be revealed to them by the Persians, who in so doing hoped to sow
the seeds of dissension amongst them, they were in the highest
degree indignant.

The eldest son of Mir Weis, who was already’ distinguished by
many of the qualities the Afghans bhad admired in his father, and
who, though so young, bad dieplayed daring acts of courage bor-
dering on rashness when engaged with the Persians, took advan-
tage of the discontent which the interested conduct of his uncle
had given rise to in the minds of his countrymen, and seized the
sovereign power of which he thought he had been unjustly deprived.
The unpopularity of Mir Abdullah made his success easy; he
attacked his house with only fifty men, killed him with his own
band, and made the Afghan chiefs then at Kandahar elect him
governor in the room of his murdered relative. The people them-
selves demanded his election, which, however, was not agreeable to
a few ambitious Serdars; but when they saw the young chief had
obtained the general support of the nation, thﬂy adhered to the new
order of things.

Abdullah Khan, the Heratee, gives a different account of the
motives which led to this murder of the Mir. Abdullah, observes
that historian, was less active, less impetuous, but not less intelli-
gent and prudent than his brother Mir Weis. After the death of
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the latter several Ghildjzye chiefs talked openly of their intention
to dictate to those in power ; the seeds of much discord had also been
sown amongst the tribes, and Mir Abdullah was perfectly aware that
he could not expect to retain the sovereign authority in any degree
of tranquillity unless he could prevent new hoslilities on the part
of Persia, The negotiations therefore which he had entered into
with the Shah had only that object in view, and there is no doubt that
whenever he had found himself able to do so he would have thrown
off a vassalage the light fetters of which he now consented to wear.
The fiery Afghans could not understand the wisdom of this system,
and the constant opposition of his nephew Mahmood finished by
lowering his influence with the Serdars, several of whom hoped
and were desirous of occupying his position themselves. The
Mir’s death was as unjust as it was to be regretted, and the more
to be deplored, as his successor displayed warlike qualities only,
which led to the decimation of the tribes, and weakened them to
such a degree that, under the reign of Nadir Shah, they again fell
under the Persian yoke. The power also after Mahmood’s time
passed into the bands of the Abdalee tribe—to the injury of the
Ghildjzyes, who had been the first to proclaim and establish the
independence of the Afghan nation.

At about the period when Mir Weis died, the population of
Herat tried also to withdraw from their allegiance to the Sef-
faveans, The Khqrassians, of whom it was for the most part
composed, had obtained from Nadir Shah the privilege of being
governed by their own chiefs. Alayar Khan, who was governor
of the province at the time of Roostem Khan's defeat, though not
declaring himself independent as Mir Weis had done, acknow-
ledged only from that time a nominal submission to the Persian
court; but whether the Persian garrison of Herat, though very
small, still inspired him with awe, or whether he hoped by cunning
and temporising finally to become completely independent, he
continued to keep up appearances, and observe a respectful bear-
ing towards the Shah Hoosein ; and as anarchy reigned in several
Persian provinces, he thought the monarch might possibly look
upon these faint proofs of his obedience as submission.

Alayar Khan, as well as Mir Weis, with whom he had secretly
allied himself in a common determination to resist the Shah, died
before he could put into execution the plams which he ‘had con-
ceived. The court of Persia appointed Zeman Khan, Koortchee




CHar, II1, ZEMAN KHAN—HEYAT SULTAN. 35

Bashee, his successor. This officer, who commanded the troops
quartered in the province of Herat, was instructed to reinforce his
division by enlisting all the volunteers in the locality and march
against Mir Abdullah. If thie chief had been as prudent as his
predecessor, he might have hoped, if not to obtain a positive and
complete success against the rebels in the south, at least some
advantages which would, without doubt, have prevented Mir Mah-
mood from undertaking the expedition which he made some time
after in Persia ; but Zeman was a dull and dissipated man, and
had not the tact to foment the elements of discord which existed
amongst the Afghans. The Abdalee tribe, almost the whole of
which was settled in his government, were the hereditary enemies
of the Ghildjzyes, and might have been led against them with
success ; but he had affronted them, and was obliged to take the
field with a weak corps-d’armée composed almost entirely of Per-
gians. Neither the importance of the undertaking he had to carry
out, nor the burden of the responsibility which rested upon him,
operated as any restraint upon his conduct, and his excesses were
such that they effected his ruin even before he was in presence of
the enemy.

A short time before this a branch of the Suddozye tribe had
established itself in the neighbourhood of Sukkur, and their chief,
Heyat Sultan, anxious to obtain certain favours from Zeman
Khan, committed a most fearful outrage against his own son. In-
credible as it may appear, he sent Assad Ullah, a young and beau-
tiful lad, to this wretch in human shape for an infamous purpose.
The crime accomplished, the unfortunate youth took the first
opportunity of making his escape from the Persian camp, and, re-
turning to his tribe, which shared with him the feelings of fury that
animated their young chief, they determined upon taking a deep
revenge. Assad’s first step was to seize his vile and unnatural
perent and imprison him in a fortress, after which, accompanied
by a few thousand horsemen, he started in pursuit of Zeman Khan,
and such was the rapidity of his movements, that he surprised the
Persian commander at midnight in the district of Zemindavar,
before he had received the slightest intimation of his being in
arms, attacked with great bravery and impetuosity the weary and
sleeping troops, and put them nearly all to the sword. The villain
who had so deeply injured him was the first that fell, and by the hand
of Assad; after which the victorious youth marched on Herat,
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and, having obtained an entrance to the city, exterminated the few
Persians he found there. After this he again took the field, and
made himself, almost without opposition, master of the whole pro-
vince, which, oo the 26th of Ramazan, 1716, he constituted an in-
dependent principality.

As to the Persian troops which had succeeded in effecting their
escape from the massacre at Zemindavar, finding themselves with-
out & commander, they disbanded, and returned to Ispahan. All
that the government could do to induce them to return to Afghan-
istan under a new general was ineffectual ; they refused to march ;
and the Shah Sultan Hoosein was under the necessity of relin-
quishing his project for bringing that country again under his
dominion. Assad Ullah Khan raised himself to power about a
. year before the period at which Mir Mahmood became by the
murder of his uncle Prince of Kandahar.

Persia, already so much weakened by the loss of two of her
finest provinces and three armies, ravaged by the Uzbeks, menaced
by Turkey and Russia, and governed by a degraded and super-
stitious court who ruled the feeble Sultan Hoosein, had no little .
difficulty in making a stand against so many disasters. Neverthe-
less, the Persian monarch made a last effort, and in 1719 raised
an army of 35,000 men, well provided with artillery, which he
placed under the orders of Sefi Kooli Khan, a general of re-
puted talent, to whom he allotted the task of driving back in
the first instance the Uzbeks, and then of reducing Herat and
Kandahar, -

The Khan obtained an easy victory over the undisciplined
hordes of Uzbeks, who, badly armed and badly led, having pillage
only in prospect, and not the permanent occupation of Khorassan,
took to flight at the first shock of the Persian army. Puffed up
with pride at a success thus easily obtained, Sefi Kooli Khan
pompously announced his intention to exterminate the rebel Af-
ghans, to whom he sent an imperious order to come to his camp and
implore his mercy. On the receipt of this message, Assad Ullah
Khan moved forward to meet him at the head of 12,000 Afghans
and Hazarahs, and, in spite of the disproportion of the two armies,
attacked him directly. The Afghans were armed only with bad
swords and worse matchlocks, but they did not hesitate to face the
fire of th® formidable Persian artillery, and maintainred during a
whole day a most obstinate combat, in which 3000 of their best
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troops lost their lives. The victory was still undecided at sunset,
when by some accident never accounted for a dreadful explosion
took place amongst the Persian artillery. This caused an instan-
taneous panic in their army, and they took to flight, leaving on the
field of battle all their baggage and the greater part of their guns.
Sefi Kooli Khan and several members of his Tamily, together
with a large number of chiefs as well as 10,000 Persian soldiers,
were slain in this battle fought near the village of Kariz.

‘This victory decided the fortunes of the Afghans. Independence
was henceforward theirs, and the power, but half-established,
of Assad Ullah Khan was consolidated, not only in Herat, but
also through the greatest part of Khorassan, of which he took
possession, with the exception of Meshed, its capital, and that re-
sisted all his attacks. Seeing that his efforts to reduce it were
ineffectual, he was satisfied with keeping a watch upon it, and
marched to the south of his terrtores, in order to extend them in
that direction. He seized, in the first instance, upon Subzawar,
and afterwards moved on Furrah, to which place he laid siege,
when he was attacked by Mir Mahmood of Kandahar, who thought
these proceedings might be detrimental to his own interest, more
particularly as Assad Ullah exhibited the courage and capacity of
a good general, and belonged to the tribe of the Abdalees, the
rival of his own. But Assad Ullah Kban was unfortunately killed
at the commencement of the battle, a ball having struck him in
the middle of the forehead ; his troops, discouraged, retired to
Herat, where anarchy reigned during several months, until a
Belooch chief of the Seistan, one Mir Mohamed, seized the power
and established order in the city.
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CHAPTER 1IV.

Intrigues of Persia in Afghanistan — Preparations of Mir Mahmood — He outwits
the Persinn court —Is appointed Governor-General of Kandahar — His ambi-
tious projects — Seizes the fortresses on the Helmund — State of the Persian
army — Besieges Kerman — It suirenders to his troops— They are beaten by
the Persian general Leuft Ali Khan — Mir Mahmood retreats to Kandahar —
Leuft Ali ir disgraced — Revolt agrinst Mir Mahinood at Kandahar — The Mir
marches with his army against the Persians — Provisions the fortress of Bam —
Kerman surrenders to him — He is repulsed before Yezd — Moves on Ispahan
— State of Mir Mabmood’s troops — A singular recipe for courage — Pusilla-
nimity of the Persians — Disunion amongst them — The consequences — Their
army is routed by the Afghans —The Ethemad Dooulet and the Walee of
Georgia — The chief command of the army is given to the latter — Proposition
of Shah Hoosein to Mir Mahmood — The siege is pressed closer — The Persians
endeavour to leave the city — Great scarcity prevails — The result — Dreadful
sufferings of the inhabitants — Shah Hoosein proceeds to the Afghan camp—
He abdicatea the throne — Mahmood's conduct after his victory.

Tuke Persian Government, while sending armies to subdue Kandahar,
also employed the arts of negotiation, and tried to deceive suc-
cessively Mir Weis, his brother, and his son, with intrigues and
. promises of which Eastern nations are so prodigal. But these

chiefs did not fall into the snare prepared for them : nevertheless
Mir Mahmood, who put his uncle to death because he had received
certain propositions from the Shah, found somewhat later that this
plan was a good ome, and adopted it himself; less, however,
because he was afraid of the Shah of Persia, than because he re-
quired a few years of repose to preparc himself for the invasion
which he had projected against that kingdom. As the victory over
Assad Ullah Khan might awaken the fears of the Persians, and
induce them to march one of their everlasting armies upon him, he
hastened, immediately he had relieved Furrah, to inform Shah
Hoosein that he had attacked the Abdalees only to prevent them
from taking the town from him, and that it was now entirely at the
disposition of the Shah. The letter which Mir Mahmood sent to
the Shah was placed in his hands Ly the same minister who had
been the sccomplice of Mir Weis, and on this occasion he did not
give the lie to his own base antecedents. Instead of enlightening
his master on the manifest ambition of the Afghan prince, he did
all that lay in his power to convince him that the Ghildjzyes were
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excellent vassals, who had rendered him a very great service, and
farthermore that they had only exterminated Gourghin Khan, his
nephew, and the (zeorgians, on account of the excesses they had
committed, and to deliver themselves from a most odious tyranny.
By such representations he sought not only to revenge himeelf on
the Georgians, whose chiefs were his most dangerous antagonists,
but also to endeavour to calm the resentment the Shah had always
felt against him, in consequence of the efforts he had made to in-
duce him to give Mir Weis permission to return to Kandahar.

The poor feeble-minded sovereign, deceived once more, bestowed
upon Mir Mahmood the surname of Hoosein Kooli Khan (the slave
of Hooeein), and sent him a firman appointing him Governor-
General of Kandahar, and making that high office hereditary in his
family. Mir Mahmood accepted these honours with apparent
gratitude and respect, and this good understanding between the
Mir and the Court of Ispahan enabled him to augment in all
security the force which he intended to employ in carrying out his
ambitious projects. To clear away, however, all difficulties, he also
wrote to the Shah and represented that the Abdalees recently
established in Herat had been in revolt for the last two years
and paid no taxes, and he solicited the Shah’s permission to
subdue them. Sultan Hoosein was foolish enough to consent to
this expedition, which Mir Mahmood at once-undertook, but, in-
stead of directing his steps to the north, he sent there a small
flying detachment, while he himself marched with the mass of his
army along the banks of the Helmund and seized all the fortresses
on that river, for they commanded the principal roads of the Seistan
leading into Persia. It is true he took possession in the name of
the Shah, but his secret purpose was to fortify himself, and to
collect provisions, in order that he might command an easy passage
to the southern provinces, and at a future time with little difficulty
invade the Persian territory. It will be remembered that his father
had travelled through them on his return from Kandahar, and
the invaluable information which he then collected was now to be
utilized by his son, whose preparations for tis invasion were pro-
longed up to 1720. But even then his army numbered only
12,000 men ; however, they were all picked men, inured to war and
hardships of every kind, and prepared for any eventuality that might
arise. Persia, on the centrary, was at this time in a most deplor-
able condition; everything was in disorder; and the only emula-
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tion that could be said to exist at that court was who should ex-
hibit the greatest weakness and degradation. The right of holding
the appointments of the public service, instead of being a privilege
' belonging to high birth or a recompense for meritorious services,
was sold to the highest bidder; the troops, without discipline, re-
celved neither instruction-nor pay, and, frequently disbanding them-
selves, pillaged the villages and the caravans. The towns were
infested with thieves, who openly followed their villanous profession
with the utmost assurance, knowing they could do so with impunity.
In short, everything announced the complete decadence of this great
monarchy, which, attacked on all its frontiers, by the Afghans, the
Tartars, the Russians, and the Arabs, seemed likely to become an
. easy conquest to the first who should attempt to invade it.

It was the young Mahmood, breathing vengeance for the miseries
which his country had suffered under the Persian rule, who was the
first that engaged in this difficult enterprise. In 1720, under the
pretext of attacking Chedad Khan, a Belooch chief, who with his
nomades was ravaging the province of Kerman, Mahmood placed
himself at the head of his small army, and traversed amidst unheard
of difficulties the arid and desert countries of the south of Persia On
this march his soldiers were soon decimated by privations and fatigue,
and of the 12,000 men who set out with him only 7000 arrived
under the walls of Kerman, to which” he laid siege with a courage
and determination utterly disproportioned to the means of aggression
at his command. Simultaneously with these operations he again
endeavoured to put the Shah Hoosein on the wrong scent and lull
the vigilance of his government, to which he wrote stating that he
had besieged Kerman merely to force the Governor to furnish his
troops with provisions, and thus repay him the expense of moving
his army in the interest and for the benefit of the Shah of Persia.

Mahmood was joined by a great number of Persian malcon-
tents, who soon filled up the casualties in his army. The town,
hard pressed, held out only for a few days, and then surrendered at
discretion ; nevertheless the victor thought it necessary to punish
the inhabitants for the feeble resistance they had offered, and not
only them but those of the whole district. During four months his
soldiers, gorged with plunder, committed every imaginable excess,
at the expiration of which time they were attacked and put to
flight by the Persian General Leuft Ali Khan, who marched to the
assistance of the invaded province with a very superior force. The
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defeat of Mir Mahmood was so complete that he was obliged
to make a rapid retreat to Kandabar, taking with him only a
miserable remnant of that army which had followed him with so
much enthusiasm to the conquest of Persia! Not one man would
perbaps have survived if the evil genius which presided over the
destinies of that empire had not arrested the progress of her victo-
rious commander. Leuft Ali Khan, the only good general the Shah
then had, was, by way of recompense for the brilliant success which
he bad just obtained, deprived of his command and thrown into
prison. A court intrigue, originating in the Vizier, brought about
this unjustifiable result, for the letter of Mir Mahmood bhad been per-
fidiously misinterpreted by him to the Shah Sultan Hoosein. But if
Mir Mahmood had not been defeated, more important interests would
have obliged him to abandon the province he had just conquered,
for he received intelligence that his rear was seriously menaced.
Beiram Sultan Lakzee, governor of Furrah, and Malek Djaffer
Kban Sistanee, having formed an alliance, succeeded in cxciting a
portion of the province of Kandahar to revolt against his authority.
Supported by a few thousand men, they had even seized upon the
city in the name of Shah Hoosein, but were driven from it by Mir
Hoosein, brother of Mir Mahmood. The latter therefore hastened
his return, and his presence soon restored order. His resolu-
tion had not been shaken for one instant, for he had reflected, and
wisely, on all that had passed, and had seen his own faults.
These had arisen rather from ignorance than want of courage—
they appeared to him therefore easy of correction: and the bravery
and intelligence which he had shown in his fatal expedition of 1720
secured for him the obedience and admiration of his soldiers, which
enabled him with little trouble to raise another and a larger army,
one not less enthusiastic than the first. The Afghans of every
tribe, even those living in the provinces of Herat and Kabul as well
as the Hazarahs, hastened with alacrity to the standard of a chief
who promised to enrich them with the spoils of their ancient op-
pressors, ‘The Belooches settled to the south of the Helmund also
furnished him with a contingent of several thousand men, and he
determined to take an ample revenge for the disasters inflicted
upon him by Leuft Ali Khan.

After having installed his brother Mir Hoosein as Regent of
Kandahar during his absence, he again entered Persia, in January,
1722, at the head of an army of 28,000 men, carrying with him
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immense stores of provisions in order to guard against the priva-
tions his troops had suffered on his first expedition from the
scarcity of food and forage.

Mir Mahmood opened this campaign by rapidly crossing the
Seistan, and without encountering any obstacle he reached the
fortress of Bam, where be remained for a few days. This for-
tress he repaired and strengthened with great care, and made it
an immense depbt of provisions and munitions of war. The gar-
rison was ordered to collect within its walls all the corn which
the inbabitants of the surrounding country could supply above what
they required for their own use, and also to keep numerous beasts
of burden ready to take the road whenever instructions were given
to that effect. The command of this important place was confided
by Mir Mahmood to" his relative Noor Ullah Khan, a brave and
energetic man, on whose fidelity he could rely; and having thus
completed his preparations, he again advanced and arrived before
Kerman, intending to besiege it once more, but the inhabitants
opened the gates almost without offering any resistance : the garrison,
however, in the citadel, composed of picked men, refused to sur-
render. The commander wrote to the Afghan chief that, if his
object was to amass great riches and become Shah of Persia, he
would lose his time and uselessly exhaust his resources in under-
taking the siege of a place that was provisioned for ten years, and
the defenders of which were determined to bury themselves beneath
its ashes rather than capitulate ; but he added that if the Mir chose
to march on Ispahan he might accomplish his purpose, and he
offered to give him 18,000 tomauns towards the expenses of the
campaign, if he would raise the siege. Mahmood accepted these
conditions, far less because, according to the custom of his country,
it saved the honour of his arms, than because he had no heavy
artillery to batter the place—the only guns at his disposal, those
called in Persia zimboorek, being wholly inefficient for this purpose.
Of these he had an hundred carrying a ball of from one to two
pounds, each zimboorck being carried by a camel with the artillery-
man who served it

Directly Mahmood had received the sum agreed upon he moved
upon Ispahan by Yezd, the direct road, and made an attempt to
take the latter town by assault as he passed ; but several attacks hav-
ing, in' spite of the brilliant courage of his soldiers, been vigorously
repulsed, he abandoned this siege also. It was likely to prove
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a lingering affair and occasion him the loss of much precious time,
s0 be continued his march upon Ispahan without troubling himself
about his rear, for the country was too denuded of the ememy’s
troops to give him any anxiety on that subject. As to his line of
operations, that lay wherever provisions could be obtained, and he
carried with him a pretty large supply, which was renewed from
time to time in the villages on his road. Inthis manner he arrived
at Guluabad, a village situated ten gniles from Ispahan, without
having met one Persian who attempted to oppose his passage.
Here he entrenched his army, which had been somewhat reduced
since its departure from Kandahar by privation and fatigue, as
well as in the combats before Kerman and Yezd ; but these losses
he had repaired by a few thousand Gheber recruits, who were not
less desirous than the Afghans to revenge themselves on their
common oppressors the Persians. Mahmood bad still 23,000 com-
batants under his command when he arrived at Guluabad, but, in
spite of their courage and the advantage they derived from the re-
putation of their arms, they could have been easily exterminated
if the Persians had possessed the least sentiment of national
feeling, and been animated by the remembrance of the ancient
grandeur of their country; but this debased people learnt from
their weak monarch only how to lament their misfortunes, instead
of warding them off by fighting manfully to prevent them, and it
was not till the last moment, when money and arms were distri-
buted amongst them, that they decided upon defending the capital
of the empire.

Mir Mahmood’s troops arrived at Guluabad in wretched condi-
tion : the rags they wore scarcely covered them ; they were destitute
of warlike stores; with rare exception, their sabres were the only
arm of which they could make any use, and their light artillery
was unfit for siege purposes. Ispahan, on the contrary, besides its
population, which was at this time estimated at more than 600,000
souls, had a garrison of 60,000 soldiers; the city walls were
strong, and the besieged in possession of a formidable artillery.
Unfortunately, however, the spirit of the army was cowardly and
superstitious, and it was in those days more advantageous for a
minister to deceive and betray the monarch, or flatter his pre-
dilection for theological discussions, than to do his duty. One
of his favourite generals, Fath Ali Khan Kadjar, assured Shah
Hoosein he had heard from an old woman of Asterabad, who
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was said to be inspired, that two legs of a he goat, boiled with
325 peapods in water over which a young virgin had repeated
1200 times * La illah, illah 1a,”* made a broth which would render
invisible the men who drank it : the superstitious monarch therefore
ordered that his troops should be daily supplied with goat-soup
thus prepared. A thousand absurdities equally efficacious were
decreed for a like purpose ; and there were only one or two high-
minded men who, stimulatag by the calamitous state of affairs,
endeavoured to raise the drooping spirits of the garrison ; but owing
to the weakness of the monarch, they and the few followers
who adhered to them soon fell victims to his imbecile conduct.
T'raitors alone were listened to and intrusted with the command of
, the troops; there was no mutual understanding between them, and
they daily accumulated acts of cowardice, treason, and folly, one
upon the other.

The Ethemad Dooulet, first minister of the Shah, and the Walee
of Arabia, who was General in Chief, were always of opposite
opinions, The first asserted that, as they had hitherto done nothing,
but had allowed the Afghans to arrive under the walls of Ispahan,
it would be better to remain on the defensive, and let them wear
themselves out in useless efforts; but the Walee made light of
the opinion of that eminent personage, and went out nearly every
day skirmishing round the enemy’s camp, in a manner, moreuver,
that appeared to be much more in the interests of Mir Mahmood
than in thoee of his sovereign. His subordinate officers committed
similar faults ; sorties were made without judgment or discipline,
and the Persian troops gave ground at the first onset, while the
rivalry existing amongst the commanders produced daily collisions
in their army, that frequently ended in bloodshed.

A council of war having been summoned by the King, who
presided in person, it was at length decided that a general attack
ghould be made upon the Afghans. Mahmood had only twenty
thousand fighting men to withstand the Persians, but, accustomed
to conquer, the power of this force was increased three-fold by
their own courage : they heeded not the numbers of the enemy, and
blindly obeyed a prince who possessed all their sympathies, and
who had the command entirely in his own hands; while the
Persians, being formed into several divisions, all independent one of

* God is God, and there is no God but him,



Caar. IV. DEFEATED BY THE AFGHANS. | 45

the other, and receiving different orders, were essentially deficient
in combination and resolution, the chief elements of military success.
At daybreak on the 8th of April, 1721, the Persians left the city
in great confusion to attack the Afghan camp. The Ethemad
Dooulet and the Walee of Arabia had not been able to come to an
understanding as to the order of battle, and were no better agreed
in opinion as to the attack ; thus each of them commenced with the
corpe-d’armée under his command, and in accordance with his own
individual ideas, without dreaming of the mutual support they
ought to afford to each other when required.

At first the Ethemad Dooulet remained inactive, and, advantage-
ously posted on the defensive, waited for the Afghans to advance, and
this plan was approved by the majority of the other generals. But the
Walee, a man of little reflection and of an ardent temper, looked upon
this inaction as disgraceful, and, without hstening to the advice of his
colleagues, exclaimed, * We are not here to deliberate, but to fight.”
With these words he galloped forward to his men, who poured
down upon the left flank, which gave way at the first onset. It now
required a slight effort only to turn the Afghans and put them to a
complete rout ; but the Arabs, far more anxious for plunder than for
glory, rushed into the camp of Mir Mahmood and began the work of
pillage. The Ethemad Dooulet, observing the Walee thus engaged,
fell upon the Afghan right, which was moving up to attack the Arabs;
but Aman Ullah Khan, the most talented of Mir Mahmood’s lieute-
nants, who commanded this wing, perceiving his intention, faced
about, and for some time retired before the Persians ; then suddenly
halting, be opened his squadrons and unmasked his one hundred
zimbooreks, which instant'y sent forth a hail of balls into their ranks.
The enemy, instead of rushing at once upon the guns, which could
not have been reloaded in time for another discharge, suddenly
halted, and finally decamped. Aman Ullah, seizing the propitious
moment without hesitation, fell upon the fugitives with his cavalry,
and made a terrific carnage ; their artillery, consisting of twenty-
four pieces of large calibre, which they had placed in their rear,
were also captured, and turned against the royal army. From
that moment the rout of the Persians was complete, and the soldiers,
instead of entering Ispahan, regained each his own province, and
there waited the issue of eventa 'The Afghans obtained an im-
mense booty in this battle, in which 25,000 Persians remained upon
the field: amongst them was Roostem Khan Gooulaye Agassee,
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chief of the slaves, and Ahmed Khan, General in Chief of the
Artillery, two of the most important officers in the army.

This event spread the greatest consternation in Ispahan, and the
Shah beld another council of war, at which the Ethemad Dooulet
proposed that the King should leave the capital without delay, and
retire to Kasbeen, from whence he could make an appeal to his
faithful subjects, raise a powerful army, and, returning, rescue
Ispahan from the Afghan invaders. The Walee of Arabia, whose
troops had behaved so ill in the last battle, and had been the
cause of the defeat, again held a different opinion, which obtained
with the feeble monarch, who, influenced by traitors and cowards,
blindly consented to his own ruin. He gave the Walee the supreme
command of his army ; but in thus concentrating the power into one
hand he did not succeed in imparting greater unity to the sub-
sequent operations. The successive reverses which overwhelmed
the Persians, instead of opening the eyes of the Shah to the inca-
pacity of his general, served only to increase his absurd caprices,
which always ended in partial defeats, and eventually so decimated
and discouraged his army, that the troops were afraid to expose
- themselves beyond the walls of the city.

While the Shah Hoosein confided the destinies of his empire to
a man so little worthy of this trust, Mir Mahmood, though a con-
queror, was a prey to the most cruel anxiety, for the number of
his troops diminished without his having the power to recruit
them; a turn of fortune in favour of the Persians might place
him in a most critical position; and at one moment such was
his indecision that he ceased to give any orders to his gene-
rals. Finding that Ispahan did not surrender after the victory
he had gained, he was on the point of retiring to Kerman to
reorganize his army; but having been informed of the -alarm
which reigned in the city, and that provisions were running
short, his hopes again revived, and another motive arose to dis-
suade him from fulfilling his intention of retreating, Instead of
preserving that firmness of demeanour, which will frequently sus-
tain a drooping cause, instead of energetically battling with his
enemy, the Shah Sultan Hoosein was seen to drag the imperial
purple through the mire, and, following the example of his go-
vernor of Kerman, beseech his enemy to accept immense sums
of money to evacuate the Persian territory. It was evident that
his proposition originated in fear and discouragement; and
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Mir Mahmood was convinced that he should soon be master of
the city if he persevered in the investment of the place. He
bourly saw the Persian generals committing the grossest faults,
and neglecting to take the most simple measures for their pre-
servation. ke kpew that imprudent and ignorant counsellors gave
the Shah advice which must infallibly lead to his destruction ; and
all these circumstances determined him to abandon his project of
retreat and press the Persians with additional vigour,

The errors, or rather the treachery, of the Persian nobles,
enabled Mahmood to surround the city by a line of circumvallation,
which it would have been impossible to defend with his small army
if the Walee had made the least effort to dislodge him ; but he sent
a succession of feeble detachments against the Afghans, which,
badly directed, failed in every attack. Ferababad and Djulfa,
abandoned by the Walee, were now taken by assault, and, regard-
less of the hercic resistance of their inhabitants, the general in
chief made not the least demonstration in their favour; it was
supposed that the fanaticism of this barbarian was gratified by the
ruin of Djulfa, for it was inhabited by Armenian Christians. In
short, the Walee and bis troops always moved in the direction
where the enemy was not ; and if he did meet the Afghans, he was
sure to retreat under some frivolous pretext or other; he boasted
in loud terms, when in presence of the Shah, but always remained
in a state of inaction when he ought to have shown energy and
determination.

Feeling that he was victorious on all points, Mahmood drew
closer the line of circumvallation 1n which he held the Persians,
who made not the least attempt to check his operations: debased
by the tyranny and superstitious bigotry of the court, they became
utterly helpless ; while the Afghans, elated by tbeir success, and
possessing all the élan of a people who had recovered their liberty,
fought with the greatest enthusiasm. They carefully guarded the
roads, intercepted the convoys of provisions that endeavoured to
enter the capital, and laid waste the environs with fire and sword,
preserving only what was necessary for themselves; until this
country, hitherto so fertile, became an arid desert on which nothing
could be seen but the bleached skeletons of men and horses, and
the charred ruins of forsaken villages.

At the commencement of the war the rural population, harassed
and plundered, flocked to the capital, where they were of no use in
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the defence, and their presence only increased the scarcity, which
soon became extreme, and many thousands of the famished citizens
of Ispahan let themselves down from the ramparts and fled from
the city, hoping to reach some other province where food was in
abundance. But the Afghans, who closely watched their move-
ments, slaughtered them without remorse, and but a very few
succeeded in effecting their escape; nevertheless the bare possi-
bility of doing so induced crowds of them daily to make the
hazardous attempt. Heaps of human bodies were seen here and
there wanting the common rights of sepulture, while many more
floated on the surface of the Zendehrood, the tainted waters of
which were no longer fit for the ordinary purposes of life; and at
length even these did not reach the capital, for the Afghans cut off
the canals which supplied the city ; the tanks were insufficient to
meet the general consumption, and thirst was superadded to the
pangs of hunger. Provisions of all kinds were soon exhausted ; the
few camels and other beasts of burden which remained were sold
at 50 high a price that the great men about the court could alone
purchase any ammal food ; and the people were reduced to such
extremities that they were compelled to give chase to the most
unclean aunimals, which by their religion they were forbidden not
only to eat, but even to touch. At night the inhabitants of one
quarter made incursions into other parts of the city to search for
provisions supposed to be concealed, and frequent scenes of vio-
lence and bloodshed were the result; for here the father was often
found armed against his son, and brother against brother; all
affection was banished amongst the members of the same family ;
they looked upon each other as deadly enemies, and fought
for the wretched scraps of food they had perchance procured.
At length meat of every kind disappeared, and the trees were
stripped of their leaves and bark to satisfy the cravings of these
miserable beings, who, searching the very dunghills and com-
mon sewers, lived upon any soft substance, whatever it might
happen to be, which they found there. Old pieces of leather
were soaked, boiled, and eaten with avidity; the plaster from
the walls, mixed with sawdust, also offered them another spe-
cies of food which was sometimes the object of angry dispute
even to the death. The population of Ispahan, so healthy, light-
hearted, and rich a few months before, now presented the spectacle
of a mob of attenuated creatures, wan and of a sinister aspect,
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scarcely able to drag themselves along the streets and public
places, that were covered with the corpses of their countrymen,
and which, horrible to relate, were sometimes eaten to alleviate
the terrible pangs of hunger. Many put an end to their own
. existence to avoid these sufferings. Amidst all this appalling
misery the people evinced to the last their devotion to their King,
who assured them of the speedy arrival of his son Thamasp. This
pricce had succeeded in eluding the vigilance of the Afghans,
and gone to the north of the empire, where he expected to raise
an army and march to the relief of Ispahan; but five months
baving elapsed without any tidings of him reaching the capital, its
inhabitants despaired of his return, and besought the Shah to bring
their calamities to a close. This prince, more weak than ill-inten-
tioned, afflicted with the fearful condition of his subjects, determined
to put an end to it ; besides, it was utterly impossible that he could
prolong the defence. All his armies had been destroyed, the
few soldiers that remained in Persia were in distant provinces, and
many of them in the interest of ambitious chiefs, who, profiting
by the miserable state of their country, united with each other to
create an independent power.

Eight months bad elapsed from the commencement of the siege,
when, on the 14th of Sefer, 1135 of the Hejira, and 23rd October,
1722, the Shah Sultan Hoosein left the city, escorted by the great
officers of his court, and arrived at the camp of Mir Mahmood,
in whose favour he publicly abdicated the throme, and with all
solemnity delivered to him the sword and crown of the Seffa-
veans, the attributes of his power as monarch of the Persian
empire. The same day the invader took military possession of the
arsenals and other public establishments, but it was not till five
days after that he made his triumphant entry into Ispahan. His
first act was to assign a place of residence to the fallen Shah, and
a sufficient pension to meet his requirements ; his second, to order
a general massacre of the troops remaining within the city, not so
much with a view of taking revenge upon them for the resistance
they had made, as to strike terror into those who, under the command
of the Prince Thamasp, might be tempted to renew the contest.
This massacre continued during three days, after which Mir Mah-
mood ordered it should cease, and occupied himself in restoring
tranquillity and security in the capital. Having very little coufi-
dence in the administrative powers of the Afghans, who, up to this

E
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period, had never taken part in public affairs, and not daring to
place any faith in the Persians so recently subjected to his rule, the
Mir appointed two officers at the head of each department of the
administration—an Afghan and a Persian; the former to watch
the latter, and at the same time acquire from him all that it was
useful for him to know.

The measures taken by Mir Mahmood to protect the vanquished
from insult, the severe discipline he observed in his army, and the
even-banded justice he dealt out to every one, svon acquired for
him the esteem of the Persians. The Persian chiefs, who, traitors
to their king, had furnished him with information during the siege,
he treated with the greatest severity ; he, nevertheless, made an
exception in favour of the Walee of Arabia, whose life he spared
in conformity with a vow that he bhad made so to do if he should
come victorious out of the contest; and in order not to give any
opportunity for a false interpretation to the motives which dictated
this, he loaded with favours those who had remained faithful to the
fortunes of the Shah Hoosein.

Up to the day on which Mir Mahmood attained a position so
elevated, his conduct was that of a man animated by magnanimous
sentiments ; but, from the time he felt securely seated on the
throne of the Seffaveans, he adopted a line of conduct which tar-
nished the glory of his previous career; the innate ferocity of the
Afghan, suppressed for a time, soon reassumed its empire over his
mind ; he became suspicious and even cruel towards those who had
served him with the greatest fidelity. But, in spite of bis tyranny,
he endeavoured to tranquillise Persia by his judicious administra-
tion, and to extend his dominion over those provinces which had
not recognised his authority. He would, perhaps, have succeeded,
but for the change which had taken place in his character, and
which became every day more and more cruel.
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CHAPTER V.

The Prince Thamasp — Mahmood sends an army against him — Kasbeen sur-
renders to the Afghans — Duplicity and cruelty of the victors — The inhabitanta
take thair revenge — Defeat of the Afghans — Mahmood is furious at this —
Reconciliation with Aman Ullah Khan — Mahmood massacres the Persian
nobles — Banguinary scenes in Ispahan — State of the provinces — Prince
Thamasp is proclaimed Shah — Assembles troops in the Azerbaidjan — The
Turks and Russians seize upon Armenia and Georgia — State of the Afghan
aurmy — Desertions from Mir Mahmood's ranks — Shiraz besieged — Tyranny of
Mshmood — Mir Echreff appointed to the chief command — The Afghan army
march upon Yezd — Mahmood becomes deranged — Losses in the Afghan ranks
— The troops return to lspshan — Mahmood in a paroxysm of madnees puis to
death the sons of 8hah Hoosein — Death of Mahmood — Mir Echreff succeeds
him — He puts the Serdar Ullah Khan to death — Poli¢y of Russia at this
period — Echreff marches againat the Turks — Battle of Kiemereh — Defeat of
the Turks — Treaty with the Afghans — Events in Afghanistan — The Russians
take possession of GQuilan — Echreff fortifies the Afghan quarter in Is —
Nadir joins the Shah Thamasp — He takes Nishapoor — Echreff seizes Yezd —
Battle between Nadir and Echreff — Defeat of the Afghans-— Battle of Bagh
Mirane -— The Afghans retire from Ispahan — Conflict at the Bend.emir-—
Retrest upon Shiraz — Desetruction of the Afghan army — Death of Echreff—
Reflections,

A¥TER the abdication of his father in 1722, the Prince Thamasp
Mirza assumed the title of Shah at Kasbeen ; but when Mir Mah-
mood despatched an army against him, the prince fled at its
approach, and retired into the Azerbaidjan. 'The inhabitants of
Kasbeen, seeing themselves thus abandoned, immediately made
their submission to the Afghans, to whom they gave a most
friendly reception. The invaders reciprocated this feeling, and
appeared desirous of being on the best terms with them ; but, after
they had been some time in the town, renewed the scenes of car-
nage which took place at Ispahan, and during three days gave the
reing to their passion for murder and pillage. The Kasheenians,
finding that submission had not disarmed the vengeance of their
conquerors, assembled in arms after the first moment of sur-
prise, massacred in their turn nearly half the Afghans, and drove
the remainder from the city. The survivors at once dispersed ;
some of them regaining Ispahan, while others followed the Serdar
Aman Ullah Khan, and Mir Echreff, the cousin of Mahmood.
These two Afghan chiefs had, more than any others, contributed to
E 2
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the victories and elevation of the son of Mir Weis ; but Mabmood,
jealous of their popularity, instead of recompensing them for their
services, basely accused them of treachery and threatened them
with death, from which they escaped to Kandahar.

Mir Mahmood was highly incensed at the defeat his troops sus-
tained at Kasheen, and not less so at the defection of the two
serdars ; he was also apprehensive that the Persian nobles whom
he had retained at his court might attempt to overthrow him or
take his life, and thought, therefore, that, having merely a small
body of troops to make a stand against a general revolt, terror
alone could retain the Persians in obedience. Well convinced of
this, he determined upon adopting the most barbarous measures, and,
having succeeded in reconciling himself with Aman Ullah Khan,
turned that circumstance to account by making it the opportu-
nity for holding a great festival. T'o this he invited all the Persian
dignitaries of rank and other persons of note in Ispahan, who,
anxious tu please their new sovereign, and entertaining no suspicion
of his villanous design, accepted his invitation, and arrived at the
palace to the number of one hundred and fourteen, but, instead of
the banquet which they had expected, they found Afghan troops
posted in the royal gardens, who, in conformity with the orders they
bad received, put them all to death. This horrible butchery accom-
plished, the soldiers spread themselves over the city, and slaughtered,
to the number of several thousands, the near relatives of the victims,
as well as a great number of 8yuds and ulemas of the capital. It
was only when this bloody tragedy had been played out that
Mahmood’s fury was temporarily appeased. Two days after, five
hundred youths, of the first families in the kingdom, and who
within the walls of their colleges had escaped this massacre, were
taken from thence into the country, and hunted down like deer, the
Afghans piercing them through with their jereeds as they fled
terror-stricken across the plain. Not long after, three thousand
Persians, who had taken service in the tyrant’s army, experienced
a similar fate; they were suddenly attacked at a banquet which
he gave them, and, being unarmed, were exterminated to a man.
Finally, he put to death every Persian who had held any em-
ployment or received any favours from the Shah’s government.
These horrible proceedings, which lasted during a month, plunged
all the first families of the country into the depths of despair, and
dentided Ispahan of half its population; the carnage subsequently



Crar, V, STATE OF THE AFGHAN ARMY. 53

extended itself to the provinces, and murder, pillage, and desola-
tion reigned on all sides.

At length the cruelties of Mir Mahmood became a species of
madness, but the Persians, utterly debased, did not attempt to
deliver themselves from his frightful tyranny. In the midst of
these sanguinary scenes they lay prostrate at the feet of him who
had but yesterday deprived them of a father, a brother, a son, or a
friend, and, while waiting till they received the same fate at his
bands, were vile and degraded enough to submit to be used as the
instruments of his ferocious nature. But the torrents of blood thus.
shed brought no sense of security to Mir Mahmood, and his posi-
tion was certainly well calculated to inspire him with uneasiness.
Thamasp Mirza had recently been acknowledged Shah by the
population of Azerbaidjan, and a party which began to be powerful
in that province had pronounced in his favour, and threatened to
march, at no distant date, upon Ispahan. On the other hand, the
Turks and the Russians, taking advantage of the distracted state
of Persia, had seized upon Armenia, Georgia, Guilan, Kurdistan,
and a part of Irak, and made further dispositions for advancing
towards the south. The army of Mahmood numbered only at this
time a few thousand Afghans; it is true, their name alone was in
itself sufficient to make the conquered tremble; but the ranks
of these hardy and ferocious soldiers were daily thinned, and every-
thing indicated that they would not be able to resist the storm
which was gathering against them in'the north.

All these considerations, and the retirement of Mir Echreff, a
chief beloved by the troops, led to much desertion amongst the
Afghans; the most devoted servants and the nearest relatives  of Mir
Mahmood fled from the effects of his tyranny, and he soon found
himself isolated in the midst of his court. In this extremity he
recruited his army with Kurds, who, as well as the Afghans, were
Soonees, thinking that he could rely more upon them than upon
the Persians, who were of the hostile sect of Shiahs. He thus raised
a new army, with which, in 1724, he took possession of several
districts in Irak and Fars, though Shiraz, the capital of the latter
province, did not surrender until it had stood a siege of eight
months and suffered all the horrors of famine.

But the Afghan nation were not dazzled by these successes.
Mahmood never regained their confidence, and such was the im-
pression his actions had produced that the reinforcements he had
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haughtily demanded from Kandabar arrived but tardily, and
amounted only to the tenth part of what he anticipated, for no one
would serve a prince who had delivered them from the Persian yoke
ouly to impose a more cruel and despotic tyranny of his own. The
Serdar Mir Echreff was at the head of these troops, and they
insisted that he should be confirmed in his command as the abso-
lute condition of their services. Mir Mahmood the more readily
complied with this request, because, baving been abandoned by
his principal officers, the co-operation of his cousin had become an
absolute necessity for him, not only to direct the military opera-
tions, which, by reason of his bad state of health, he was unable to
conduct, but also to retain in Persia, through his influence, many
Afghans who would otherwise have left the country. On the
arrival of this reinforcement Mir Mahmood marched upon Yezd,
which he attempted to seize, but he was not fortunate in this
enterprise. He issued orders to his troops which it was impos-
sible to execute, and derangement of his intellectual faculties
was clearly manifested upon this occasion; his eccentricities were
very nearly causing a revolt in his army, which, indignant at
the losses it had sustained without obtaining any corresponding
success, obliged him to raise the siege and return to Ispahan.
This check soured and excited him, and his irascible nature
was still more aggravated by the unreasonable demands of his
officers, who were supported by the troops. Alarmed also at the
progress of Thamasp Mirza, the Russians, and the Turks, and a
prey to remorse, his mind was filled with visions of his victims
ready to torment him, so that he abandoned himself to siper-
gtitious devotion in the most exaggerated form; he shut bim-
self up in a subterraneous cell, observing the strictest fast, and
when, at the end of two months, he left this retreat, he was in such
a state that he could scarcely be recognised. Livid, emaciated,
and his features contracted, he seemed to dread the light of day,
and reappeared more fearful and more cruel than ever ; haunted by
the darkest suspicions, gloomy and taciturn, he shuddered at the ap-
proach of his best friends, dreading to find in every one an assassin.
During one of the paroxysms of his disease he was informed
that the sons of the Shah Suitan Hooeein had made an attempt to
escape, when, trembling with rage at this intelligence, he ordered
them all to be brought into his presence, and, drawing his poignard,
put thirty-one of them to death with his own hand. Their unfor-
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tunate father, hearing their cries, broke through the guards, and,
rushing to the scene of carnage, endeavoured to protect them at
the nek of his own life; a blow from Mahmood’s dagger wounded
him in the arm, and the sight of his blood alone recalled the Mir
to himself, and induced him to spare two of the princes, still very
young, the only ones that escaped from this fearful massacre. His
insania was at length complete: to this were added an attack of
paralysis, a painful disease of the infestines, and want of sleep, and
in this cundition be sométimes tore pieces of flesh from his body,
and devoured them. His mother, as some say, in despair at his
sufferings—or Mir Echreff, as others affirm, to obtain the power to
which he was called by the general wish of the Afghans—ordered
him to be smothered under the cushions of his own divan ; his re-
mams were thrown to the jackals. But whoever gave the order for
the death of Mabmood, it is certain that this prince was still alive
when the Afghans acknowledged Mir Echreff as their sovereign.
The antecedents of this young soldier and his brilliant qualities,
in no way inferior to those of his predecessor during the first years
of his reign, raised great hopes of him in the minds of his subjects.
Accordingly, he applied himself earnestly to the task of mitigating
the misery inflicted by his relative, and expressed publicly the
horror he felt at the merciless deeds which had rendered the very
name of Afghan odious; he paid the greatest honours to the re-
mains of the sons of the Shah Sultan Hoosein by magnificent
funeral rites, at the close of which he declared to the assembled
Afghan and Persian nobles that he devoted the memory of Mah-
mood to the execration of future ages. In short, he did everything
in his power to attach the Persians to his interests, and bestowed
favours upon them, even to the detriment of the Afghans. The
latter were not long in perceiving that they had chosen a master
who was quite determined to take every advantage of the power
they had just placed in his hands for his first act was to put the
Serdar Aman Ullah Khan to death. This brave but ambitious
geveral of Mir Mahmood, as well as several other chiefs, had done
everything to prevemt his election, and he was also suspected of
bolding a secret correspondence with Shah Thamasp. No real
crime could be imputed to them, but Mir Echreff thought their deaths
pecessary to his security. Jle confiscated to his own profit the
wealth which they had accumulated during the conquest of Persia,
and this enabled him to meet the immediate necessities consequent
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upon his succession and the embarrassments that met him on all
sides.

Echreff entertained no delusions on the difficulty of his position.
It was evident that he must put an end to the divisions amongst his
own people, and obtain the confidence of the Persians ; he had also
to repel the invasion of the Russians, who had seized upon the
Guilan ; that of the Turks, already masters of (xeorgia, the Azer-
baidjan, Kurdistan, and part of Irak; and finally to subdue the
party of Thamasp Mirza, which had been organised in the south of
the Azerbaidjan and the Mazanderan. This prince was the only
one of the three surviving sons of the Shah Hoosein, who was then
in possession of his liberty : by the abdication of his father he con-
sidered himself King of Persia, and bad, as Shah, treated with the
Russian and Turkish governments. To the first he had promised
the cession of the provinces bordering on the Caspian; and to the
second, the countries they had already seized, on condition that they
assisted him in regaining the throne of his fathers. Agreeably to
the terms of this treaty, which accorded so well with the views of
territorial aggrandizement projected by the remarkable sovereign
who then reigned in Russia, the army of Peter the Great disem-
barked in the Guilan, and there established itself; and as every-
thing denoted that the Russian generals did not intend to leave the
positions they had taken up, Echreff turned his first efforts against
the Turks. In his endecavours to establish peace he at first tried
what he could effect by negotiation, offering to make great sacrifices
to obtain that result. But the Sultan, Ahmed Khan, seeing the
state of anarchy that reigned in Persia, determined to retain the
provinces already mentioned; the negotiations, therefore, were
broken off, and he ordered Ahmed Pasha, the Walee of Bagdad,
and Hoosein Pasha, the Walee of Mosul, with the troops under their
command, to converge first on Kermanshah, and afterwards to
concentrate them on Hamadan. These two towns were already
occupied by detachments of the Turkish army under the orders of
Abdul Rahman Pasha. The Walee of Bagdad, who had the com-
mand in chief, was instructed to send a flag of truce to Mir
Echreff directly his army had assembled at Hamadan, and impera-
tively demand that the Shah Hoosein and his sons, at this time
imprisoned in the fort of Teberruk, at Ispahan, should be set at
liberty. He was also to insist upon the immediate evacuation of
the Persian territory by the Afghans, as well as the restitution of

-
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all the treasure they had laid their hands on during their occupation.
The rejection of any one of these conditions was to be followed by
a declaration of war,®* And in this manper the matter terminated,
for the Turkish envoy was unable to come to any understanding
with Mir Echrefft. Abmed Pasha took the field with an army of
60,000 men and 70 pieces of artillery, and marched direct u

Ispaban. Echreff met him about four days’ march from the capital,
his army not being half as numerous as that of the Turks, and very
ill provided with artillery. A battle was fought at Kiemereh; a
town situated between Ispahan and Boroodjird, and the victory was
for 2 long time undecided, but at length the Turks were routed,
leaving 12,000 men upon the field, and 50 pieces of cannon ; the
baggage also fell into the hands of the Afghans. Echreff showed
himself as great after the victory as he had been reasonable and
moderate during the negotiations, and, retaining only the arms,
returned all the booty his soldiers had made to the Turks. To
Ahmed Pasha he wrote that he could not consider as legitimate
spoils of war the plunder he had taken from misguided Mussulmans ;
that his greatest desire was to live in peace with his brethren ; that
be trusted the Sultan would not again disturb him in the possession
of a throne which he had taker from heretics, and to which he had an
incontestable right by every law, human and divine. This generous
conduct, and the cession to the Turks of the districts of Tauris,
ngmnn, Sultanieh, Tefrich, Ferahane, Kezaz, Kurdistan, Loo-
ristan, and Koozistan, as well as admitting the rehgmuﬂ supremacy
of the Sultan, which Mir Echreff engaged to acknowledge in future,
induced the Turks to make peace. This he ardently desired, for he had
to contend with immeasurable difficulties ; and in these negotiations
with the Turks, as well as his conduct in the field, Echreff displayed
the talents of a consummate diplomatist and a first-rate general.
He obtained from Turkey the formal recognition of his right to the
throne of Persia : and the year following, the Sultan Ahmed Khan
sent Reshid Pasha to congratulate the Afghan chief on his acces-
gion to the throne. Echreff afterwards sent Mohamed Khan, a

* Abdullah Khan, the historian of is the only eastern suthority which
Herat, remarks in his manuscript, that records the death of the B Sultan
Echreff was so thoroughly indignant at  Hoosein as having taken place at this
the insolence of this meesage, that im- epoch, I thought it right to mention
medistely after the receipt of it he the circumstance in a note, adopting
ordered tha Shah Hoosein and his sons  myself the opinion more generally ac-
to be beheaded in the presence of the credited.— Ferrier.

Turkish envoy; but as Abdullah Khan
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Beloochee, to acknowledge the compliment, and he was received at
Constantinople with great honours.

In consequence of the treaty thus concluded between Echreff and
the Sultan, the Prince Themasp was left to his own resources ; and
when the Turks entered the Azerbaidjan he evacuated that pro-
vince, followed by a few devoted adherents. Subsequently to this
he again took possession of Kasbeen and Teheran, and in these
cities he resided alternately; but no sooner had Echreff got rid of
the Turks than he marched against and completely defeated the
Prince, forcing him to retire into the Mazanderan. Nevertheless
the troops of Thamasp refused to surrender Kasbeen and Teheran
to the victor, who, called to Ispahan by the urgency of his affairs,
left an army to prosecute the sieges under the command of the
Serdar Seidel Khan Nassaree, who soon reduced these cities.

While Echreff was courageously fighting in Persia to establish
his power, he lost his hold upon Kandahar, which remained defini-
tively in tbe hands of Mir Hoosein, a brother of Mir Mahmood,
whom he had endeavoured to overthrow by an intrigue. In the
Beistan, the governor Malek Mahmood, a descendant of the ancient
Persian sovereigns, had taken the title of king, and subsequently
eeized upon the greater part of Khorassan. Herat had acknow-
ledged his authority for many years past, so that the Afghans were
driven out in this direction. These changes were the cause of
further complications amongst the chiefs, between whom there was
already anything but a good understanding.

It was, therefore, evident to Echreff that there was no hope of
his being assisted by his own nation, and that for the future he
could reckon only upon those who had, up to this time, followed
his fortunes. ‘He now saw, without much regret, the Russians
masters of the Guilan ; and when he was convinced that the posses-
sion of that province would satisfy their ambition, and that they had
no intention of disturbing him in Irak, he determined to act with
the utmost energy in the East, where his affairs were much em-
barrassed ; but before leaving Ispahan he ordered the quarter in
which the Afghans resided to be enclosed with high and thick walls,
within which they would be secure against all the viciesitudes of
war. Shah Thamasp, on the other hand, made every effort to
recover the throne of the Seffavyes, and had the good fortune to
secure the services of one of those extraordinary men that Nature
produces only at long intervals, Nadir, subsequently Nadir Shah,
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a powerfal rebber-chieftain, offered his services to the son of the
Shah Seltan Hooseein, who accepted them with eagerness. The
military reputation of Nadir, to which was now added the sutho-
nty dertved from his position as commander-in-chief of the troops
of the legitimate king, attracted numerous partisans to his camp,
and he soon saw himself at the head of a large and well-disciplined
army inspired by his own peculiar and energetic impulses.

During the years 1726 and 1727 Nadir employed himself in
reconquering that part of Khoressan which Malek Mahmood, the
Prince of Seistan, bad seized, and also in taking Herat ; after which
he marched towards Mazanderan, that he might, in concert with
his sovereign, adopt some plan for driving the Afghans from the
kingdem. The capture of the city of Nishapoor, and the slaughter
of 3000 Afghans, was the prelude to this enterprise. After this
he dislodged successively all the Afghan garrisons in Khorassan,
and drove them from post to post, until they had entirely evacuated
this province, which soon acknowledged, and to the fullest extent,
the authority of the Shah Thamasp.

While Nadir was thus occupied, Mir Echreff seized upon Yezd,
which had resisted the arms of Mir Mahmood : but the conquest
was dearly bought, for he there lost his tried and veteran soldiers, the
élite of his army. This was indeed a great misfortune, and,
aggravated by the fact that, Mir Hoosein having declared himself
independent in Kandahar, he was unable to fill up the casualties
in his army with Afghans, who were no longer anxious to take
service under him. Mir Echreff was, therefore, constrained to
recrnit his army with Persians, and march without further delay
against Nadir, whose victorious battalions were daily augmented
by men eager to deliver their country, and take a deep revenge for
the odious tyranny under which they had groaned for six years.
Mir Echreff had never been in such a critical position, and the
measures of precaution which bhe took to protect his rear plainly
showed the disquietude he felt; his soldiers participated in this
feeling, they had lost all confidence in themselves, and it was under
such apprehensions that they moved forward to meet the enemy.

Shah Thamasp, iinpatient to recover his capital, was desirous that
Nadir should march in all haste on Ispahan; but the prudent
general respectfully but firmly declined to comply with his wishes,
convinced that such a movement would be inopportune. Nadir felt
confident that, if he kept his troope fresh, it would be easy for him
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to beat the Afghans, if they attacked him after a long forced march,
exhausted by privations and fatigue. In acting thus he also had
the advantage of choosing the ground on which he intended to give
battle without removing from Mazanderan. The population of this
province was entirely devoted to Shah Thamasp, and he could there-
fore, in case of a reverse, effect his retreat in all security across the
mountains, which offered at every step admirable positions for
defence.

The army of Echreff numbered 30,000 men, scarcely the half of
which, at the utmost, were Afghans, and on coming up with the forces
of the enemy he found them entrenched in a well-chosen position on
some small hills selected by Nadir. The Afghans, never having
seen the Persians hold their ground, were anxious to attack at once ;
but Echreff, who had a higher opinion of his adversaries, repressed,
perhaps inopportunely, this impulse, which might have given him
the victory, and remained several days in a state of inaction. It
was only when it became imposeible for him to obtain supplies that
he decided upon giving his adversary battle, and on the 23rd of
Reby-i-ul akher, 6th of November, 1728, he took up a position in
front of his army échelloned from Moomineabad to Boordj-meyoos,
or Meimandoos. The latter place is situated about seven miles east
of the town of Damghan, having the village of Naimabad on the
west, and at the same distance from the village of Deh Mollah. The
attack commenced along the whole line; but the Persians received
it with great steadiness, and, perfectly cool, waited till the enemy
had advanced within half musket-shot before they poured in their
fire. The Afghans fought with the courage and savage energy that
was natural to them and the confidence of men accustomed to
conquer ; but they were unable to make any impression upon their
adversaries. Echreff, surprised at a resistance to which his troops
were not accustomed, attempted to destroy Nadir’s order of battle
by turning his left flank ; but the Persian commander, perceiving
bis intention, formed his infantry into squares, and routed in detail
with bis cavalry Echreff’s detachments, after-which, leading the
mass of his forces against the Afghan reserves, he put them to flight.*

* Abdullah Ehan states there were that this sovereign held them in great
ten French officers, for the most part consideration, gave them the absclute
belonging to the artillery, serving in  authority over his troops, and that he
the Persian army, and that his father, owed the greater portion of his success
who was placed by Nadir under their to the faithful support which they guve
special orders, had frequently told him  him,— Ferrier.
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The Mir’s troops performed; indeed, prodigies of valour ; but they
were unable to rally, and left 12,000 of their comrades on the field
of battlee The Persians, who lost only 3000 men, followed the
retreating enemy and came up with them at the defile of Khar,
called also by the Persians Tingui-serdaree.®* Here the Afghans
rallied and renewed the fight; but they were again defeated, and
abandoned all their baggage to the victors—Nadir himself was
wounded in this second engagement. The distance from the
defile of Khar to Teheran is forty-five miles, and the remnants
of the Afghan army reached that city in one day; they subee-
quently pressed on to Ipsahan with all speed, spreading alarm,
desolation, and death on their route. On their arrival there they
hastened, with their families and their treasure, into the fortress
which Echreff had constructed in the centre of the city; but after
having confided its defence to a garrison of picked men, the Afghan
commander again took the field with his remaining troops, con-
sisting of Afghans, Tartars) Kurds, and Ghebers, in all 20,000
men, marched to the north of Ispaban, and at a spot twenty-four
miles from thence took up a position on a table-land in advance,
and to the north-east of the village of Moortchekhor. There he
waited for the Persians, over whom he still hoped to prove his
superiority in arms. The Afghans were posted between the village
and a trench which they bhad thrown up in front of their camp in
the form of a demi-lune, their right resting on a watercourse and
their left on a caravanserai difficult to take. Seeing them in so
good a position, Nadir did not think it advisable to attack imme-
diately : he wished to refresh his troops, and for this purpose pitched
his camp about two miles west of the high road and round the
village of Bagh-mirane. The reconnaissances which he ordered to
be made on the Afghan camp having satisfied him that it could not
be carried in front, he determined to turn the position, and taking
advantage of a-dark night, which occurred three days after his
arrival, he found himself at the near approach of day in the rear of
the Afghans, separated from them only by the village. Fortune,
which favoured him at all points, again declared for him, for
a violent wind arose and drove clouds of dust in the faces of

* This spot is cited by several tmval!am, and with reason, as being the Caspian
Pyles — Ferrier, ’

L
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the Afghans, and, favoured by this ciremnstance, Nadir fell upon
them with the same intrepidity and vigour which he had already
displayed. The enemy, in despair, maintained an obstinate re-
gistance ; but they had to do with men flushed with recent victories,
which gave them the solidity of old soldiers. If the Afghans fought
to preserve their conquest and their lives, the Persians were ani-
mated by the remembrance of the injuries they had suffered, and
were burning to avenge. The village was at length carried, and
afterwards the entrenchments, in defending which 4000 Afghans
found a soldier’s death. The survivors retreated in disorder to
Ispahan, where each of them collected in the course of the night
his most valuable effects, and at daybreak, accompanied by their
wives and children, mounted on mules and camels, fled southward.
- Mir Echreff, furious at his reverses, put the Shah Sultan Hoosein
and his two sons to death, and in a gloomy and savage mood was
the last Afghan that left the walls of Ispahan. He carmed with
bim all his treasures and jewels, and, with 12,000 horsemen still
under his command, directed his course on Shiraz, from which city
he hoped again to reassume the offensive against the Persians; but
Nadir did net allow Echreff time to reorganise his army, and after
a few days’ repose he was once more on foot, intending, if possible,
to force him to evacuate the province of Fars. The Afghans ad-
vanced to meet the enemy as far as Peulee Khan, a bridge over the
Bendemir, ten miles south of Persepolis, and disputed with tenacity
and fury the passage of that river; but they were again defeated
and retired to Shiraz in the greatest confusion. Nadir doggedly
pursued them step by step, invested the city, and informed the
beleaguered host that, if Echreff was not delivered up to him
within forty-eight hours, he would put every soldier to death,
and with torture. The Afghans agreed to his conditions, on ascer-
taining which the Mir prepared for flight, and, accompanied by two
bundred brave men who remained faithful to his fallen fortunes, cut
his way sword in hand through the investing army, taking in hot
bhaste the road to Afghanistan—a portion of his army fell under the
swords of the Persians, who gave their adversaries no quarter, and
the remainder dispersed. As to Echreff, he was so rapidly pursued
that he was obliged to abandon his baggage and treasure to avoid
being made prisoner : his followers, seeing that they could no longer
be of the least service, left him. When he reached the Seistan,



Coar. V. DEATH OF ECHREFF — REFLECTIONS. 63

he had only two servants with him, and they, as well as the Mir,
fell by the hand of Abdullah Khan, a Belooch chief, who sent his
head and two large brilliants which were found on him to the
Shah Thamasp.*

Thus terminated the dominion of the Afghans in Persia. If any
mdividual was capable of maintaining it for a longer period, it was
certainly Mir Echreff, who to extraordinary courage united great
talents of every kind ; but the elements on which his power rested
were too unstable for it to be possible that he could eventuslly
come forth victorious from the conflict which arose between himself
and the robber chieftain. This extraordinary invasion of Persia
ended in the extermination of all those who had taken part in it—
a just retribution for the crimes and atrocities with which they had
sullied their cause. During the seven years that the Afghans held
Peruia, that empire lost more than a third of its population; the
soil remained without cultivation, the canals and watercourses for
irrigation were dried up, and the greater portion of the public
buildings completely destroyed. The invaders had to contend
against a people enervated, effeminate, and devoid of every senti-
ment of homour and national feeling; they triumphed, there-
fore, by an obstinate determination to succeed, and, in spite of their
inferiority in numbers, they did so. Such examples are, it i8 true,
rare in history ; but the Afghans were better qualified to fight than to
govern. To appropriate, wherever they went, and without any reason
or pretext whatsoever, money or money’s worth, was their practice;
revolts and disturbances naturally ensued, and necessitated the
employment of a large army. They were in the end weak-
ened by twenty combats, and found it impossible to recruit in
Afghanistan, except in the small and scarcely organised state of Kan-
dahar, which ceased to provide them with further reinforcements ;
they were, therefore, obliged to admit foreign soldiers within their
ranks, whose fidelity was at least doubtful, and who rarely acted
with vigour; but they maintained themselves seven years in Persia,
much more by the terror which their first victories and their cruelty
inspired, than by the material means at their disposal. If Echreff
vanquished the Turks, it was because he had the support of the

—

* Several Eastern authors contradict this account, and assert that Echreff
died of disease,— Ferrier.
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Persians, who detested them much more than they did the Afghans,
and served voluntarily against them ; but directly Nadir appeared,
this unreal and unstable dominion was dissolved and overthrown in
four successive battles. Shunned and dreaded everywhere for their
turbulence and barbarity, they were repulsed on all sides, and found,
with great difficulty, an asylum or even a shelter in those desert
wastes ; the greater number of them were tracked like wild beasts,
and killed like them, or perished from misery and hunger, and it
is doubtful whether more than a few hundred Afghans ever returned
to their own country.
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CHAPTER VI

Nadir takes Herat and Furrah — Marches upon Kandahar in 1737 — Admirable
defence by the Ghildjzyes — Mir Hoosein capitulates— Nadir reduces Afghanistan

— His policy in that country — Insurrection of the Afghans after the death of
Nadir Shah — Expulsion of the Persians — Ahmed Khan Suddozye elected

King — Hadji Djerual Ehan — Revolt of the Serdars — Nasser Khan surrenders
Eabul and Peshawur — Abhmed Shah marches against Lahore — Hayat Ullah
Ehsn obtains the assistance of the Mogul Emperor — Admirable tactica of
Abhmed Shah — Paasage of the Tchenab — Ahmed Shah takes Lahore — Makes
a treaty with the Mogul Emperor — Revolt at Kandahar — Execution of the
conspirators — Ahmed Shalh advances into Khorassan — Siege of Herat —
Defence of the citadel by Emir Khan — Timoor Mirza marches agninst Meahed
— Defeat of the Khorassian chiefs in that city — Meshed relieved by Shah
Rokh — Defeat of Mir Alem — Ahmed Shah retires from Meshed — Besieges
Nishapoor — I8 obliged to retreat — Disasters of the Afghan army — Passage of
the Heri-rood —The remainder of the army arrive at Herat — Ahmed Shah
reaches Kandahar.

IT not baving been our intention to write a history of Persia, we
shall not follow Nadir Shah in his wars with the Turks and other
nationalities under the Persian rule, but proceed at once to speak
of his campaigns in Afghanistan.

After the victory at Shiraz Nadir reconquered in succession all
the Persian provinces which had become detached from the empire.
In the year 1730 he seized upon Herat, that city having revolted
from his authority ; he also took Furrah, a strong and very im-
portant fortress, situated about one hundred and forty miles south
of the first-mentioned place ; but he did not extend his conquests on
that side, and it was only after having obtained several fresh vic-
tories over the Turks, and imprisoned Thamasp, that he placed the
crown of the Seffavyes on his brow. In 1737 he marched on Kan-
dahar at the head of 100,000 men without meeting any resistance on
his road, for the inhabitants submitted to his authority or fled at
his approach. Nevertheless the population of the city, which had
been considerably augmented by the influx of persons whom his
victorious march had driven into it, prepared to resist the Persian
invader.

Mir Hoosein Khan, who was still in command there, reminded
the Ghildjzyes of the struggle they had made for their indepen-
dence, their victories over the Persians, and their conquest of that

.



66 SIEGE OF EANDAHAR, Caar, VI,

country ; and, being cloquent as well as brave, he easily succeeded
in exciting them to make a spirited defence. The position of Kan-
dahar was at this time very strong, the city being situated at the
foot of a rocky mountain which flanked it on the north and east:
innumerable stone towers, connected by curtains, surrounded it, and
followed the sinuosities of the mountain, the summit of which was
occupied by a fort, believed to be impregnable, and commanding
the citadel, placed half way between it and the city. Nadir Shah,
against whom no resistance had as yct been offered, was obliged to
halt before these obstacles, to which art had also added all that
could render the defence effectual. Despairing of being able to
take the city by assault, he established a strict blockade, hoping to
reduce the garrison by famine ; but it was In vain that he enclosed
Kandahar within a double wall, between which his soldiers were
sheltered from attacks both from within and without; a year and
a balf elapsed without his having obtained the least advantage
against the city—however, he was more successful towards the
country, for his detachments brought the whole of the environs
under submission. When, therefore, he was master of the province,
he resolved to carry the place, and ordered a general assault. The
preparations for this had been most formidable, the bravery and devo-
tion of the troops admirable, but, after a furious and desperate
conflict of two days’ duration, Kandahar was not only not taken,
but not one of the advanced works was carried, though several
attacks against them had been made. A feeling of discourage-
ment began to pervade the Persian army, when a newly-raised corps,
of the tribe of the Bakhtyarees, which had already distinguished
itself on several occasions by its firm and courageous bearing, ob-
tained an advantage which raised the hopes of the rest of the troopes,
and induced them to redouble their efforts. Though received with
a storm of bullets, this gallant band had succeeded, by climbing the
almost perpendicular rocks and clinging to their projections, in
reaching a little plateau, from whence they were enabled to carry
several towers on the north side of the mountain. Into these they
managed, simply with ropes and their own strong arms, to raise
some pieces of artillery, which opeming their fire upon all the
other towers, a breach was made, and in six hours the Bakhty-
arees were in possession of them; the town and citadel were
therefore obliged to surrender at discretion. Mir Hoosein Khan
retreated into the fort on the summit of the mountain, where
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he successfully resisted every attack, and might still have made a
protracted defence had it not been for the generosity of Nadir, who
promised to spare his life, and give him high rank in his own army.
This noble offer led to a capitulation, and Mir Hoosein afterwards
became sincerely attached to the Persian invader, and one of his
favourite generals.

Once master of Kandabar, the Persian monarch took measures
to consolidate his power, and, with a view of preventing the in-
habitants from again nffering a similar resistance, which their
bravery, their means of defence, and the strength of the place
might tempt them to do, he dismantled the fortifications, and trans-
ferred the population to a new town which he built during the
blockade at about a gunshot from the old city. But the new one
was scarcely inhabited fifteen years, for immediately Abmed Shah
Suddozye came to the throne he built a third city, about one mile
and a half further east, when the city of Nadir was deserted.

To the conquests of Herat and Kandahar Nadir was not long
in joining that of Kabul, and thus became master of the whole of
Afghanistan. By great political ability, and more especially by
the generous manner in which he treated the people and their
chiefs, he completely secured their good will, and raised a contin-
gent of 16,000 horse in that country. They were recruited
amongst those who could claim descent from the Abdalees and
the Ghildjzyes, twelve thousand being taken from the former
tribe, and four from the latter : the chiefs of these tribes, to the
number of ten, namely, eight Abdalees and two Ghildjzyes, had
the command of these troops, the command in chief being given
to Noor Mohamed Khan Alizye, one of them. This body of men
accompanied Nadir Shah in all his expeditions, and participated
powerfully in the successes and glory of that conqueror. They
rendered him more especially a signal service, and certainly saved
his army from complete destruction, when, on his return from India,
he was engaged with the enemy iu the mountains beyond Peshawur,
and harassed on all sides by the Khyberrees. The Persian con-
queror was in a most critical position on that occasion, and extri-
cated himself only by paying a large sum of money by way of toll
to the mountaineers who closed the defiles against him. In short,
this contingent of the Abdalees and Ghildjzyes showed so much
devotion to Nadir, and rendered him such 1mportant services, that
he at length preferred them to his own troops, which led to great

F 2
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jealousics on the part of the Persians; and when Nadir was assas-
sinated in 1747, they gave vent to their resentment, and attacked
this favoured corps with fury. Being very inferior in numbers,
the Afghans were obliged to consult their own safety by a prompt
retreat, and returned to their country under their own commander
Noor Mohamed Khan, but they immediately took measures to deli-
ver themselves from the Persian yoke, by no means a difficult task,
for, after Nadir’s death, anarchy reigned in every part of the empire.

The serdars who had served in the Persian army were, as we
have already remarked, ten in number. Ahmed Khan Suddozye,
descended in a direct line from Sudoo, who had been ambassador
to Shah Abbas the Great, was the most noble amongst them;
and Hadji Djemal Khan Mohamedzye, lineally descended from
Mohamed, a companion of Sudoo in that embassy, was the most
influential. Experience had clearly demonstrated to all these
chiefs that the divisions amongst themsclves, much more than the
power of their enemies, had, up to that period, brought them under
the subjection of the various invaders of their country ; and they
swore therefore to remain strictly united, and adjourned for one’
month the completion of the code of laws which they had deter-
mined to give to their nation.

After the return of the Afghan contingent to Kandahar, they
remained some days in the enjoyment of those social and family ties
to which they had been for so long a time strangers, and their tur-
bulent spirits took some repose ; but whether from a discontented
feeling towards their chief, or intrigues which led them to rebel
against him, they withdrew the chief command from Noor Mohamed
Khan, giving as a reason that his origin was not sufficiently noble.
After the fall of this personage the principal serdars of the Abdalee
and Ghildjzye tribes assembled in the tomb of Sheik Seurk,
situated in the village of Nadir-abad, now Kichk-nookhood, thirty-
five miles from Kandahar, to decide upon the best method of
organising a regular government in Afghanistan. At this meet-
ing it was agreed that a fusion of their nation with the Persians
was henceforward impossible—that they ought to elect a chief
taken from amongst themsclves, who should be obeyed in all things,
and assisted in giving that unity of purpose to all military opera-
tions, and the civil administration, without which there was no
chance for them to preserve their independence. This proposition
was not agreed to without delay, and more especially without great
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difficulty ; each tribe was anxious to advance the claims of its own
candidate for the throne, and the good understanding between the
chiefs who represented the tribes was far from being impressed with
sentiments of a conciliatory or unselfish character. Akmed Khan
Suddozye, whose family lived at Herat, where he enjoyed great
consideration, was present at eight of these tumultuous assemblies,
and bad listened attentively to all that had been said without offer-
ing one word on the important questions which had been discussed.
The dervish who had the care of the tomb of Sheik Seurk, and
whose opinion was always received with respect, had remarked the
reserved manner of Ahmed Khan, and the holy man, wearied with
the interminable discussions and repetitions which had taken place
during several days at these meetings, advised their breaking up
the conference at once. “ Why all this verbose talk ? ” said he to
the serdars; “God has created Ahmed Khan a much greater man
than any of you; he is of the most noble of all the Afghan families,
Maintain, therefore, God’s work, for his wrath will weigh heavily
upon you if you destroy it.” After having pronounced these words
in a most energetic manner, he took a handful of barley from an
adjoining field, and, having formed it into a wreath, placed it on
the bead of Ahmed Khan, adding, “and may this serve as your
diadem.” Hadji Djemal Khan, the most powerful of the serdars
present at this meeting, and who appeared to have the greatest
number of votes, immediately withdrew his pretensions in favour of
Abhmed Khan, and supported his election with all the weight of
his persuasive eloquence—conduct that obtained for him the general
respect of the Afghans. The serdars, sceing that he who would
certainly have been chosen their sovereign was so disinterested,
followed the example thus given them ; but they separated well
convinced that Ahmed Khan, who had been the most silent of them
all, had also been the .inost clever in not allowing his claim to be
advanced till the last moment, when the diversity of opinions had
wearied the mceting, and, above all, in having these qualifications
brought forward by a third person, which made him appear modest
and disinterested, when they well knew he was neither the one nor
the other.

Ahmed Khan, who took the title of Shah, was crowned in the
mosque at Kandahar towards the close of the year 1747, when
there were great rejoicings, which were prolonged during several
weeks. The ceremony of his.coronation was of the most simple
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kind : the Mollah of the highest rank poured a measure of wheat
on the head of the new monarch, announcing to the assembled
Afghans that he was the chosen of God and the nation. This
emblematical investiture of the regal power is followed at the
present day amongst the Afghan tribes each time that they elect a
chief; the signification which is attached to this ceremonial 1s,
that abundance and prosperity will result from the acts of him
whom they make the depository of power.

The Afghans were still in the midst of their coronation festivals
when there arrived at Kandahar Eaghee Khan Chirazee, chief of
the customs to Nadir Shah in Scinde and the Punjab, having in
his custody two kooroors, 1,300,000!.,, in money, diamonds, and
shawls. This Ahmed Shah seized and immediately distmbuted
amongst the officers and men of his army and the employés of the
government ; and this great liberality on his part did more for his
future career than all his private virtues and his noble origin.
Several tribes who had not as yet positively recognised his election,
but the chiefs of which were on this occasion the recipients of his
generosity, now attached themselves to his person, and he profited
by this feeling of unanimity to consolidate his power, and during
the first years of his reign to raise a large army, with which he
subsequently marched on Kabul with a view to its capture. This
was not so easy as an offensive operation, for Nadir Shah had
gettled twelve thousand Persian families in the Bala Hissar, the
citadel of that capital ; but Ahmed Shah having, through his parti-
zans, entered into a sccret understanding with them, they made
common cause with the Afghans on their arrival, under a promise
that their chiefs should participate in the official appointments and
advantages in the gift of the sovereign, and be treated in all things
on a footing of equality.*

In spite of this defection, Nasser Khan, the governor of Kabul,
obstinately refused to recognise the authority of Ahmed Shah, and
did everything in his power to recruit the garrison amongst the

* The Persians inhabiting Kabu] are them from the others, gave them a
known by the name of Kuzzilbashes, kind of red cap; hence their name of
because they form part of one or more ‘* Red head,” Kezzel bash, These
of the saven Turkish tribes that em- Beven tribes were Oustadjaloo, Chamloo,
braced the party of the Shah Ismail, Nikaloo, Baharloo, Zoolkadder, Kadjar,
the founder of the tribe of the Seffa- and Afchar. — Ferrier.
vyes., This sovereign, to distinguish
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H1azarahs and Usbeks, but all in vain ; and despairing at length of
being able to make head against the Afghans, he fled, after a feeble
conflict, to Peshawur. Ahmed Shah then took posseseion of Kabul
without meeting with the slightest opposition ; appointed as governor
of the province a clever man devoted to his person and interests ;
and left the city in pursuit of Nasser Khan, who, abandoned by the
greater part of his followers and seeing clearly that a longer
resistance could only end fatally for himself, surrendered Peshawur
to the Afghans and submitted to their king.

Ahmed Shah was aware that war was a necessity to the people
over whom he reigned ; their turbulent nature, and the rivalry which
existed between the various tribes, would certainly have led to grave
disorders against the prosperity of the state and been dangerous to
his rising power, if they had remained inactive. Besides, the king-
dom of the Afghans was to be constituted, the limits and boundary
of which had not up to this time been defined by any one. Ahmed
Shah resolved to extend these limits wherever an Afghan tribe was
to be found, and, in order to carry his views into effect, he remained
no longer at Peshawur than was necessary to subdue and organize
the tribes which inhabited the mountainous districts of that province ;
and when he was convinced that there was nothing more to appre-
hend from their opposition, he crossed the Indus and marched
against Lahore.

Hayat Ullah Khan, son of Zekeria Khan, konoured by Nadir
Shah with the surname of Shah Nawaz Khan, who had succeeded
his father in the government of this city, hearing the intentions of
Ahmed Shah, assembled an army and took up a position at a little
distance north of Iahore. He also wrote a lefter to the Great
Mogul at Delhi, Ahmed Shah Gourkanee,* informing him of the
advance of Ahmed Shah Suddozye; the capture he had recently
made of Kabul and Peshawur ; of his projects on Lahore, and those
which he presumed he might bave on India; and for these reasons
claimed his assistance. The Mogul Emperor conceded all that he
desired, and placed himself at the head of the troops destined to
co-operate with Hayat Ullah. Immediatcly the Lahore chieftain felt
certain of this he did not wait for their arrival, for, thinking that
Ahmed Shah Suddozye, when he saw him so well supported, would

* (ourkanee is the pname of the tribe to which Tamerlane belonged, also
Mirza Baboor and his deecendants.— Ferrier,
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not dare to tempt fortune against him, he made a bold demonstra-
tion in the hope of arresting his march, and moved his camp to the
left bank of the Tchenab. The Afghans, however, neither halted
nor delayed their onward movement as he had expected, and soon
arrived in his front; but as the river was considerably swollen,
the two armies were obliged to wait till it had fallen before they
could attack. The impatience of the Afghan monarch in particular
was great, for he was anxious to engage his adversary before the
Moguls, of whose expected arrival he was aware, had joined, but
the want of pontoons obliged him to remain passive during several
days. Directly his cavalry could attempt the passage of the nver
with any security he put the whole of that arm in motion at mid-
night and in profound silence, and crossed at a spot a few parasangs
above the enemy’s encampment. Ahmed Shah had conceived the
idea of marching straight to Lahore, carrying the place by a coup-
de-main, and baffling the vigilance of his opponent by leaving his
infantry behind him on the right bank and in sigit of the enemy.
ITis anticipations were well founded, for the army of Shah Nawaz
Khan, thinking they had still before them the whole of the Afghan
forces, slept in fancied sccurity. On the following day, however, the
Governor of the Punjab learnt that Ahmed Shah was marching on
the capital with his cavalry. Leaving therefore his infantry face to
face with that of his oppounent, he hastened in pursuit of their horse
with his own, and came up with them on the following day half-way
between the Tchenab and the city ; but baving reconnoitred and
found the enemy much superior in numbers, he did not dare to
attack, and filed along his flank, protected by a chain of hills, south
of which he expected to fall in with Gourkanee, who was marching
to his assistance.

The Afghan King saw clearly the movement of his adversary
and divined his object, and, a fresh project having suddenly sug-
gested itself to his mind, he permitted Shah Nawaz to make this retro-
grade movement without offering any opposition to it ; but when he
supposed him to be at a good distance Ahmed returned by the road
by which he had advanced, and fcll upon the Sikh infantry on the
left of the Tchenab, routed them completely, captured their artillery
and a considerable booty. He then passed his own infantry over
to the right bank of the river, and moved rapidly on Lahore, which
he seized without difficulty.

Shah Nawaz Khan, ashamed of a flight which must be explained
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to his ally by some reason or another, attempted to justify it by
exalting to the highest degree the numbers, courage, and clever-
ness of the Afghans; this imprudent speech brought discouragement
into the Mogul ranks, and their inclinations, which up to that period
had been unanimous in favour of fighting, were transformed into an
ardent desire for peace. )

After having fortified Lahore and confided it to the care of a
picked garrison, Ahmed Shah Suddozye marched to meet Ahmed
Shah Gourkanee, but he had scarcely traversed half the distance
which separated him from the Mogul Emperor, when he was met
by his envoy, who was the bearer of pacific proposals from his
master. After long hesitation Ahmed Shah Suddozye decided for
peace, for the chances of the war in which he was engaged were
great ; his power was as yet in the bud; he was also not without
uneasiness as to his rear, and even regardmg the state of his own
country ; he thought therefore that it would be imprudent on his
part to risk his fortune on the uncertain issucs of a battle, and
therefore agreed that all the provinces in the Punjab which had
been under the rule of Nadir Shah should remain in the hands
of the Afghans, and should form the dower of a Mogul prin-
cess, who was some little time afterwards married to the prince
Timoor Mirza II., son of Ahmed Shah Suddozye. All the
countries situated beyond the Sutlej on the left bank of the
Indus remained in the hands of the Moguls, and the rivers
before mentioned were to form the line of demarcation between
the two empires. A treaty based upon this convention was
gigned by the two parties in 1750; and the Suddozye prince,
after having nominated governors in his new conquests, returned
to Kandahar, where several Afghan serdars, jealous of the power
of their sovereign and of the glory which he had recently acquired,
secretly endeavoured to excite the masses against im. No sooner,
therefore, had he arrived in his capital than they resolved to
assassinate him, but the king, informed of this conspiracy a few
moments only before the time at which they had fixed to carry it out,
frustrated it entirely by his firmness and presence of mind. The leader
in this plot was the same Noor Mohamed Khan, Alizye, who was
removed from the command of the army when the Afghans returned
from Persia, and upon whom Ahmed Shah had conferred the title
of Mir or Prince of the Afghans; his accomplices were Meuheubet
Khan, Kedoo Khan, and several other Afghans of less note, who
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with him perished by the hands of the executioner, as well as ten
men from each of the tribes most deeply compromised. These
executions were the first which had taken place by order of Ahmed
Shah, and many of the chiefs, being apprehensive that he might on
some other occasion adopt the same severe measures against them-
selves, disputed his right to inflict the punishment of death. After
the executions were over they agitated the question whether or not
the lex talionis should be applied to the Shah and his family ; they
also wished to limit his power, or rather to subject it to their
approbation ; but Abhmed Shah suppressed with encrgy this feeling
on the part of the chiefs, and his determination and justice soon
produced tranquillity in the countries subject to his dominion.

Reassured by this favourable result, he meditated the conquest
of Khorassan, a project which he had conceived immediately he
ascended the throne. At that period Shah Rokh, grandson of
Nadir Sbah, reigned in this province, where he had with difficulty
established himself after great opposition on the part of the chiefs.
His principal antagonist was Moomeen Khan, governor of Tchina-
ran, who had even succeeded in taking possession of Meshed,
and induced the army to proclaim him Shah of Persia; but after
having exercised the sovereign power for a few days only, he gave
umbrage to the troops, who mutinied and put him to death. This
event enabled Shah Rokh to reassume his rghts; his satisfaction,
however, was not without alloy, for several other chiefs who had
the same object in view as Moomeen Khan spread anarchy and
confusion in all parts of Khorassan. Ahmed Shah thought, there-
fore, that this was a most propitious opportunity for his purpose ;
and in 1750 he marched into that province with an army of 70,000
men. Herat was then governed by the Arab Serdar Emir Khan,
an old commander-in-chief of artillery under Nadir Shah, who held
the city in the name of Shah Rokh Mirza ; this chief, feeling that
be was not strong emough to meet the Afghans in the field, placed
the citadel in a good state of defence, and with a garrison of picked
men retired within its walls. To the townspeople who were ready
to defend the city he ordered that money, provisions, and arms
should be distributed, and despatched a messenger to Shah Rokh
Mirza requesting his prompt assistance.

The inbabitants of Herat now sustained a siege for fourteen
months in the most heroic manner, trusting always that this assist-
ance, twenty times demanded, and as often promised by the prince,
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would at length reach them ; finding themselves, however, deceived
in their hopes, and being reduced to the greatest distress, they sur-
rendered at discretion and opened the gates.

Emir Khan, who, from the citadel, witnessed the fall of the mt}',
determined to make one last effort in 1ts defence, and descended
mto the suburbs with his little band ; but being assailed in front
by the Afghans and in the rear by some Heratees who were of
their party, his soldiers were soon exterminated, and the Emir
hacked to pieces on the spot. Fifty men whom he left in the
citadel were the only troops that surrendered to the Afghaus, and
their lives were spared.

Shah Rokh Mirza had been prevented from going to the relief
of Emir Khan by circumstances which he could not control, for he
was hardly able to maintain his own ground in Meshed, the pos-
session of which was disputed by a score of competitors. The
general-in-chief, Yoosoof Khan, had at the outset beaten them all,
but this chief, as brave as he was faithful, fell in a combat which
took place between his troops and those of two princes of Khorassan.
One of them, by name Mir Alem, belonged to an Arab tribe of
the Seistan; the otber, Djaffer Khan, was chief of the Kurdish
colonies of Boodjnoord. These Khans, after the death of the
brave Yoosoof Khan, seized Meshed and imprisoned Shah Rokh;
but when the moment arrived for dividing the authority and the
plunder they could not agree, and, assisted by their respective parti-
sans, came to blows. In this conflict Mir Alem proved the victor, and
remained sole master of the city. After having obtained this ad-
vantage he made every preparation to resist Ahmed Shah Suddozye,
repaired the fortifications, provisioned the place, and after having
confided its defence to the inhabitants, whom he believed he could
trust, he left Meshed, determined if possible to pounce upon Herat.
In this attempt he was disappointed, for, on arriving at Toorbut-
Sheik-Jam, he was himself surprised by the prince Timoor Mirza,
who, with the advanced guard of the Afghan army, was marching
on Meshed. Recovering from the first feeling of astonishment at
this untoward incident, Mir Alem attacked his adversary with the
greatest intrepidity and made him give ground; but a charge of
3000 Belooch cavalry commanded by Nasser Khan, chief of Kelat
in Beloochistan, carried disorder into the Emir’s ranks, and his army
was cut to pieces. Mir Alem immediately gave up all idea of
keeping Meshed, and retired i the direction of Ghain to his tribe,
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Nasser Ullah Khan, the son of Shah Rokh, who was in the field
with a small party of horse when he heard this good news, entered
Meshed, delivered his father, and placed him at the head of affairs.
Anxious to terminate the object of his expedition, Ahmed Shah
now appointed Dervish Ali Khan, Hazarah, to the government of
Herat, and, rejoining his advanced-guard with the rest of his troops,
a few days afterwards arrived under the walls of Meshed, which he
invested on all sides, and vigorously besieged. His attacks were,
however, repulsed with energy, and he suffered during several
months considerable losses that were not compensated by any cor-
responding success. In spite of the vigilance aud the discipline
which Ahmed Shah maintained, a night rarely passed without his
being surprised by Nadir Mirza or Nasser Ullah Khan, who, at
the head of a few select horsemen, came down upon the Afghan camp
when they were least expected, and did not retire until they had
placed a good number of their adversaries hors de combat. Asiatic
armies have no conception how to protect themselves from night
attacks by placing main guards, pickets, or videttes; so that Ahmed
Shah’s forces were always surprised by these onsets, which, being
cleverly conducted, annoyed them much. Mamech Khan Zafe-
ranloo, governor of Tchinaran, who had attached himself to the
fortunes of the grandson of Nadir, gave him also very useful
support ; he supplied the town with provisions, his cavalry made
daily attacks upon the rear of the Afghans or pillaged and laid
waste the environs of the city and their camp. Although the besieg-
ing army amounted to an effective force of 60,000 men, they were
never able to overpower, or even seriously to check, this handful of
cavalry, who dealt such heavy blows and numbered not more than
a thousand men. Matters remained in this state during four
months, after which Ahmed Shah, who had not expected to meet
with so obstinate a resistance, finished by listening to the proposi-
tions that were made with a view to an amicable arrangement, and
consented to raise the siege of Meshed on condition that his son
Sindjar Mirza, who had remained a prisoner with the Persians
after the death of Nadir Shah. should be restored to him. Several
of Ahmed Shah’s relations, whom Emir Khan had carried away from
Herat where his family resided, were also to be given up, and on
the receipt of a large sum of money the Afghan king agreed to

retire from before the place.
These conditions having been duly fulfilled, Ahmed Shah, with-
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out troubling himself about his rear, proceeded at once to lay siege
to the fortified city of Nishapoor, situated in a plain exceedingly
fertile, where his army could easily find subsistence. This town
was then governed by two persons of equal authority—one,
Abbas Kooli Khan, of the tribe of Beyat, which numbered 10,000
families, residing around Nishapoor, and on which he relied for
support ; the other, Hadji Seif Eddin, a native of the city; and
both determined to offer a stout resistance. Ahmed Shah was .
satisfied by simply investing the place, deferring the siege to a later
period, when, according to a promise made him by the latter, he
hoped to be able to obtain possession of the city. For himself,
said this personage in his letter to the Afghan monarch, he laid
down his arms the very day of Ahmed Shah’s arrival; but he
added that it would require some time before he could overcome
the obstinacy of Abbas Kooli Khan, who had decided upon fight-
ing. In thus acting the cunning Hadji was only desirous of gaining
time, and the Afghan sovereign was his dupe, for he negotiated
and temporised so long, that the winter set in before he had
opened his trenches; the snow fell heavily, the army were soon
in want of provisions, and cold and hunger cruelly decimated the
troops. At length the severity of the season was such that the
beasts of burden perished, and the Afghans were compelled to
abandon their tents, baggage, ammunition, and artillery. After
having destroyed the former and spiked the guns, they threw them
into the kariz, or subterrancan aqueducts, communicating with the
surface by shafts, and then retreated, leaving a long line of corpses
and baggage-animals on their track. Another division of their
army, which had been detached against Ali Murad Khan, the
chief of Tubbus, was also nearly exterminated ; those who escaped
the sword succumbed in their flicht to the severity of the weather;
and such was the intensity of the cold that at the halt made at
Kiaffer Kaleh 18,000 of Ahmed’s soldiers died in one night, and
on the following day very nearly the same number perighed in
attempting the passage of the Heri-rood, near the town of Kussan.
The river was frozen, but it gave way under the crowd of fugitives,
who were swallowed up in the icy waters ; those who had retreated
by other roads were scarcely more fortunate. The Serdar Djummeh
Khan, who held a command in this expedition, left a short sketch
of it, and one of the incidents that he relates is worthy of mention,
as it appears to us unique in history. He assures us that, in order
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to preserve himself from the excessive cold, and therefore from
death, which was the certain consequence, only one way suggested
itself, which he adopted; this was, to disembowel some of his
camels, in the inside of which, enveloped in a blanket, he each night
took up his quarters, and in this way he passed from one to an-
other as they got cold, killing seventeen between sunset and sunrise.
The disasters of this retreat continued until the wretched remnants
of the Afghan force reached Herat, at which time all that remained
of Ahmed Shah’s brilliant array of troops were a few miserable
beings more resembling ekeletons than soldiers. A few days after
his arrival in the city, Abmed Shah perceived that the governor,
Dervish Ali Khan, profiting by his distressed position, was in-
triguing to seize his person and raise himself to power upon lhis
master’s ruin ; but Ahmed, anticipating his intention, ordered him
to be arrested and thrown into prison, appointing his son Timoor
Mirza governor in his stead ; he then left for Kandahar, with a view
of recruiting his army.
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CHAPTER VIL

Second siege of Nishapoor by the Afghans — Clemency of the victor — He invests
Meahed — Battle of Kakhak — Death of Ali Murad — Capture of Toon and
Tubbus — An ambuscade — Treaty with Shah Rokh — Ahmed Shah retiree to
Herat — Campaign against the Usbeks—Beghee Khan seizes Balk, Ehulm, &c,—
Assad Ehan Ghildjzye— His soccesses in Persia — Defeat of Kerym Khan —
Assad Khan is attacked in the mountains — Last attempt of the Afghans to
annex Persia — Nasser Khan, Belooch, revolts — The combats of Pringues and
Mestook — Siege of Kelat — Favourable terms made by Nasser Ehan — Ahmed
Shah proceede to India — Insurrection of the Mahrattas — Ahmed Shah Gour-
kanee deposed — Asmsassination of Alemguir — Ghazi Khan seizes the throne of
the Moguls — Ahmed Shah, Suddozye, reachea Lahore — Marchea on Delhi—
Bhooja ed Dooulet — Passage of the Bar — Desertinn of Delaver Khan and Zal
Beg —Shah Alem cedes his rights to the English — Revolt in Kandahar —
Abdul Khalek Khan — Abdullah Khan suppresses the insurrection — Abmed
Shah marches on Peshawur— Arrivee at Kandahar — Zal Beg is executed —
Delaver Ehan flies to Herat — Timoor Mirza is made viceroy — Ahmed Shah's
reasons for this — Death of Ahmed Shah — Yaghoot EKhan — The Berdars
declare for Suleiman Mirza — Character of Ahmed Shah.

In the following year, namely, in 1751, having completely
repaired his disasters, Ahmed made a second inroad upon Kho-
rassan. Every cavalry soldier carried with him two battements* of
iron for casting shot, which were placed in store directly he arrived
with his army under the walls of Nishapoor. The siege of this
city was now pressed with great energy; the Afghan monarch
cast a gun upon the spot, which threw a projectile weighing
472 1bs. English, and one month was employed in casting, boring,
and placing this monster gun on its carriage. When fired it
produced a most terrible effect, the walls and houses being pierced
tbrough and through, but it burst the very first time it was
uwsed. The citizens of Nishapoor, ignorant of that fact, were
so terrified by the destruction which this smgle bullet occasioned,
that they despatched several of their chiefs to Ahmed Shah to
inform him that they surrendered at discretion. Abbas Kooli
Khan, who held the citadel, refused however to acknowledge this
surrender, and attacked the Afghans at the moment they were on
the point of entering the city ; but he was repulsed in an instant,
and reduced to the alternative of soliciting 1n person the clemency

* A battement of Herst is equal to 61ba. English,— Ferrier,
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of the conqueror. Ahmed Shah detained him as a prisoner in his
camp, and he subsequently accompanied him to Kabul: the Afghan
conqueror, having perceived in this chief very considerable talents,
and a frankness of disposition in which he thought he could confide,
gave him his sister in marriage; he also bestowed one of his
daughters on Abbas Kooli’s son, after which he sent him back to
Nishapoor, as governor of that city. Having thus satisfactorily
established his power there, Ahmed Shah, thinking he had cause of
complaint against Shah Rokh Mirza and his sons, who had been
hostile to him in his second campaign in Khorassan, again laid
siege to Meshed. Contemporaneously with this movement he
detached a corps of cavalry under the orders of the Serdars Jehan
Khan and Nasser Khan of Kelat, to subdue the districts of Toon
and Tubbus, and take revenge for the defeat which the Afghans
had sustained during the preceding year at the hands of Al
Murad Khan. These Serdars commenced operations by devas-
tating the country, after which they marched against the governor
of Tubbus, whom they met at Kakhak, a small village situated
near Gourmabad, and there fought one of the most obstinate and
bloody battles that is to be found in the annals of Persian history ;
such was the tenacity and fury of the combatants, that, when
ammunition failed on both sides, they dismounted from their
horses, and, drawing their sabres, did not cease to strike till the
death of Ali Murad, who arrived at the close of the conflict:
this determined the issue of the battle, and the remainder of his
men, for the most part of Arab tribes, took to flight. Much of the
credit of this victory was more especially due to the bravery of
Nasser Khan and his Beloochees, who behaved like heroes.

After this the Afghans took possession of Toon and Tubbus,
and committed every kind of excess upon the inhabitants of those
towns : fire and sword did their work, and to these were added viola-
tion, murder, pillage, and devastation; in which having indulged
sufficiently, they again joined the royal camp, carrying with them
a considerable booty. While the serdars of Abmed Shah were
obtaining these successes, that sovereign pressed on the siege of
Meshed with vigour, but he had, up to this period, been scarcely
more fortunate than in the preceding year. The inhabitants,
‘animated by religious fanaticism, defended themselves with intre-
pidity, and the Afghans suffered heavy losses in their encounters
with the enemy ; their resources also diminished daily, and provi-
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sions became very scarce, which obliged Ahmed to detach 2000
of his civ.l y in the direction of Subzawar and Shah Rood Bostam,
to procure supplies. In this enterprise they perfectly succeeded,
and were returning to camp with 2500 beasts of burden laden with
plunder, which had greatly encumbered and delayed them, when
on reaching the halt of Abbasabad the foragers fell into an ambus-
cade, in which were posted 1500 Kadjar horse from the environs
of Asterabad, who fell upon and completely routed them. A great
number of Afghans were killed or made prisoners in this affair;
the plunder fell into the hands of the Kadjars, and the survivors,
numbering scarcely a thousand, regained the Afghan camp.

Ahmed Shah, seeing that his efforts to take Meshed would prove
effectual, and fearing that the winter, which was now approach-
ing, might cause a repetition of the disasters of the preceding one,
accepted the terms offered him by Shah Rokh Mirza. These were,
that Ahmed should leave himr in quiet possession of Khorassan and
support him against the ambitious chiefs of the province, on con-
dition that Shah Rokh should acknowledge his suzerainty, that
money should be coined in his name, firmans and other official
documents bear his seal, and the districts of Toorbut Sheikh
Jam, Bakharz, Toorbut-hai-darieh, and Khaff, be made over to
him. A treaty, drawn up on this basis, was signed by the two
contracting parties, after which Ahmed Shah, thinking that the
power which he had thus consolidated was a sufficient guarantee
against the ambitious projects of Asad Khan, an Afghan chief,
of whom we shall have occasion to speak hereafter, returned
to Herat, where he occupied himself in carrying out numerous
reforms in the army and administration. It was from hence
that he sent Beghee Khan, one of his viziers, with an army to
subdue the countries beyond the Osxus, inbabited by Uzbeks,
Hazarahs, and a few Afghan families, who had not yet acknow-
ledged his dominion. After having engaged in several combats,
but not very serious ores, Beghee Khan seized upon Meimana,
Andekhooye, Akhcheh, Shibbergan, Serpeul, Balkh, Khulm,
Badakshan, and Bamian: he organized the various districts he
had conquered ; and baving appointed governors, with whom he
left troops to keep the inhabitantsin awe, he returned to Kandahar,
where Ahmed Shah had previously arrived, and this sovereign,
to recompense Beghee Khan for the services he had rendered
him, added to his title of vizier that of Sedre-azem,

G
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It has been mentioned that in isolating Khorasan from Persia,
and placing the former under the authority of Shah Rokh Mirza,
his vassal, Ahmed Shah acted with a view of protecting himself
against the projects of Assad Khan, an Afghan Serdar, of the tribe
of the Ghildjzyes. After the death of Nadir this Serdar had been
fortunate enough to maintain his authority in the Azerbaidjan, of
which province he was governor. He was a man of great firmness,
brave, and more enlightened than are ordinarily the individuals of
his nation ; and his justice, his equitable views, and the partiality
which he manifested in favour of the sect of Shiabs, drew around
him a great number of partisans. Seeing his power and popularity
thus increased, he declared openly his pretensions to the possession
of Irak, Khorassan, and even proposed to push on to Afghanistan,
and dethrone Ahmed Shah, whom he considered as an usurper, for
in hig opirion the throne belonged by right to a chief of the tribe
of Ghildjzyes; but he was arrested in his march eastward, and
recalled to Irak, by serious events that occurred in 1753. Kerym
Khan, of the tribe of the Zends, after having made his authority
acknowledged in Fars and the other southern provinces of Persia,
took advantage of the hatred which their populations felt for
everything that bore the name of Afghan, to raise a large army,
and with this he marched against Assad Khan, with the view of
forcing him beyond the Persian border. This chief, who had
already advanced as far as Damghan, retraced his steps, met his
antagonist at Kasbeen, attacked him immediately, and with such
effect, that Kerym Khan was completely beaten, and so hotly
pursued, that he was obliged to abandon Ispahan and Shiraz,
without being able to offer even the slightest resistance. He
subsequently retired to the mountains in the south of Persia, to
ehelter himself from further pursuit; and discouraged by the
- reverse he had just experienced, was on the point of seeking refuge
in India to enjoy the repose he so ardently desired, when he was
dissuaded from taking this step by Roostem Sultan, the chief of the
district of Khecht. This chieftain informed Kerym Khan that
Assad Khan had committed the imprudence of entangling himself
in the defiles which led to his place of retreat; that this ill-judged
movement would infallibly lead to his destruction, because the
country people, who were on the side of the Zend chief* and

* Of the army of Ausad Khan one-third were Afghans, and the other two Qeor-
gians, Kurds, and Turks of Agerbaidjan, — Ferrior,
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detested the Afghans, were acquainted with all the advantages
and difficulties of the ground, and, profiting by such knowledge,
would make the narrow gorges and defiles through which the latter
were marching a last resting-place for his enemies.

Convinced by this reasoning, Kerym Khan decided upon renew-
ing hostilities, and placed his troops under the orders of Roostem
Sultan, giving him full power to act as he thought fit; accord-
ingly this chieftain halted for Assad Khan at the defile of Kooma,
~ which extends about a mile and a half along the summit of a high
mountain, and through this the Afghans could only advance in single
file. The Persians placed themselves behind the fragments of
rocks which lay scattered along the pass, and waited till the enemy
occupied it from one extremity to the other before they attacked,
when, with a perfect unity of action and inconceivable energy,
they fell upon the whole line. Every shot from the long match-
locks of these expert marksmen carried death into the Afghan
ranks, while their bullets fell harmlessly against the rocks, behind
which their adversaries had ensconced themselves. All those who
could escape from this hornet’s nest endeavoured to make good
their retreat and regain the plain, but here they found fresh
opponents, who had turned the position and attacked them with
fury. It was in vain that Assad Khan tried to rally his troope
and renew the fight ; his efforts were unavailing, and he was obliged
once more to retire. A few days after, while continuing this re-
trograde movement, he was overtaken by Mohamed Hoosein Khan,
Kadjar, another aspirant to the Persian throne, when the remainder
of his army was destroyed, and Assad Khan only escaped with his
life by secking refuge in Bagdad. Not meeting here with the sup-
port he expected, he passed on to Georgia, where the Prince Hera-
clius gave him no better reception; and worn out and dispirited
by his many disappointments and personal sufferings, and being .
without a hope of success, he finished by making bis submission
to Kerym Khan, who gave him high rank at his court and
treated him with every consideration. Assad Khan remained to
the end faithfully attached to Kerym Khan, and this was the last
attempt made by the Afghans to seize the throne of Persia.
Abmed Shah experienced some disquietude in seeing Assad Khan
thus submit to the Persian monarch, but Kerym Khan, having
plenty to do in maintaining the tranquillity of his own kingdom,
never again made the slightest hostile attempt to annex Afghan-

G 2
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istan to Persia : it was however believed at Kandahar that he was
no stranger to the revolt of Nasser Khan, chief of Kelat and
Beloochistan, of which we shall have occasion to speak.
Subsequently to his return from Khorassan Ahmed Shah had
been under the necessity of proceeding three times to India, as
well to establish his authority in the Punjab, where great agita-
tion, fomented by the Mahrattas, was almost permanent, as to
curb the turbulent spirit of that people, who were not less un-
manageable than the Afghans. Nasser Khan had taken part in
all these expeditions, and distinguished himself in each of them :
he had recognised the suzerainty of Ahmed Shah from the time he
ascended the throne, and had always been well treated and gener-
ously recompensed by that sovereign ; but nevertheless the Belooch
chief revolted against him and proclaimed his own independence in
1758. Ahmed Shah exhausted every means of conciliation
towards Nasser Khan, whom he esteemed, without being able to
bring him back to his allegiance, and at length sent a division .
of his army against him, but the chief, who had been for some
time prepared for this crisis, was not intimidated, and directly
he was informed of the arrival of Ahmed’s troops he marched to
meet them. A battle was fought near the village of Pringuez,
situated about seventy miles from Kelat, in which the Afghans
were completely beaten, and obliged to retire to a distance of thirty
miles from thence. The Serdar in command immediately despatched
a messenger to the king to demand reinforcements, and Ahmed, fear-
ful lest such a check, though of little consequence in itself, shoul
acquire importance from the exaggerated manner in which the
circumstances might be detailed to the tribes recently subdued,
put himself at the head of this second division, and hastened to
the support of his discomfited troops. Nasser Khan, assailed by him
near the camp of Mestook, situatcd three miles and a half from
Pringuez, was defcated, and obliged to retire in all haste to Kelat :
this town he had previously placed in a good state of defence, and
within its walls he now took refuge. Ahmed Shah followed him
close and invested the place; the position of the citadel on an
eminence was exceedingly strong, and this circumstance, and the
want of unanimity that existed amongst the Afghan serdars, were
the causes that led to a protracted siege, and eventually to no
advantageous result. It was in vain that assaults were made on
five different occasions ; they all failed, because the various chiefs
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would not, and did not, support each other ; and at length the Shah,
perceiving he could gain nothing by prolouging the conflict, con-
sented to a treaty which replaced Nasser Khan under his suze-
rainty, and obliged him to furnish a contingent of troops on every
occasion that the Afghan monarch made war beyond the boundaries
of his kingdom. In this case the chief of Kelat was to receive a
sum of money and munitions of war every time he took the field.
Nasser Khan also stipulated that he should not be compelled to
furnish such contingent for the sake of supporting this or that
Suddozye chief, or their successors of that or any other tribe, or
be obliged to take part in the internal quarrels that might arise
amongst the Afghans themselves. This was the only condition
- bearing the charactor of vassalage imposed upon the Belooch chief,
.who was now exempted from the tribute which he had previously
paid to Ahmed Shah ; and in order to make the treaty more binding
the king married a cousin of Nasser Khan’s, after which he returned
to Kandahar, and he was shortly obliged to leave for India to
put down the troubles which had again broken out owing to the
intrigues of the Mahrattas. This people incited the population to
revolt, and seized the country, which was the appanage of the Mogul
Princess, the wife of Timoor Mirza. .

“ The Mahrattas,” remarks Sir John Malcolm, “ became formid-
able in the reign of Shah Jehan, and during thirty years that
Arungzebe passed in the southern provinces of his empire his chief
occupation was to subdue the Mahrattas; but this he found impos-
sible, for they never awaited his attack. The country was laid
waste and his troops continually harassed by men who, from the
lightness of their frames, were no burden to their horses, and who,
from habits of hardihood and abstemiousness, required little either
for shelter or support. It seemed in vain te war with a foe who
was intangible, and whose glory lay in the rapidity of his retreat ;
for the Mahratta soldier, though brave, boasts more of his power to
elude than to attack his enemy. When the empire of India fell to
pieces at the death of Arungzebe, and Mahomedan princes and
nobles were all ranged against each other, the Mahrattas, by con-
tinuing united, made a rapid and surprising progress. Besides the
great possessions which they actually occupied, they had compelled
not only the paramount sovereign of India, but almost every ruler
of a province, to pay them a considerable part of their annual col-
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lections,® that their habitations and fields might remain in safety.
At the period when Nadir threatened invasion, the city of Delhi
itself was subject to this disgraceful tribute.” +

The disgraceful tribute of which Sir John Malcolm here speaks
was agreed to by the Indian princes at the period when Ahmed
Shab marched against the confederation of the Mahrattas, and the
latter used all the influence they possessed in the various princi-
palities of India to force those princes to send their contingent of
troops to take part in the war in which they were about to engage
against the Afghans.

Ahmed Shah Gourkanee, the sovercign of Delhi, had been de-
posed in 1753 by his vizier Ghazee Khan, and that functionary
placed his nephew Alemguir on the throne in his stead. This
prince, utterly destitute of ability, was assassinated by (Ghazee in
1760, when the usurper seized upon the sovereign power himself;
and Ahmed Shah, Suddozye, heard of this event a few days before
he arrived at Mooitan, as well as of the junction of the Mogul troops
with those of the Mahrattas.

The various populations of India had been in an unsettled state
ever since Nadir Shah seized upon Delhi; but at the death of
Shah Mahmood, emperor of the Moguls, anarchy was rampant.
The princes of India, tributaries of the Mahrattas, ardently desired
to deliver themselves from the yoke imposed upon them by this
confederation of plunderers, and Ahmed Shah, Suddozye, sent secret
emissaries to their courts in order to work upon and strengthen this
feeling. With a view of giving them time to do this he advanced but
slowly, and occupied himself in organising the territory which he
had recently conquered in Scinde and Mooltan. He then entered
the Punjab, which the Mahrattas evacuated at his approach without
fighting, so that he arrived at Lahore unopposed, and there he
encamped. The Indian princes obeyed the injunctions of the Mah-
rattas, and, in spite of the intrigues of Ahmed Shah, sent their
several contingents, which, when united, formed an army of 200,000
men, of which 70,000 were cavalry, supported by twenty pieces of
artillery of large calibre and 200 zimbooreks.

Ahmed did not take the field until the whole of this formidable

* This was levied under the various $ Sier Musakhereen,
names of Choute, Desmokee, &c.



Caap, VII. BATTLE OF PANIPUT. 87

army was assembled in the environs of Delhi. He then advanced
to meet 1t, and came up with the enemy on the banks of the river
Bar; but in consequence of the depth of that stream and the want
of pontoons, he was obliged to wait a few days until the water had
subsided. This was all the more disadvantageous to him, inasmuch
as he could only obtain provisions for his troops on the side occupied
by the enemy ; and as the Mahrattas were vigilant in watching the
fords which they fortified, the Afghans soon felt the effects of
a scarcity in their camp; some of them murmured loudly, and
others prepared to desert, when a fortunate occurrence, the result
of the clever policy of their sovereign, took place, which, producing
abundance at once, revived their hopes. Shooja-ed-Dooulet, the
Prince of Lucknow, had submitted to the Mahrattas only because he
could not avoid it, and, suddenly leaving them, proceeded to the
Afghan camp, followed by several other Indian rajahs and 25,000
men, which made the effective force of Ahmed Shah’s army 85,000
men—45,000 being cavalry and the remainder infantry—with seven-
teen pieces of cannon and eighty zimbooreks There were about
10,000 non-combatants in the Afghan army, whereas in that of
the Mahratta confederacy one-third might be set down as belonging
to that class, such, for instance, as servants, sutlers, drivers in charge
of oxen, ponies, camels, &c., and thus not more than from 100,000
to 110,000 troops could be brought into position.
Shooja-ed-Dooulet, having provisioned the Afghan army, and
overcome the hesitation of the Serdars, who considered the passage of
the river as a thing impossible, it was resolved to give battle. On
the 7th of January, 1761, therefore, Ahmed Shah, Suddozye, ordered
the Serdar Samut Khan, Yoosoofzye, to cross the river with 5000 ca-
valry and attack the Moguls—which order he promptly obeyed ; but
the greater portion of his horsemen were carried away by the rapidity
of the current, and the fire of the enemy’s artillery made such havoc
amongst them, that the survivors remained in a state of indecision.
Ahmed Shah, perceiving this corps required support, sent two others
to its assistance ; but the Serdars Delaver Khan, Isakzye, and Zal
Beg, Popolzye, who commanded thém, and who were at variance
with Samut Khan, did not heartily execute the order they had re-
ceived, and allowed Samut’s troops to be cut up. The king saw the
state of affaire at a glance, and, alive to the least thing that might
compromise him as to the issue of the conflict, mounted his horse
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and plunged into the river, followed only by his guards. The Serdars
commanding the divisions which had remained immovable were
now obliged to advance, for the troops were ashamed to see their
sovereign braving death while they remained passive spectators
of the combat. The Mahrattas redoubled the fire of their artillery
to repulse this attack, and this was so terrible that the surface of the
river was covered by the corpses of men and the carcases of horses,
and its waters became crimsoned with their life-blood. But the
Afghans gained at length, though with heavy loss, the opposite
shore, and with hearts burning for revenge fell upon the enemy,
whom they finally put to the rout ; 20,000 of them remained on the
field of battle, also their artillery and baggage, and the victors
obtained a rich booty. This memorable and bloody battle was
fought on the plains of Paniput, a few parasangs north of Delhi.

Shooja-ed-Dooulet had up to this time formed but an incor-
rect estimate of the bravery of the Afghans; but after having
been an eye-witness of it, and remembering that they were not
very conspicuous for their notions of gratitude, and might perhaps
be wanting in that which they owed to him, he regretted that he
had assisted them—nevertheless he remained faithful to his new
ally ; as to Delaver Khan and Zal Beg, who had not obeyed the
order of Ahmed Shah to march to the assistance of Samut Khan,
and feared his anger, left the camp by stealth, taking with them
their men, even before the issue of.the day was known. The king,
without making himself very uneasy at this defection, continued
rapidly to advance, and seized upon the Mahratta country, after which
he passed into the Mogul territory, when the usurper Ghazee
Khan, seeing his kingdom invaded, determined to obtain, if possible,
the mediation of Shooja-ed-Dooulet, and thus make his peace with
Ahmed Shah. The Prince of Lucknow was not averse to under-
taking this negotiation ; but on condition that Ghazee Khan, as in
duty bound, should surrender the crown to the legitimate sovereign,
and further pay an enormous contribution to the expenses of the war.
These severe terms having been accepted, Ahmed was desirous of
placing Shah Alem, the son of Alemguir, on the throne, and,
upon his refusal to be reinstated in his rights, his son Jehan-booght,
as yet only a child, was raised to the musnud.

Matters at Delhi having been thus settled, Ahmed Shah pro-
ceeded in the direction of the Punjab to maintain order there, and



Caar, VII, REVOLT IN KEANDAHAR. 89

was preparing to march to the southern provinces of India when he
learnt that the Mahrattas had moved upon Delhi. He returned,
therefore, in haste to the support of his new ally, whom he had the
good fortune to save from the danger that menaced him, for the
Mabrattag retired at his approach. Whether Shooja-ed-Dooulet
bad really intrigued with them to bring about the fall of Jehan-
booght, or whether the serdars, jealous of his influence with the
Shah, deceived Ahmed in order to effect his ruin, the result was
that the Afghan monarch, who ought to have shut his eyes, at least
for the moment, to the accusations brought against the Prince of
Lucknow, demanded from him a large sum of money; but Shooja,
indignant at the request, determined not to comply with it, and,
clandestinely leaving the camp with his troops, retired to his own
country. This desertion, added to that of Delaver Khan and Zal
Beg, with their 10,000 horse, seriously reduced the strength of the
Afghan army, so that Ahmed Shah was no longer in a position to
prolong the campaign, but, satisfied with the immense treasures he
had collected during the war, he returned towards his own terri-
tory, to which he was, as it happened, recalled by an event of some
Importance.

Some ambitious, and consequently discontented serdars, had, after
their flight from the royal camp, joined Delaver Khan and Zal
Beg, who, supporting the revolt of a nephew of Ahmed Shah’s, by
name Abdul Khalek Khan, proclaimed him king at the fortress of
Girishk, and subsequently moved in triumph towards Kandahar.
Previously to this Hadji Djemal Khan, of the branch of the Zer-
gueranees, had likewise proclaimed himself king at Kandahar after
the departure of Ahmed Shah for India, and had even coined
money in his own name ; but having heard of Ahmed’s victories, he
thought it would be more prudent to renounce the royal position he
bad assumed and stand on one side. Abdul Khalek, less judi-
cious, made incredible efforts to secure his object. When Ahmed
Shah became thoroughly aware of what was passing in his capital,
he considered the circumstances of so little importance, that he did
not think it necessary to return there in person, but sent the Isakzye
Serdar, and Abdullah Khan, surnamed Shah Pecend Khan, with
a strong division of cavalry, to put down the rebellious proceedings
of his nephew and the serdars who had joined him, recommending
the Khan, above all things, to use the utmoat despatch and endea-
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vour to arrive at Kandahar before they could reach it from Girishk ;
he was not, however, in spite of his exertions, able to do so until after
the revolt had taken root there, and Suleiman Mirza, the eldest son of
Ahmed Shah, who governed in the absence of his father, had been
expelled from the capital. The greater number of the revolted ser-
dars had only supported the usurper because they believed the report
which had been circulated by Delaver Khan and Zal Beg that
Abmed had lost the battle of Paniput, and met with great reverses
and dieasters in India ; but they deeply regretted their folly in this
unlucky business when they were made acquainted with his success
and saw Abdullah Khan and his cavalry make their appearance.
Thinking, therefore, that the only way to obtain the Shah’s pardon
was to make a prompt submission, they, with few exceptions, went
to the camp of the latter, to whom they delivered up the city, and
also Abdul Khalek himself. When he left Delhi, Ahmed Shah
had gone to the Punjab, and thence to Peshawur, to re-establish
his authority, which had been somewhat questioned; and it was
during this journey that he received a letter from Abdullah Kban,
announcing the manner in which he had terminated his mission—
the king, in his reply, desired him to strangle his nephew secretly,
a command which he immediatlely put into execution.

The disorder at Peshawur was great when Ahmed armved
there, as well in the town as in the neighbourhood ; and several
months elapsed before tranquillity was restored, and matters resumed
their ordinary course. At this period snow covered the ground to
the depth of three feet, and the Shah was obliged to wait for the
spring until he could return to his capital ; he wrote, therefore, to
his son Suleiman Mirza, desiring bim to take every possible means
in his power to capture the serdars Delaver Khan and Zal Beg, who
had so treacherously deserted him, and to put them to death. The
prince wrote therefore to the latter, feigning a friendship and pro-
mising perfect oblivion of the past—and this in the name of his
father—if he would pay him a visit at Kandahar. Zal Beg ac-
cepted the invitation, and, with perjury truly Eastern, Suleiman
Mirza put him to death directly he entered the town, Delaver
Khan was less inclined to confide in the prince’s word than his
unfortunate friend, and instead of proceeding to Kandahar, as
he had previously promised to do, he fled to Herat, and placed
himself under the protection of the prince Timoor Mirza, second
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son of Ahmed Shah, and governor of that city. From a spirit
of opposition to his brother Suleiman, with whom he was on bad
terms, Timoor received the fugitive in a somewhat eager manner,
and showered honours and benefits upon him, which were increased,
even to prodigality, each time that the reiterated orders arrived
at Herat to put him to death.

Abmed Shah left Peshawur at the commencement of spring,*
and remained the whole summer at Kabul, arriving at Kandahar
about the middle of autumn, at which period he experienced an
attack, and with more intensity than ever, of that terrible malady
which had forced him long before to substitute an artificial nose of
gilver for his own, which had sloughed away. Thig malady, called
by Abdullah Khan Djuzam (which in Persian signifies leprous,
and a small ulcer) arrived towards the close of this year at such
a fearful height, that the Shah determined to proclaim his second
son, Timoor Mirza, his viceroy and successor to the throne of
Afghanistan. The serdars, astonished at this decision, which
appeared to them unjust, inasmuch as it was to the prejudice of
his eldest son Suleiman Mirza, assembled, and, having come to a
resolution, presented a respectful request to the Shah Ahmed in
favour of that prince. In this document they allowed a feeling
of something like discontent to appear, that they had not been con-
sulted in a matter of so grave a nature. The Shah replied, that in
acting thus he had not consulted his own particular bias, and that
in making his selection he had been guided entirely for the public
good. “ Timoor,” said he, *it is true, is younger than Suleiman,
but he is infinitely more capable of governing you than his brother.”
The serdars wished for a proof; the Shah simply replied that
Suleiman had never been able to conciliate the esteem and affection
of the tribes ; that be was violent without clemency ; that he had
never been able to foresee or put down a revolt ; and, in short, that
he hastily put to death the Serdar Zal Beg. “ But,” said the
serdars, “it was by your order.”” “Did I not also order Timoor
to put Delaver Khan to death?” replied Ahmed ; “and what did
he do? Political reasons might induce me to order two culprits to
be put to death, but other secret reasons, which were known to the

* The manuscript of Abdullah is entirely without dates, the author is therefore
vnable to give any,— Ferrer,
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prince Suleiman, ought to have led him to disobey me, as his brother
did.” 'The serdars appeared satisfied with these replies, which
seemed to embody, as it were, his opinions for the future guidance
of the princes of the blood.

When Ahmed Shah had induced the serdars to acknowledge
his son Timoor Mirza as his successor, he retired to a palace he
had built at Tobeh-Maharoof, situated in the midst of the Suleiman
mountains, the cradle of his tribe. From hence he watched over
the government; but after four or five years had elapsed, his
disease having rendered him incapable of any further continuous
labour, he entirely abandoned public affairs to the governors of
the various provinces of his empire, and expired shortly after,
namely, in 1773. Yaghoot Khan, the chief of his eunuchs, and
a person in whom he had great confidence, kept his death a
profound secret, and wrote immediately to Timoor Mirza, who
was still governor of Herat, to come with all speed to Kandahar
and take possession of the throme. At the same time that he
transmitted this information he set out himself, taking the royal
corpse with him ; this was placed in a litter, and the curtains being
carefully drawn wae completely concealed from every ome. The
adroit eunuch approached the litter from time to time, as if to
receive some order from his sovereign, or give him some refresh-
ment, remarking to those of his escort who wished to make any
request or an inquiry about his health, that, being extremely unwell,
the Shah had ordered that no one should be allowed to disturb
him. Yaghoot Khan also took with him the Shah’s jewels and
treasure, which were carried by mules, and always preceded
the royal litter, so that he might be able to have his eye con-
stantly upon them. No one discovered the deception during the
greater part of the journey; and it was anly about a day’s march
from Kandahar, when the prince Suleiman Mirza came out to
receive his father, that it was necessary to make the Shah's death
public. The serdars, who were present on this occasion, were
nearly all attached to the party of this prince, from whom they
had received brilliant promises, and they immediately returned with
him to the city, and proclaimed him Shah of the Afghans.

Ahmed Shah, Suddozye, reigned twenty-five years and a few
months : he was free from most of the crimes commonly found in
individuals of Eastern nations; such as drunkenness, whether from
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wine or opium, duplicity, avarice, cruelty, and one which need not
be mentioned ; he was always a most firm supporter of religion.
On his accession to the throne he changed the name of his tribe,
which was Abdalee, to that of Dooranee, which signifies a person of
noble and ancient birth ; and he took the title of Doorveranee, 1. e.
he around whom converges the noble and ancient tribe.

In order to increase the numbers of the Afghan nation Ahmed
connected with it all the tribes of doubtful origin, Eimak or Belooch,
speaking the Pushtoo language, who were settled in the various
provinces, particularly in the district of Furrah and on the banks
of the Helmund. There was a clause in his will forbidding his
successors to cut off the nosé or ears of any one, no matter whom ;
and this was based upon his own sufferings, for the leprous disease
having destroyed bis nose, and Nadir Shah, to punish him for an
act of insubordination, having cut off one of his ears, he had deeply
felt the deprivation of these organs. He also desired the Doora-
nees to ally themselves one with another, and not to give their
girls in marriage to strangers; that for the future the succession
should go entirely to the son and to the exclusion of the daughters,
who up to that time had participated in the property left by their
father ; that at the death of an Afghan his nearest relative, the
father and son excepted, should marry his widow ; and if there was
no relative, the widow should reside in the house of her deceased
. busband, and live on the proceeds of his property till her death ;
that when a married woman died without having a child, her
father, brother, or other relative could not demand her dower from
the husband ; he also abolished divorce, and withdrew from the
master his right to kill his slave. He abrogated the custom of
bending the body and kissing the earth before the sovereign, whom
he commanded henceforth to be saluted by carrying the hand
straight to the forehead ; he granted permission to sit in the pre-
sence of the monarch only to the syuds and priests, to whom he
conceded the privilege of dining every Thursday evening with
the sovereign, in order that he might be able to converse with
them on the sciences and religion. The laws he made during
his reign he caused to be rigorously executed, and commanded
that his descendants and successors should do the same after
him. He accumulated great riches, but they consisted of the
plunder which he had taken from his enemies ; the revenues qf
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Afghanistan, properly so termed, never found their way into his
private coffers : he gave his troops their pay in person. The name
of Ahmed Shah became glorious throughout Asia after the battle of
Paniput, which was one of the causes that led to the rapid decay
of the Mogul empire. The petty chiefs of Khorassan,.who all
acknowledged his suzerainty, and offered but a timid opposition,
he would have brought into complete subordination, had it not
been for the six campaigns which he made in the Punjab, India,
and Beloochistan, which absorbed all his time. He saw that
repose demoralized his troops, and he kept them always in a high
state of discipline. It was by this system that he was enabled to
maintain himself securely upon the throne, as much as to the great
clemency that he constantly manifested, and which induced him so
continually to pardon the rebellious chiefs who could not bring them-
selves to bow under the yoke of obedience, and between whom he
wae obliged to be the peacemaker. His reign was remarkable for
the good which he spread around him, and his generosity and simple
and modest demeanour in the midst of courtly pomp made him
loved by all'who approached his person ; he was of easy access, and
administered justice upon the most equitable principles, without a
harsh word even to those who deserved it ; he was conciliating, per-
suasive, and no one ever complained of the judgments that he gave.
He greatly extended the limits of his empire, which, at the moment
of his decease, were as follows: the frontier to the north was defined
by the Oxus and the mountains of Kiafferistan ; to the south, by the
sea of Oman ; to the east, by the mountains of Thibet, the Sutlej,
and the Indus; and to the west, by Khorassan, Persia, and
Kerman. _
But Ahmed Shah 18 much more deserving of eulogy for the talent
with which he subjected the various Afghan tribes to his laws,
than for having given such a vast extension to his kingdom, or for
the victories he won. The princes who prior to him governed
the Afghans exercised but a nominal authority over the nomade
tribes, for they listened only to the orders of their own chiefs
Ahmed Shah conciliated the majority of these, and reduced to
obedience the few who were hostile to him. The nine Serdars
who bad served with him in the army of Nadir formed a Council
which he always consulted in questions of state: he adopted
no measure of importance without their approbation, and never
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failed in any promise that he made them. His government in
short resembled much more a federative republic of which he was
the head, than an absolute monarchy. After a victory he always
gave up a large part of the spoils of the enemy to his soldiers ; he
never adopted an arrogant tone of superiority with their chiefs
which could hurt the feelings of those with whom bhe had once
been on equal terms, and who had elevated him to the sovereign

power,
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CHAPTER VIIL

Kabul becomes the capital —Sons of Abmed Shah — Dervish Ali Ehan — Afghan
principles — Walee Kban and his sons put to death — Flight of Suleiman Mirza
— Timoor Mirza enters Kandahar — Resides at Kabul — Kuzzilbash cavalry
organised — Timoor marches agrinst Scinde — Conflicts between the Kaloras
and Talpooras — Timoor Shah takes Bawalpoor — Establishes the Kaloras in
Scinde — Freeh disturbances in Scinde — Medad Khan is beaten at Djicond —
Fethi Khan Talpoora succeeds to power — Timoor takes the field against the
Emir of Bokhara — Balkh and Akhchelh become independent — Timoor returns
to Kabul — Events in Khorassan — Afghan army marches on Meshed — Mamech
Ehban — Capture of Tchinaran — Death of Medad EKhan — Fresh insurrection
in Ehorassan — Afghan army advancea into that province — Conspiracy to take
Timoor Shah’s life— The plot fails — Arseleh EKhan ia put to death— Value
of an oath in an Afghan sovereign — Death of Timoor Shah — Character of that
monarch — Sons of Timoor, .

Tur Afghans never really enjoyed thgir independence till the
reign of Ahmed Shah, and the national disposition was probably
modified at this epoch. The liberty of speech and action in which
they were permitted to indulge contributed without doubt power-
fully to develop that independent manner and rustic pride which
still characterize them in our own day—a conquered nation for
generations, they became all at once conquerors. This sudden tran-
sition took place it is true under Mir Mahmood, but was only
thoroughly developed under Ahmed Shah, Suddozye ; it inspired
them with confidence in themselves and roused a superiority which
had up to that period been dormant ; in a word, the national mind
had been formed.

The city of Kandahar was considered the capital of Afghanistan
during the reign of Abmed Shah, but he ouly resided there during
the autumn and winter; he went to Kabul in the spring and
summer, alternately changing bis place of abode from one city
to the other, that he might constantly enjoy an agreeable and
temperate climate. His son Timoor Shah altered this state of
things ; for he withdrew the title of capital from Kandahar and
transferred it to Kabul, which was subsequently the royal resi-
dence during the whole period that the dynasty of the Suddozyes
occupied the throne of Afghanistan
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Ahmed Shah left eight sons, namely, Suleiman Mirza, Timoor
Mirza, Chahab Mirza, Sindjar Mirza, Yezdan bakhch Mirza,
Sikander Mirza, Darab Mirza, and Perviz Mirza. The Prince
Timoor, Walee of Herat, named by his father as his successor, did
not hear of his death till he received the letter written to him by
the eunuch Yaghoot Khan, but he learnt before he left Herat
that his brother Suleiman Mirza had been proclaimed king at
Kandahar by a few Serdars, at the head of whom was the Shah
Walee Khan, first minister of the deceased Shah. The delay
which took place before Timoor proceeded to his capital arose
from the uneasiness occasioned him by Dervish Ali Khan,
Hazarah, a subtle chief, and a dangerous traitor, who had re-
cently escaped from the dungeons of Herat, in which Ahmed Shah
had imprisoned him after his return from Meshed A party
hostile to Timoor had rallied round this Khan ; nevertheless the
prince, under a promise of pardon, was clever enough to induce
him to come within the precincts of his palace ; where, according
to Afghan usage, which consists generally in a perfect disregard
of the value of the most solemn oaths, he put him instantly to
death, and gave the command of the Hazarahs to the Serdar
Mohamed Shah Khan, a member of the same tribe, After this he
appointed his own son, Mahmood Mirza, Governor of Herat ; but
as he was desirous that he should accompany him to Kandahar, he
named Islam Khan, Popolzye, his vizier, as the locum tenens of
his son in that office, after which he assembled his troops and
marched against Suleiman Mirza. On his arrival at Furrah he
was joined by a great number of partizans who had already
abandoned the cause of his brother, but amongst all those who
deserted Suleiman the most important accession to his cause was
the Shah Walee Khan, who had great influence over the Afghans.
This personage brought his two sons and two of the principal
Dooranee Serdars to the camp of Timoor, which was then at
Siah-ab; but the prince, fearing to be hampered in the government
by this old servant of his father, and desirous also of striking
terror into the traitors by a severe example, ordered their heads
to be struck off dircctly they appeared before him. The party
of Suleiman Mirza, terrified by these executions, was at once
dissolved, and the usurper finding himself thus deserted fled to
India, accompanied by four followers who alone remained faithful
to him.

H
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Timoor, surrounded by all the great and powerful families in the
kingdom, and accompanied by a numerous army, now made his
public entry into Kandabar with much pomp and circumstance,
and was at once acknowledged king by the assembled Serdars; but
he made only a short stay in this city, the population of which
had become odious to him from having taken his brother’s part:
as a punishment he deprived it of its title of capital, which as
we have already said he transferred to Kabul, to which place
he at once proceeded with his army, leaving his son Mahmood
provisional Governor of Kandahar. The reign of Timoor con-
tinued for twenty years, and during this period he almost always
passed the winter at Peshawur, and the remaining seasons of the
year at Kabul. On ascending the throne he augmented the pay
of the Afghan chiefs, and gave the tribes a great extension of
territory ; several of the serdars received appointments of great
trust and high command and titles much esteemed at the court of
an Asiatic sovereign.

The Serdar Payendeh Khan son of that Hadji Djemal who had
renounced his pretensions to the throne in favour of Ahmed Shab,
Suddozye, was confirmed in the command of the powerful tribe of
the Barukzyes, and honoured with the title of Sera-fraz Khan.
Delaver Khan, the Serdar who deserted at the battle of Paniput,
received the title of Medad Khan, and the grade of Serdaree
Serdarane, * General of Generals,” Kazee Feiz Ullah, Pich-nawaz
of the king, received the title of Kelane Kelauter, * Greatest of
the Great.” Timoor Shah had such an implicit confidence in this
Serdar that he never did anything without consulting him. Abdul
Latif Khan, one of the descendants of Sheik Ahmed Zindeh Pir,
was appointed lieutenant of the kingdom and receiver-general of the
taxes. Noor Mohamed Khan, Baberee, was made president of the
court of accounts; and lastly, Iltifat Khan, chief of the eunachs,
was appointed chief treasurer and custodian of the crown jewels.
All these personages had the rank of ministers, and Timoor ordered
as a general rule that the principles of justice, equity, and a mild
course of conduet should be observed towards every one ; but he re-
commended them to employ the chiefs of tribes as little as possible
as public functionaries, for up to this period they had generally
held the appointments, and almost always abused their authority.
The Shah’s guards were selected from the tribe of Isakzye, and to
this the Serdarec Serdarane belonged. A division of 12,000
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Kuzzilbash horsemen was also organized under the command of
the Serdar Mohamed Khan Beyat, the pay of their officers was
augmented, and Timoor chose from amongst these the companions
of his debauched habits, for he had a great predilection for wine
and other pleasures. lle paid with great punctuality every half-
year the salaries of the officers of his court, and the army every
year.

Timoor Shah was only twice at the head of his troops to meet
his enemies ; all the other wars in which he was engaged were con-
ducted by the Serdaree Serdarane, Medad Khan, Isakzye. The
first occasion on which Timoor took the field was in 1779 in the
campaign against Scinde, which had revolted. The governor of
this province, a vassal of the Afghan sovereigns, and admitting
their suzerainty, had endeavoured to throw it off at the time the
Mahrattas rose in his father’s reign, and Ahmed Shah had subdued
him even before the battle of Paniput, making him pay a very
large sum of money as arrears of tribute, and as an indemnity for
the expenses of the war; after which Ahmed forgave him, and
maintained him in his governmeut. This chief belonged to the
tribe of the Kalora, and had the title of Emir of Scinde. Mir Fethi
Khan, chief of the Talpoora tribe, a rival of his, attacked him in
June, 1779, massacred a great number of his people, and dispos-
sessed him of his government. 'The Kalora chieftain fled to
Kandahar, from whence he addressed a petition to Timoor Shah,
who at once took the field with his army to reinstate him in his
rights. The king began by seizing Bawalpoor, in which place he
fouod immense riches, and upon these he laid his hands. The in-
surgents after this success did not hold their ground anywhere, and
their chiefs fled from the province, which the Shah placed under
the control of the Kalora Emir, and then returned to Kabul ; but
he had -scarcely left Scinde when the chief of the Talpooras
again entered that termitory and once more drove out the Kaloras,
The embarrassments under which Timoor laboured at that time
prevented him from promptly repressing this fresh outbreak : and it
was only in 1786 that the Serdaree Serdarane Medad Khan could
march there with a small corps d’armée, with which, on its entering
Scinde, the contingent of the Khan of Kelat was to form a junction ;
this chief, however, was bound to the Talpooras by family ties, and
on various pretences did not bring the reinforcement which by

treaty he was obliged to furnish. In spite of this contretemps
H 2
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Medad Khan marched upon the insurgents with his small force,
but, being attacked by very superior numbers near the village of
Djioond, he was beaten and obliged to retire and fortify himself in
that locality.

Mir Fethi Khan then entered into negotiations with the
Serdaree Serdarane, demanded to be invested with the same rights
that the Shah of Afghanistan had formerly acknowledged, and
which had been held by the chief of the Kaloras, promising for
the future an exact payment of the tribute as well as the sum then
due for arrears. Medad Khan accepted this arrangement, which
was confirmed by his sovereign, but Mir Fethi Khan, who ounly
wished to gain time to collect his treasure and his forces, in order
that he might defy his suzerain with the greater chance of success,
refused to pay the tribute the third year after his installation as
Governor of Scinde, and proclaimed his independence. Timoor
Shah being unable to send troops and thus oblige him to return
to his duty, Scinde remained independent of Afghanistan up to
the time of the Shah’s death.

The second occasion on which this sovereign took the field in
person was in his conquest of Sarmacand and Bokhara, to punish
the inhabitants of Balkh and Akhcheh, who had driven out their
Afghan governor and revolted against him at the instigation of
Sultan Murad Khan, Emir of Bokbara, and of Mavar-ul-nahar.
When the Shah approached Balkh, those who had raised the.
standard of rebellion, and io whose support Sultan Murad Khan
bad sent a contingent of troops, left the town to oppose the Shah,
and encamped at a short distance from him. If Timoor Shah had
at once attacked the Uzbeks he would most certainly have crushed
them, for his army was much superior to theirs, not only in numbers
but in the spirit of the troops ; but the rivalry which existed between
the serdars, and the vexation felt by those who commanded the
tribes at being obliged to leave their lucrative appointments, caused
them to temporize and thus compromise the success of the Afghan
arms; and his attempts to conciliate these chiefs were so prolonged
that the army was at last completely without provigions.

The fall of Timoor Shah was the object of the serdars, and this
they hoped to accomplish without its appearing to be their fault,
trusting that his successor would grant them the advantages which
they had hoped, but in vain, to receive from him. The king pene-
trated their design, and to avoid an irreparable disaster came to an
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understanding with the rebels, withdrew from the conquest of
Navar-ul-nahar, and retired to Kabul, preserving a feeble appearance
~ of authority on Balkh and Akhcheh, which from this day became
pretty nearly independent. They accepted, it is true, a governor
named by Timoor Shah, but they took care previously to point out cer-
tain persons from amongst whom that officer should be taken. The
authority of the governor thus chosen was very limited ; the people
he governed merely furnished him with the means of subsistence for
himself and a very small number of personal servants; but they
paid him neither taxes nor salary and subjected him to every kind
of annoyance. The consequence of this was that Timoor Shah
was at length unable to find any person who would accept the
appointment of governor of these turbulent cities, which led to a
hundred jokes and witticisms more or less wounding to the feelings
of the sovereign, particularly from those who were hostile to him.
The Loutis, who wandered from town to town with monkeys and
other animals, taught them to cast earth upon their heads (a sign
of the deepest grief amongst Asiatics) when they were asked whether
they would be governors of Balkh or Akhcheh.

From the period at which Timoor Shah succeeded to the throne
Khorassan had been in a permanent state of revolt. Shah Rokh
Mirza, who recognised the suzerainty of this sovereign as he had
done that of his father, claimed his assistance against his old friend
Mamech Khan of Tchinaran, who had five years before seized and
continued to hold possession of Meshed, in which city he exercised
a most fearful tyranny. Timoor Shah sent 30,000 men, under the
orders of the Serdaree Serdarane, to overthrow the usurper,
On his arrival at Meshed Mamech Khan left the city and shut
himself up in his fortress of Tchinaran, in which place Medad
Khan thought it would be as well not to disturb him ; he contented
himself therefore by ordering his villages to be pillaged, his territory
ravaged, and, replacing Shah Rokh at the head of the government
of Meshed, he returned to Kabul; but he had scarcely reached
the capital when news was brought to him that Mamech Khan
had been cnabled to collect a few thousand horsemen, and once
more devastate the province, and that his position became every
day more menacing. Timoor Shah was obliged to send Medad
Khan to put down this fresh rcvolt, and on his arrival Mamech
Khan again retired within the walls of his fortress, but this
time the Afghans laid siege to the place, and soon forced him
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to surrender at discretion. The Serdaree Serdarane, however,
treated Mamech with generosity, left him in possession of his
Khanat, and was satisfied with accepting a light contribution in -
money towards the expenses of the war and a thousand beasts of
burden loaded with provisions : after which he set out on his return
to Kabul ; but the simoom blew with such intensity when he arrived
in the plains of Furrah that he died, and with him a great number
of his soldiers.

A few days subsequently to this circumstance the Khorassanees
were informed of it and immediately rose against the Afghans and
their protége Shah Rokh Mirza, which obliged Timoor Shah to send
a third army the following year to reduce them to obedience. He
placed these troops under the command of Ahmed Khan Noorzye,
gon of Nasser Ullah Khan, who, although with great difficulty, suc-
ceeded in putting down the revolt. From this moment up to the
end of the reign of Timoor, the Afghans were never engaged in
any conflict; nevertheless the year preceding the death of that
prince was remarkable for an event in which the Shah was nearly
coming to a violent end.

In accordance with his usual custom Timoor went to pass a few
months at Peshawur, but this year he remained at that city a longer
period than usual, detained there by an insurrectional movement
which threatened to develop itself further and eéxtend as far as
Lahore. Arseleh Khan, of the Mohmund tribe, and Yaghoot Khan,
chief of the eunuchs of the late king, who with several other
Afghan chiefs were dissatisfied with Timoor, determined upon his
ruin, It was agreed amongst them that Yaghoot Khan, who
commanded the guard of the royal harem, should counive at the
entrance of Arseleh Khan and his people when the king retired
there, and put him to death, after which they were to proclaim his
nephew, Iskander Khan, a son of Suleiman Mirza, king in his
stead. '

On the day agreed upon for the execution of this conspiracy,
2500 hill-riflemen, and as many resolute inhabitants of Peshawur,
well armed, suddenly assembled in a large open space covered
with ruins, habitually deserted and situated on the side of the
grand square opposite to the citadel, on which a few thousand
Kuzzilbash horse, forming the king’s guard, were always en-
camped. It was about two hours after noon, the time at which
eastern nations take their siesta ; the palace guard were therefore all
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asleep, or very nearly so, and the conspirators made choice of this
moment to penetrate into the citadel by a sally-port, of which
Yaghoot Khan had given them the key. By a rare chance
Timoor Shah had not yet fallen asleep, and, hearing the tumult
and a distant hubbub of voices, he perceived at once that he was
threatened by some impending danger, and quickly retired to the
summit of a tower at one of the angles of the citadel looking into
the large square. The assassins, never thinking for a moment that
he would hide himself in a place where no one ever put his foot,
did not search for him there and went on; but when they returned
they were attracted by his shouts, and saw the king waving his
Cashmeer turban in the air as a signal of distress to the Goolam Kuz-
zilbashes, who were snoring below ; the conspirators endeavoured
toget at him by breaking the doors, but one of them, being iron-
bound and padlocked, resisted all their efforts to open it, which gave
the guards time to come up and vigorously attack the insurgents,
who were quickly reduced to the simple contingent of the moun-
taineers, for the Peshawur men had dispersed when they saw that
the alarm was given. The Goolams, who were soon supported by
other troops, cut the conspirators to pieces, and but very few of them
were enabled to escape—Arseleh Khan fled to his tribe, who lived
in the valleys enclosed between the mountains of the Haicht-naggar,
a rough country, full of difficulties, in which the Afghan cavalry
would have had but very little chance of success had they ventured
to pursue him. Timoor employed cunning in his attempts to seize
the culprit ; he feigned forgiveness and a wish to pardon Arselch
Khan, declaring daily at his durbdar, and also in private, that he
admitted he had been occasionally unjust towards him, and that
he desired nothing more than to be able to repair the injuries he
had done him. He made these sentiments well known in public;
and when he knew they had reached the ears of Arseleh Khan, he sent
one of the great nobles of his court to him, accompanied by a large
suite of servants carrying a Koran, on a page of which he had
ingcribed an oath that he would pardon bis fault, and affixed his
seal to this document. Arseleh Khan, placing confidence in the
sanctity of the book which had received on its pages this solemn
promise from the king, invited the envoy and his suite to lodge
in his own house, treated him with great splendour and consi-
deration, aud after a few days returned with the embassy to
Kabul ; the Khan's throat was cut the day that he entered the city.
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Timoor Shah, a little reassured by the death of this chief, now
ordered a massacre of the people of Peshawur who had joined in
the revolt, and fixed the extent of it to one in three of its inhabit-
ants ; this command was unfortunately but too well obeyed, and
Peshawur was very nearly depopulated by these executions, which
were preceded and followed by a general emigration.

From this period Timoor Shah became suspicious, morose, and
restless, and his clemency, which had till then rendered his reign
remarkable, entirely ceased, and it terminated in an act of unpa-
ralleled cruelty. His last days passed away in alternate paroxysms
of remorse and fear ; he could not quiet his conscience and absolve
it from the guilt of the wholesale slaughter of which we have just
gpoken, nor the n urder of Arseleh Khan, brought about by per-
jury, and also having carried off by force the wife of an Afghan
of Kandahar, to give her to a certain Mohamed Khan, one of his
favourites, who had conceived a passion for her. Timoor Shah
survived only ten months after the attack on his life; and his
death, in 1793, was occasioned by an inflammation of the intes-
tines, accompanied by violent fits of vomiting. Several of his con-
temporaries, whom we have had occasion to consult on the subject
of his death, assure us that he was poisoned by one of the women
of his harem, the sister of a Popolzye chief, who was hostile to him.

In spite of the several acts which have just been mentioned, the
reign of Timoor Shah is cited in Afghanistan for the justice,
equity, and paternal feeling with which he treated his subjects.
He bhad many difficulties to surmount; for the serdars who had
placed his father on the throne, and divided with him the direc-
tion of affairs, considered themselves much more like the tutors
of his son than his councillors. The king endeavoured for a
long period to release himself from this thraldom, but, seeing that
his efforts were vain, he gave himself up to that life of ease and
effeminacy with which European authors have so sharply re-
proached him, without reflecting whether it was possible for him
to follow a different line of conduct. They would have been less
severe if they had given themselves the trouble to inquire what
were the causes of this apathy, They heard from the Afghans
that which they have themselves repeated ; but we must not forget
that this people admit amongst the number of their great men
those only who gorge themselves with pillage, who carry war and
devastation everywhere, and who satisfy them in their eager desire
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for riches; it was only by employing such means that the great
Ahmed Shah, a sovereign, be it observed, highly to be respected
as an Afghan, was enabled to make himself popular with the plun-
dering tribes of which his nation was composed. His son, instead
of enriching them by continual wars, was obliged to come to the
assistance of those he had to protect by taking funds from his own
treasury ; and this was quite enough to bring upon him the slander
and ill feeling of the people. An Afghan loves to live at other
people’s expense ; everything which tends to make him respect the
property of his neighbour, to be subject to laws which prevent him
from ransacking and destroyirg, is opposed to his nature; is it,
therefore, astonishing that, being animated by such sentiments, the
reign of Timoor Shah should appear to him weak and effeminate ?
I bad occasion, during my journey in Afghanistan, to converse with
gome respectable serdars, who, having held high positions at the
court of this sovereign, were able to appreciate his character. These
individuals assured me that the intelligence and activity of this
prince were equal to his courage and firmness; and it was these
qualities which had led his father to give him the preference over
his other sons; but it would have been absolute folly for him to
have entered into an open struggle with the old serdars, who were
venerated by the Afghans, with a view of concentrating all the
power within his own hands, for this contest could terminate only
to his disadvantage, and would have ended in his complete ruin.
He preferred the wise and prudent path of reasonable concessions
to that Jdangerous, and always uncertain, one of civil war ; if he
was debauched, it may be affirmed that in this he only imitated
the majority of Eastern sovereigns—even those who rank highest
in the pages of historians. They have always considered, and will
always consider, so long as there is no change of habits in Asia,
the abuse of the physical powers and pleasures as the first and most
imprescriptible of their rights. Timoor, however, without doubt
would have been less effeminate if, like his father, he had had
the power in his own bands; but, not having serious subjects to
attend to, he gave himself up to frivolous ones.

When the serdars who had been the companions of Ahmed Shah
were dead, their sons succeeded to- the influence which the former
had taken in the affairs of government, and Timoor was unable
to resist their demands. These chiefs disposed of the tribes ; they
could alienate them from him in a moment, and he was, therefore,
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obliged to be on good terms with them. Unfortunately these young
serdars were passionate and ambitious; being without the expe-
rience of their fathers, they never knew how to preserve amongst
themselves that union which had existed amongst the latter; and
Timoor, instead of finding in them the characteristics which are
necessary ta triumph over difficulties, passed his time in endeavour-
ing to heal their misunderstandings, which could not be done with-
out a great deal of tact, so that their feelings should not be wounded
and that he should still appear to preserve the authority of a sove-
reign over them. It was the just medium that Timoor adopted
with them all, and the clever concessions which he made to ambitious
chiefs eager for change, which assured to him a reign of twenty
years, exempt from the scenes of anarchy that stained with blood
‘those of his successors. It was in consequence of his sons not
having followed their father’s example that they were hurled from
the throne of Afghanistan, and ended their days by the sword or in
exile.

Timoor Shah left thirty-six children ; of these twenty-three were
sons, namely—

Humayoon Mirza.—His mother was of the tribe of Suddozye.

Mahmood Mirza, Hadji Firooz Eddin Mirza. —Their mother
was of the tribe of Popolzye.

Abbas Mirza, Kohendil Mirza.—Their mother was of the tribe
of Isakzye.
Zeman Mirza, Shoodja-ool-Moolk Mirza.—Their mother was of
the tribe of Yoosoofzye. |
Ahmed Mirza, Mohamed Sultan Mirza, Yezdane Bakhch
Mirza.—Their mother was of the tribe of Noorzye.

Kechver Mirza, Sultan Ali Mirza, Nadir Mirza.—Their mother
was a great-grandchild of Nadir Shah.

Eyoob Mirza, Hassan Mirza.—Their mother was a Popolzye.

Echreff Mirza, Muzafer Mirza, Djehan Wala Mirza.—Their
mother was of the tribe of Etchekzye.

Mobamed Murad Mirza, Mirane Mirza, Hoosein Mirza.—
Their mother was of the tribe of Mohamedzye.

Achem Mirza, Chapoor Mirza.—Their mother was a Mogul.

It is essential that the reader should notice with attention the
names of those princes who are born of the same mother, because
the half-brothers habitually detest them, and in cases of revolt
are nearly always united against them. In taking up arms they
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are nearly always sure to have the support of the tribe to which
their mother belonged.

Nearly all these princes were, as may be seen by the above
table, born of Afghan mothers, with the exception of Kechver,
Sultan Ali, and Nadir, who were descended from a great-grand-
child of Nadir Shah, and Achem and Chapoor Mirza, whose
mother was a daughter of the Mogul Emperor Ahmed Shah Gour-
kanee, whom Timoor married in 1750. All these princes had
each from ten to fifteen children ; those who survived the disasters
which have befallen their dynasty bave sought refuge in India,
where the greater number of them are pensioners of the East India
Company.
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CHAPTER IX.

Afghanistan at the death of Timoor — Iutrigues for the succeasion — Payendeh
Ehan supports Zeman Mirza— Afghan tactics— Zeman is proclaimed Shah
— He marches against his brother at Kandahar — Flight of Humayoon
Mirza — Tyranoy of Zeman Shah — His sanguinary acts — Gives up Balkh to
Persia — Zeman marches against the Punjab — Humayoon seizes Kandahar —
Zeman takés the city by treachery — Humayoon is made prisoner — His
brother puts out his eyes— Zeman advances upon Scinde — Mahmood Mirga
endeavours to intercept him — Battle of Gourrek— Zeman advances on Herat
— Takes the city — Mahmood Mirza retires to Persia — Advances on Furrah —
Battle of Emaret — Mahmood invesls Herat — Cunning of Zeman Shah — Mah-
mood quits his camp — His allies are beaten and disperse — Zeman Shah arrives
at Herat — Mahmood retires to Bokhara and Khiva— Revolt of the Sikhs —
Zeman reduces Lahore — Disasters of his army — He reaches Kabul and
Kandahar — Fatal tendencies of Shah Zeman — Diecontent of the Afghans —
The vizier Yefadar Khan — Conepiracy of the Serdara— Payendeh Khan and
his accomplices executed — Flight of Fethi Khan — Revolts — Fethi Khan
accompanied by Mahmood takes Furrah and Kandabhar — The army deserts
Zeman — Battle between the brothers —Zeman is beaten and his eyes put
out — Vefadar Khan is executed — Zeman retires to Bokhara — Character of
the Shah.

ArcEANISTAN, at the death of Timoor Shah, comprehended the
principalities of Cashmeer, Lahore, Peshawur, Kabul, Balkh,
Khulm, Kandahar, Mooltan, and Herat; those of Kelat and
Beloochistan, as well as Persian Khorassan, acknowledged her as
suzerain. Scinde also, though not having paid for five years the
tribute agreed upon by Mir Fethi Khan, chief of the Talpooras, was
nevertheless classed as amongst the number of her dependencies.
Less far-sighted than his father Ahmed Shah, the deceased prince
had peither designated the son who was to succeed him to the
throne, nor obtained the recognition of any one of them by the
gerdars. The majority of his sons at the time of Timoor’s death
were governors of various provinces. The eldest, Humayoon Mirza,
his successor to the throne by right, was at Kandahar, Mahmood
Mirza at Herat, Abbas Mirza at Peshawur, Zeman Mirza at
Kabul, Shoodja-ool-Moolk at Ghuznee, Kohendil at Cashmeer ;
and the royal corpse had not received the rites of sepulture when his
sons were already disputing the succession. The majority of them
had hastened to Kabul to be present when their father drew his



Caar. IX. INTRIGUES FOR THE SUCCESSION. 109

last breath; the others, amongst whom were Humayoon Mirza
and Mahmood Mirza, remained at their governments, where
they had made themselves beloved by the people, and might rea-
sonably hope for their assistance and support in retaining their
power. Mahmood Mirza had promised his support to Humayoon
Mirza to aid him in seizing upon the throne, supposing that his
accession to it was disputed ; and the latter, m acknowledgment of
this service, had promised to confirm him in his government of
Herat. The good understanding was not so complete amongst
the other brothers assembled at Kabul.

Abbas Mirza, the fourth son of Timoor Shah, renowned for his
Herculean strength, had, in the first instance, a chance of obtaining
possession of the throne ; but the serdars having refused to sanction
his election before his father’s obsequies were performed, the un-
toward dclay modified the chances which he might have had of
success ; for each serdar attached himself to one or other of the
princes, and endeavoured to influence him in favour of his own
particular interesis. The consequence of this was a complete dis-
sension amongst the chiefs—each party flew to arms, and blood
flowed in the streets of Kabul.

The most powerful and influential of all the serdars was Pay-
endeh Khan, a son of that Hadji Djemal who withdrew his pre-
tensions to the crown in favour of Ahmed Shah. Like his father he
was the head of the family of the Mohamedzyes, and commanding-
in-chtef the tribe of the Barukzyes. This position gave him great
influence amongst the people, who, after the descendants of Sudoo
had been raised to the throne, had withdrawn from them a portion
of their regard, which, replaced by fear, had been bestowed upon
the descendants of Mohamed, whom they considered as alone capable
of maintaining their privileges against the excessive power which
they had given to their kings. Payendeh Khan gave his adhesion
to Zeman Mirza, the fifth son of Timoor, and succeeded in at-
taching to his party the most influential of the Afghan nobility
and the chiefs of the Kuzzilbashes at Kabul. Amongst the
former were Ahmed Khan, Noorzye ; Fath-Ullah Khan, Suddozye ;
Noor Mobamed Khan ; Emin-ool-Moolk ; Emir Islam Khan,
Djevanchir; Djaffer Khan, Djevanchir; Mohamed Khan, Beyat ;
Emir Ullah Khan, Logheree; and many others of as high rank
and equal power. With their assistance he was enabled in the first
instance to calm the general excitement, and subsequently to ele-



110 ZEMAN PROCLAIMED SHAH. Caar. IX.

vate the Prince Zeman to the sovereign power in the following
manner :-—

On the proposition of Payendeh Khan, the princes agreed to
assemble with the chiefs of tribes in order that the latter might
proceed in all liberty to the election of a sovereign taken from
amongst the former. Each of the sons of Timoor, accompanied by
the serdars, came to this meeting ; and in conformity with an under-
standing which had been already agreed to, no one had any arms,
either concealed or otherwise, about his person. The place selected
for this gathering belonged to Payendeh Khan; he had previously,
and with great secrecy, strengthened all the doors and windows,
and arranged the apartments in such a manner that no prison could
have been more secure, When the princes were assembled, and
some time had been occupied in discussion, Zeman, whose par-
tisans had purposely abstained from appearing there, suddenly,
under some slight pretence, left the assembly. Payendeh Khan,
who, to prevent any suspicion, had not uttered a word in favour of
his candidate, followed him out of the room, after which all those
who remained in the house were placed under lock and key, and
troope stationed round it.

The various factions, deprived of their chiefs thus retained pri-
soners and receiving no instructions, allowed themeelves to be per-
suaded by Payendeh Khan, and acknowledged Zeman Mirza as
their king. The new mvere:gn kept his brothers in confine-
ment during five days without giving them anything to eat save
two or three ounces of bread daily, the only way in which he could
bring them to recognise his election. When they and the chiefs
who had shared their captivity were released, they resembled so
many skeletons, and left the inhospitable and treacherous roof
under which they had passed these five days of suffering, only to
be transferred to the citadel of the Bala Hissar, within the walls of
which Zeman thought it would be prudent to place them.

The new sovereign commenced his reign by settling a pension
upon the old and devoted servants of his father, and by various
concessions attached to his person those serdars who had been
opposed to him ; but some few others, for the sake of example, he
put to death ; and as, after all, the Afghans were obliged to have a
king, they contented themselves with the one that had thus been
elected, who met with no further opposition in Kabul.

Humayoon Mirza, informed of the blow thus levelled at his
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rights as the eldest son of Timoor, profested against the usurp-
ation of Zeman, and accelerated his preparations for war; his
brother, Mahmood Mirza, did the same; and a good many par-
ticzans came forward at their appeal to overthrow the usurper.
But Zeman Shah, who could dispose of the greater and the richest
portions of the kingdom, who was in possession of the royal trea-
sure and the most warlike of the troops, did not remain inactive ;
in a very short space of time he had assembled a sufficient force to
put down his two antagonists, and, directly he was in a position to
take the field, he marched on Kandahar. Though Mahmood had
not yet come to his assistance, Humayoon Mirza advanced boldly
to meet Zeman, and came up with him at the little town of Kelat-i1-
Ghildjzye ; a battle ensued between the rival brothers ; Humayoon
was completely beaten, and obliged to fly into Beloochistan, where
he found an asylum at Kelat with the Emir Nasser Khan.

Mahmood Mirza, retained at Herat by the necessity of calming
the excitement that reigned there, was not able to act up to
the promise he had made his brother Humayoon to come to his
support ; and Zeman, after the defeat of the latter, made prepara-
tions to subdueMahmood, when several revolts which broke out at
Kabul forced him to return there. At this period evil council-
lors obtained a power over the mind of the Shah ; they persuaded
bim that the weakness and condescension of his father to the
gerdars had alone checked the increasing impulse given to the
prosperity of Afghanistan by his ancestor Ahmed Shah, and they
recommended him {o alter this system, and concentrate the absolute
power in his own hands.

To effect this object Zeman Shah commenced by taking the
great appointments of the state from those who had inherited them
as sinecures since the reign of that monarch, Even Payendeh
Khan himself, to whom he was indebted for his throne, was not
made an exception by the instigators of this violent change, for
his influence considerably diminished, and these dismissals did
not long suffice to appease the fears that his ambitious advisers
suggested to Zeman Shah. Individuals of consideration were
attracted to court on the faith of solemn oatns, arrested, im-
prisoned, or put to death, and these sanguinary executions spread
consternation in Kabul, the citizens of which were soon brought
under a yoke of iron. Such useless cruelties alienated the

-
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Afghans from their new sovereign; and his brothers, who were
released from the citadel almost immediately after they had been
incarcerated, dispersed over the different provinces, and every-
where excited disobedience to his authority. Obliged to conspire in
secret in presence of the troops that were sent to suppress the disor-
ders of which they themselves were the instigators, they nevertheless
ceased not by their intrigues to endeavour to accomplish the fall of
their relative, and continued very dangerous to his power. Shah
Zeman, fearing that a general reaction would be manifested against
him, was afraid to put those who were in his power to death, as it was
in the first instance his intention to do ; but these quarrels between
the sons of Timoor Shah.were the prelude to scenes of carnage, in
the midst of which the dynasty of the Suddozyes was to end.

It was about this time that Agha Mohamed Khan, founder of the
dynasty of the Kadjars in Persia, sent Mohamed Hoosein Khan,
Karaguzloo, as ambassador to Shah Zeman, requesting the cession
of Balkh, which he required in order that he might be able to
undertake in all security the expedition which he proposed to make
against Beghee Khan, at that period king of Bokbara, Zeman
Shah, being then greatly embarrassed, could not refuse this con-
cession to the Kadjar, who was at Mesbed with a numerous army ;
he consented, therefore, not only to his demand, but promised
also to assist him with his own troops. Subsequently Agha Mo-
hamed Khan having been called to the west by the menaced
invasion of the Russians, this treaty was never carried out.

During the events that we have related above the fire was
smouldering which was so soon to burst forth in the midst of the
Afghan nation. - The Punjab, annexed to the kingdom by Abmed
Shah, attempted to regain its independence, and the Shah Zeman
immediately took the field to chastise the rebels ; but he had scarcely
crossed the Indus when he learnt that, assisted by the Emirs of
Beloochistan, his brother Humayoon had seized upon Kandahar.
‘T'his intelligence obliged him to put off bis expedition to Lahore,
and he set off by forced marches, and by the direct road across the
mountains, to attack the former city. On the approach of his brother,
Humayoon was betrayed by his Afghan partisans, who wished to
seize and deliver him up to Zeman ; but, assisted by the Beloochees,
he succeeded in escaping from them, and again fled to Beloochistan,
The Shah sent a thousand cavalry in pursuit of him, from whose
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clutches he escaped for several days; but having, unfortunately for
him, returned on his road to gain Herat, they came up with and
arrested him in the district of Zemindavar, after which, and In
cbedience to the orders they had received from Shah Zeman, they
put out his eyes. The Shah, delighted with this fresh act of cruelty,
which, he fancied, ought to strengthen the power he had usurped,
thought of marching against the Emirs of Scinde, as much with the
desire of punishing them for the support they had given to Huma-
yoon, as to force them to pay the arrears of tribute which they
owed, and which they bad ceased to pay several years before the
death of Timoor Shah.

Shah Zeman had reached the Bolan Pass when he heard
that Mahmood Mirza, after having established his power at
Herat, had just taken the field, with an excellent army, and in-
tended to advance upon his rear while he was engaged with his
enemies in Scinde. Forced therefore by necessity, he came to terms
with Fathi Ullah Khan Talpoora, and for the sum of 300,000Z
gave up the remainder of the arrears, which amounted to three
times that sum, and confirmed him in the government of
Scinde, after which he moved by forced marches to meet his
brother.

Mahmood Mirza, quite as well informed of the movements of
Zeman as the Shah was of his, balted when he heard of the king’s
return to Kandahar, and having taken up a position in the mountains
of the Siah-bend, across which he had advanced, only moved forward
when he learnt that Zeman was two or three marches from his
encampment. The two armies came in sight, and attacked at
Gourrek, a large village situated between Giirishk and Zemindavar,
and fought with fury during fifteen successive hours. At length
fortune declared itself against Mahmood Mirza, who, beaten,
turned, and cut off from his communications, was obliged to fly and
retire within the walls of Furrah, followed only by a hundred of
his dependants.

After this Shah Zeman, without giving himself any further
trouble about his antagonist, marched straight upon Herat, .and
encamped under its walls, but several assaults which he made
were repulsed with energy, and he was on the point of retreating
when the mother of Mahmood Mirza arrived in his camp to make
proposals in the name of her son, who she assured Zeman had no
desire for the throne, and would be quite satisfied simply with the

I
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government of Herat. The Shah, who was anxious to carry his
arms to other points that were seriously menaced, was delighted
with the proposition, and accepted it immediatetly.

Kamran Mirza, the son of Mahmood, and Hadji Firooz Eddin,
his brother, who had been appointed governor of the city in
Mahmood’s absence, had remained within the citadel, and were
afraid to go into the town lest the fortress should be taken from
them by some treacherous act on the part of the garrison. Not
having received any information respecting the transaction which
had just taken place between the two brothers, their joy was not
greater than their astonishment when they saw Zeman Shah in full
retreat, which they attributed to the arrival of Mahmood Mirza at
the head of fresh forces. Desirous, therefore, of making a diver-
sion in his favour, they assembled in haste the troops that were at
band, and pursued the Shah; but they had scarcely reached the
royal residence of Roouz-bagh, situated seven miles south of Herat,
when the Parsivan, Kalech Khan (a serdar of the Taymoonis, suze-
rain lord of Khaff, a man of great influence in the principality, and
reputation in warlike affairs), who bad been intrusted by Kamran
and Firooz Eddin with the command of the citadel during their
absence, despatched a messenger to Zeman Shah to inform him
that he held the fortress at his disposal, and that he ought to come
immediately and occupy it with his own troops.

The princes, informed of this unfortunate circumstance, returned
instantly to Herat, which still held out for them, and attacked the
citadel on all sides; but it was in vain that they cannonaded it.
Kalech Khan, whom they summoned, and ordered to return to
his duty, answered only by redoubling his fire. The place was
strong, well provisioned, and capable of resisting any assault for
several months, while it required only two days for Zeman Shah
to come and occupy it. Directly he appeared, the princes, see-
ing themselves abandoned by their partizans, fled in the direction
of Khorassan; and Zeman, meeting with no further opposition,
took possession of Herat, where he remained four months. He
appointed his son Kaissar Mirza governor of the province, and
gave the command of the Heratee troops, as well as 1000 Afghan
horse, to the Serdar Kalech Khan, who had delivered up the place
to him, Zeman Khan, Popolzye, was appointed Vizier to Kaissar
Mirza, and received the title in partibus of governor of Persian
Khorassan, which Zeman Shah had the intention of uniting with
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Afghanistan. With this view he left a corps of troops with the
Popolzye Serdar, independently of those commanded by Kalech
Khan, in order that he might be enabled to invade that province,
the conquest of which was resolved upon. After having taken these
measures the king returned to Kandahar, where he remained but
a short time, and a few days after arrived at Kabul.

Bat Mahmood Mirza, without either money or an army, could
do but little, and came to the determination of going to Teheran
and demanding assistance from Feth Ali, the Shah of Persia,
who had for some years been seated on t.he throne of the Kad-
jars ; and this sovereign promised him support and his reinstalla-
tion in the government of Herat, on condition that he admitted
his suzerainty. This occurrence took place in the year 1798,
during which the revolt of Sedik Khan obliged Feth Ali to pro-
ceed to the Azerbaidjan ; but before his departure he recommended
Mahmood Mirza to the care of the Emir Assad Ullah Khan,
governor of Kachan, and son of the Ethemad Dooulet, Hadji
Ibrahim of Shiraz. Mahmood Mirza followed the Emir Assad
Ullah Khan to Kachan, but, observing that Feth Ali Shah prolonged
his stay in the north of his kingdom, the prince got weary of wait~
ing for the support that had been promised him, and wrote to the
Shah, requesting that he might be permitted to leave the residence
which he had assigned him. The King of Persia having consented
to this request, Mahmood proceeded to Khorassan, where he hoped
to be able to raise some recruits ; nor was he deceived in this
hope, for Mir Ali Khan, an Arab, the governor of the district of
Ghain, espoused his cause, and they took the field with 3000
infantry, marching in the first instance in the direction of Furrah.
The inhabitants of this city were favourable to the cause of Mah-
mood, and directly they heard of his approach they came out several
days’ march to meet him, when a great number of them earolled
themselves in his army.

The news of the arrival of Mahmood Mirza had spread rapidly
in Herat, much exaggerating his success, and he was described
as having arrived at Furrah with 50,000 men, subduing every-
thing on his road. These reports carried consternation into the
minds of the citizens; all those who had deserted the Prince
Mahmood, dreading his anger, made their preparations for de-
parture ; and the Prince Kaissar, himself believing in the accu-

I2
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racy of the intelligence, repaired and provisioned the citadel in
great haste ; but more truthful accounts followed and modified the
alarm of the prince and the scared inhabitants.

The report of this triumphant march brought to Mahmood Mirza’s
standard a reinforcement of several thousand men ; amongst these
was the Noorzye Serdar, Djabber Khan, who brought with him a
contingent of a thousand horsemen ; but when he saw what a small
army Mahmood’s was, he repented of the step he had taken, and
under cover of a dark night quitted the camp, and proceeded in
great baste to Herat, where he made the real state of things
known. Reassured by this information, Kaissar Mirza assembled
the troops of Kalech Khan, and, uniting them to those of Zeman
Khan, Popolzye (who, on learning the news, had returned
promptly from Khorassan, in the direction of which he had moved),
marched with these two divisions against his uncle. Mahmood,
geeing that Furrah was favourable to his cause, left that town on his
right, advanced at once to meet his opponent, came up with and at-
tacked him near the village of Emaret, and routed him completely.

The vanquished army retired in haste to Herat, and closed the
gates. Mahmood Mirza followed, but, being unable to invest
the place entirely by reason of the smallness of his force, he
determined to encamp at a spot on the banks of the Heri-rood .
about three miles from the walls. 'The Vizier Zeman Khan, having
discovered that the sympathies of the Heratees were in favour of
Mahmood, conceived that a temporizing line of conduct could
not but be advantageous to the latter: he resolved therefore, as
force was not on the side of Kaissar, to obtain the victory by cun-
ning. After having obtained the permission of that prince, he
wrote a letter to Mir Ali Khan, the Arab, as if it was the reply to
some terms of arrangement which the latter had made to Kaissar
Mirza, and which consisted in his obtaining some favour of that
prince, in exchange for which Mir Ali promised to deliver Mah-
mood Mirza into his hands. The adroit Vizier confided this letter
to an intelligent man, and advised him to manage in such a
way that he should be suspected and arrested by some of the
prince’s troops, and then pretend great anxiety that the letter in
question should not be seen. The scheme was carried out as he
wished ; the camp guard seized the messenger and conducted their
prisoner to Mahmood Mirza, to whom they presented the letter
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which they had "taken. Mahmood, alarmed at the snare thus
revealed to him, asked the advice of an Afghan noble, Mo-
hamed Akrem Khan, as to what steps should be taken, and he
advised him to avoid by flight the trap that had been laid for
them.

Nevertheless, the contents of this letter did not remain g0 entirely
a secret from Mir Ali Khan, but that he received some information
respecting it. He hastened, therefore, immediately to Mahmood,
and swore and protested in the most energetic terms to the truth of
his devotion to his person and his cause. The prince feigned to
believe him ; but, when night came, he fled from the camp, ac-
companied by his son Kamran, his brother Hadji Firooz Eddin,
the Serdar Akrem Khan, and a few devoted servants ; and when he
thought himself in safety he sent his son and his brother to Teheran
to claim the promised assistance of Feth Ali Shah, proceeding
himself to Bokhara to endeavour to interest the Emir in his
favour.

Mahmood Mirza had scarcely left the camp and his ally Mir
Ali Khan, than Kaissar Mirza was informed of the fact, and he
profited by the confusion and astonishment into which this event
had thrown the Ghainians, to fall upon and rout them thoroughly—
a great many were made prisoners and brought to Herat. As for
Mir Ali Khan, he had great difficulty in effecting his escape, and
reached Ghain with only a few horse, having met much privation
and danger on the road.

Shah Zemaun, then at Kabul, was soon informed that his bmther
Mahmood had returned to Afghanistan, and some false reports
induced him to believe that Kaissar Mirza, after having been beaten
at Emaret, had also evacuated the city of Herat on the approach
of Mahmood, who had taken possession. He therefore assembled
his army without loss of time, and took the field with a view to its
recapture, for the country and the roads were so thoroughly scoured
by the partisans of Mahmood, that no messenger had been able to
reach him with true intelligence of the actual state of things; it
was only on his arrival at Herat itself that he knew positively what
was passing. Delighted to find that the evil was not so great as
he had anticipated, be encamped his army on the banks of the
Heri-rood, and, followed by his court, subsequently entered the
city. When he learnt that his brother had gone to Bokhara he
immediately despatched the Kazee, Abdul .lrak, to the Emir
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of that country, to represent that by the terms of the treaty
concluded between Timoor Shah and the Emir he was bound
to deliver up Mahmood Mirza to him as a disturber of the tran-
quillity of the Afghan kingdom; but that, nevertheless, if he
found himself bound by the duties of hospitality, he should
remain satisfied if he would order the prince to be watched at
Bokhara in such a manner that he could not escape and again
foment discord in his dominions. Sultan Ali Murad detained the
Afghan envoy for some time at his court without giving him a
categorical answer: he finished, nevertheless, by promising that
Mahmood Mirza should be detained in his capital, and that he
would answer for it with his kead that he should not leave it. The
Kazee left Bokhara without having comprehended the meaning of
these words of the Emir, who had dwelt especially upon the last
part of his reply, the real and secret intention of which was to
gratify upon the fugitive prince the mortal hatred which he felt for
the family of the Suddozyes; his death was indeed only deferred
at the earnest request of a great and influential Uzbek nobleman,
by name Fezl Ahmed, who interested himself in lus behalf. Mah-
mood, informed by Fezl Ahmed of the plot which was in prepara-
tion against his life, managed to deceive the vigilance of his guards
and fled to Khiva, when Mohamed Rahim Khan, the sovereign of
that Khanat, for some time treated him with great hospitality ; but
as in the end he was unable to render him the assistance which he
required to renew the war, Mahmood Mirza left Khiva and rejoined
his son and his brother at Teheran, to which city he had sent them
subsequently to his flight from the camp of the Emir of Ghain.
After a residence of four months at Herat, Zeman Shah received
letters from the governor of Peshawur informing him that on his
departure from Kabul the Sikh mountaineers of Yambou had made
a descent upon Lahore, and plundered and sacked the city.
The Serdar Ahmed Khan, at the time governor of Lahore, did
his best to frustrate their intention; he went out and attacked
them, but his soldiers fled at the first onset, and the Khan was killed
in endeavouring to cover their retreat. On the receipt of this dis-
astrous intelligence, Shah Zeman appointed Mir Efzel Khan, son
of the Serdaree Serdarane, Medad Khan, vizier to his son Kais-
sar, after which, taking with him Zeman Khan, Popolzye, in whose
military talents he had the greatest confidence, he left immediately
for Kabul by the difficult and mountainous road which traverses
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the country of the Hazarahs, Poocht Kooh, accompanied only by
one hundred and fifty horse. As to the mass of his army, artillery,
and baggage, he sent them by Kandahar, under the conduct
of his minister Vefadar Khan and the Serdar Ahmed Khan
Noorzye. Zeman Shab, who arrived in the capital in twelve days,
took a large sum from his treasury to make formidable prepara-
tions for carrying on the war with activity ; and directly the troops
whieh arrived by way of Kandahar had joined those he had just
raised he left for the Punjab. The Sikh mountaineers abandoned
Lahore at his approach and retired into their fastnesses ; he there-
fore took peaceable possession of the city. As the inhabitants had
taken no part in the last revolt, in which they had been maltreated
by the mountaineers, he thought he could place confidence in
them, and consented to the request which they made, namely,
that in future the governor of Lahore should be selected by the
Shah from amongst the principal Sikh chiefs, to the exclusion of
the Afghans. He choee, therefore, for this post one of them, by
name Runject Sing, who had even then acquired a great reputation
for talent and courage ; and after having duly installed him, Zeman
Shah departed on his return to Kabul. This march was for him
and his army one long series of misfortunes; his artillery and a
great part of his baggage were lost at the passage of the Jelum;
the rain, which fell in torrents and almost daily, had so broken
up the roads that they were impassable; the soldiers, worn out
by their sufferings, either dropped to the rear or deserted, and
the plundering tribes took advantage of the distressed condition
of the army to pillage the baggage and strip the stragglers, who
were incapable of defending themselves. In fact, it was the débris of
an army of attenuated men, which, harassed by a thousand miseries
and privations, that Zeman succeeded in bringing into Peshawur.
Here he remained a month to rest and refresh his troops, after
which, having installed his brother, Shooja-ool-Moolk, as governor
of the city, he proceeded to Kabul, where he made but a very short
gtay, for he was under the necessity of guing on to Kandahar
in spite of the seventy of the winter to suppress the disposition to
revolt in that city.

Such revolts originated more especially in the discontent which
the powerful tribe of the Barukzyes felt at secing their chiefs, the
Mobamedzyes, set aside and debarred from holding any public
appointment, and meeting with no consideration at court. The
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reader should remember that, from the day on which Sudoo and
Mohamed had been raised to a superior rank by Shah Abbas the
Great, the descendants of the first bad enjoyed under the Seffavean
dynasty an almost regal power in Afghanistan. The descendants
of the second, without having so great an influence, held nevertheless
the highest appointments in the state, and were not less venerated
than the Suddozyes. When Ahmed Shah ascended the throne,
he, out of gratitude to Hadji Djemal, a chief of the Mohamedzyes,
respected the privileges of that family, the chiefs of which constantly
held the most important commands in his army and the great
offices at his court. Timoor Shah, who followed the example of
his father, had the tact always to attach them to his party, and
Zeman Shah was the first who dared to alter this state of things,
which, sanctioned by time, had all the force of law.

Payendeh Khan, chief of the Mohamedzyes, was, as we have
already remarked, stripped of all the appointments that he held,
and this was the first grievance of the Barukzyes against royalty.
The prime minister of Zeman Shah, Vefadar Khan, although be-
longing to the royal tribe of Popolzye, was of low extraction.
The Shah did nothing without having first taken his advice,
and this personage was the instigator of all the harsh measures
which the Shah had adopted against the great families of the
kingdom ; Vefadar Khan found his own interest in the confiscations
which habitually followed, and they also delivered him from dan-
gerous rivals. Zeman remained deaf to the milder counsels
which were given him, and a fatality seemed to urge him for-
ward from day to day in this impolitic and unjust path. The
prime minister, having sprung from the lower ranks of the no-
bility, was despised by the higher, and he revenged himself by
oppressing them and elevating unknown persons in their place,
who became so0 many tools in his own hands. The system
thus adopted by Zeman of governing in the wmost absolute
manner, without the concurrence and support of the serdars, had
nevertheless, up to this time, produced only irritation in the public
mind, and some partial revolts; but the discontent was general,
particularly amongst the most influential and powerful chiefs, who
had all of them been more or less despoiled. Although Vefadar
Khan was not ignorant of the extent to which he was detested by
these persons, he played nevertheless a double game, and nourished
in their minds sentiments of hostility to the king. The Khan en-




Crar. IX. CONSPIRACY OF SERDARS. 121

deavoured to compromise his sovereign in their eyes, by making
them believe that, in whatever he did, he simply executed the wishes
of the Shah, and that his intervention with the king was the means
of saving them from much greater disasters. His friendly pro-
testations were always accompanied by hypocritical marks of inte-
rest in their behalf, such as the remission of a tax or the conces-
gion of some land, and led them to believe that he had great
difficulty in procuring these favours from the Shah, regretting that
it was not in his power to render them a greater service, thus lead-
ing them to hope that they would be in a much better position
in fature. In this way he by turns flattered and caressed all par-
ties, boasting everywhere the favours he had granted, and seeking
every opportunity of laying upon the king all the odium of his
tyranny and the bloody executions of which he himself was the
sole originator, hoping by such conduct to overthrow his sovereign,
and by these intrigues attain himself the regal power. He fancied
he should obtain his end by exciting, when the propitious moment
arrived, a tumult amongst the people, and expected to receive the
support of the new serdars of his own creation, who were devoted to
him. His numerous emissaries glided amongst the populace, and,
though apparently perfectly disinterested, worked upon them for the
vizier's own purposes, The brothers of the king also were under
his influence, and he made use of them and led each in his turn
to believe that he was endeavouring to raise him to the throne.
The intrigues and underhand practices of this ambitious man proved
that bhe had as much craft and subtlety as he had talent for go-
verning ; the steps he took were always well considered, and to
the point, and his plan was so well conducted that it might have
succeeded if he had had the boldness to bring it more rapidly to
an issue; but the heads of a few more serdars, who had taken
umbrage at him, were wanting : he temporized, therefore, and this
delay was fatal.

The Afghan serdars, for the most part discontented, formed
a secret league, in order that they might come to some un-
derstanding as to the measures that must be taken to free them-
selves from the iron yoke and sanguinary persecutions which
Jreighed upon them; but to give a greater chance of success to
“their enterprige, they delegated five of the most powerful amongst
them, who alone were to decide upon the means to be employed—
the others binding themselves to be ready on the day appointed,
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and to execute without hesitation whatever should be determined
upon. As the police of Vefadar Khan was perfectly organized,
and nothing escaped their Argus eyes, the five delegates fixed upon
the house of a dervish, in high repute for his sanctity, as their
place of meeting, for his residence had been always frequented by the
most considerable of the Afghan nobility, who went by the appella-
tion of his murids. He never received more than six persons at a
time, and his door was shut against every one until these six de-
parted to make way for others. Payendeh Khan had the clever-
ness to induce this holy man to join the conspirators, and he trusted
that, by meeting at hie house and taking advantage of the custom
so long established there, he and the other delegates would escape
the inquiries which might arise. After a lively discussion at
one of these meetings, in which each of them stated the griev-
ances of his tribe, it was admitted that their nation had suffered
beyond what any men of spirit could tolerate—that Zeman Shah and
his minister ought to be overthrown, and the first replaced by
the prince Shooja-ool-Moolk, his half-brother, at that time governor
of Peshawur.

The chiefs present at this meeting were Payendeh Khan, Mo-
hamed Sherif Khan, Moonshee Bashee (cashier-in-chief), Yoosoof
Ali Khan, chief of the eunuchs, Sultan Khan, Noorzye, and Rahim
Kban, Alizye. Before separating they fixed upon a day for the
execution of their project, and also drew up several articles, forming
a kind of constitution, which they were to give to their countrymen.
The principal clauses in this document were, that henceforth the
crown should be elective; that the Serdars alone had the right to
vote at such election, and also to depose those sovereigns who
proved themselves unworthy of the trust which had been reposed in
them. But unfortunately the conspirators procrastinated, and their
plans were betrayed to the prime minister by the Moonshee
Bashee. Vefadar Khan, thinking this an admirable opportunity
of getting rid of his principal opponents at one fell swoop, im-
mediately informed the Shah of the conspiracy which had been
revealed, who recommended that the greatest secrecy should be
observed, and at once relieved his guards, of whose fidelity he
was doubtful, replacing them by others on whom he thought he
could rely. The following day he made considerable presentd®
to his servants and officers, and also to the people, to dispose
them in his favour, and on the succeeding one sent for all the
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chiefs who were concerned in the plot ; but separately, and under
the pretext that he was desirous of conversing with them upon
public affairs, so that they should not have the least suspicion
of his motive. However, on their arrival at the palace, they were
seized and imprisoned in the citadel. A few hours after the Shah
ascended the throne in great state, and, ordering them to be
brought into his presence, demanded why they had conspired
against him? to which they replied, that they had sworn to de-
throne him, but not to put him to death; that they never could
have had an idea of attacking bis royal person if they had not been
firmly convinced that all their representations to induce him to
dismiss his vizier would be fruitless ; it was his ruin alone they were
bent upon, and it was the hope of putting an end to this wretch
that had Jed them to comspire against their king. After having
listened to this avowal, Zeman Shah ordered them to be exe-
cuted in his presence, their bodies to be left on the public equare
outside the citadel, and remain there for three days exposed to the
public gaze.

As he now feared some movement on the part of the Barukzyes,
the chief of which tribe he had just put to death, he ordered
that all the Mohamedzye serdars should be arrested, but the
greater part of them, having been warned in time, were enabled to
save themselves by flight, or take refuge in the mosque of Ahmed
Shah,—a sanctuary never violated. Fethi Khan, the eldest son of
Payendeh Khan, who was more particularly sought after by the
express orders of the Shah, with a view of putting him to death,
also escaped the vigilance of the soldiers that were sent in pursuit
of him. Having received notice of their intentions, he got over
the walls, and, having excellent horses awaiting him in a garden
adjacent to the city, he reached Girishk, seventy-three miles distant,
in eight hours. From thence he took the road over the mountains
and across country, in order that no trace should be found of him,
and directed his course to Persia, where he rejoined Mahmood
Mirza, who, as we bave already remarked, had, for the second time,
taken up his residence at the court of the Kadjars. On this occa-
sion, as on the former one, he had been very well received by Feth
Ali Shah, who had placed himself at the head of an army, with
a view of reinstating bim in his government of Herat; but on
bhis arrival at Nishapoor he learnt that fresh disturbances had
broken out in the Azerbaidjan, which obliged him to return to Irak



124 MAHMOOD TAKES FURRAH, Cuar. 1X.

with his troops, and dismiss Mahmood Mirza, to whom he gave a
subsidy and assigned Turchiz as his place of residence, promising
that he would send him troops when order was restored in the
north of the empire, so that the prince might proceed against Herat.
It was at Turchiz that the Serdar Fethi Khan joined Mahmood
Mirza, and the greater part of his brothers soon arrived at the
same place, who, like him, had also their father’s death to avenge.

After the sanguinary executions of the chiefs at Kandahar, the
Afghans in all parts of the kingdom rose against Zeman Shah.
The Punjab and Peshawur in particular openly raised the
standard of revolt. There were also some attempts at insurrection
in Kabul, which obliged the King to proceed there in great haste ;
but fearing also for the tranquillity of Kandahar, he left there
a part of his army, and the Serdar Mir Ali Khan, a devoted,
energetic, and intelligent man, as governor.

While Zeman Shah was in a state of complete uncertainty
as to what step he should take to pacify his kingdom, Fethi
Khan, who had, as well as his brothers, devoted himself to
the cause of Mahmood Mirza, urged that prince to enter Afghan-
1stan once more, and overthrow his brother. Their pressing soli-
citations at length prevailed, and he marched on Ghain, but,
on his arrival in that district, he saw that the inhabitants did
not feel disposed to pardon him for the check they had sus-
tained, owing to his flight when they formed part of his army
before Herat, and that in consequence they were very little inclined
to assist him. Mahmood almost regretted having left Turchiz,
and thought of returning ; but Fethi Khan somewhat restored his
courage, and induced him to renounce this intention. At the
gsame time he sent two of his brothers to the fortress of Furrah,
to endeavour to keep matters quiet and obtain intelligence ; this
was easy enough, for the inhabitants of that town were entirely
devoted to Mahinood Mirza, to whom they opened their gates
when he presented himself before them, accompanied only by
eighteen horsemen, which formed all his army. This success
obtained for him the support of some chiefs of Khorassan, and he
soon found himself at the head of a small force. He then made
an appeal to the Afghan nation, and in the manifesto which he
issued he drew a vivid picture of the cruelties and vices of Zeman
Shah and his minister Vefadar Kban, and announced his design
of marching on Kabul, to deliver the people from their oppres-
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gion. 'The tribe of the Barukzyes, who recogmised Fethi Khan
as their chief, hastened en masse to place themselves under the
orders of their young general, and this example was soon fol-
lowed by the greater number of the Dooranee tribes, when Mah-
mood marched on Kandahar. The governor, Mir Ali Khan, in-
formed of his approach, went out to meet lum at the head of
four thousand cavalry, but, completely routed and forced to fly, he
had scarcely time to retire within the citadel. Mahmood Mirza
followed him step by step, and invested the city, which he be-
sieged without success during forty-two days. At length, on
the forty-third the assault was given, and Fethi Khan, who
conducted 1it, was the first man that scaled the walls, and his
goldiers followed rapidly. They were treacherously aided by
Bakhch Khan and Hassan Khan, two Afghan chiefs, who, osten-
sibly of the Shah Zeman’s party, were secretly doing all they
could to make that of Mahmood Mirza triumph, and but for their
help the place would not have been taken without great difficulty.
When Mir Ali Khan saw that the affair was desperate, he ordered
these two traitors to be brought into his presence, and, feeling
sure of their perfidy, put them to death on the spot, after which he
mounted his horse and escaped by a secret door, accompanied
only by a few horsemen.

Directly Mahmood Mirza was in possession of Kandahar he
was obliged to levy a large sum upon the inhabitants for the
maintenance of his army ; but the persuasive manners and talents
of Fethi Khan induced them to support this contribution with-
out murmuring, and they remained devoted to the prince. On
hearing what was passing at Kandabar, Zeman Shah sent an
army of 15,000 horse, under the command of the Serdar Ahmed
Khan, against Mahmood, for he was averse to leaving the capital
himself for fear he should lose it in his absence. This officer
was but little satisfied with the Shah, and still less so with his
minister Vefadar Khan, and, in the hope that he would be better
treated by Mahmood, he went over to him, with all his army, at
Mookpoor. In anticipation of ulterior events, Shah Zeman had,
after the departure of Abmed Khan, assembled fresh troops, but
when they heard of the defection of the corpe under that serdar
they at once disbanded and retired to their homes. An outbreak
occurring at the same time in Kabul, Zeman Shah was under the
necessity of evacuating the city and retiring in the direction of
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Jellalabad. On leaving the gates of the capital he had with him
only two hundred cavalry and four bundred artillerymen, with their
guns, stores, and ammunition ; his minister, Vefadar Khan, and the
Serdar Zeman Khan, Popolzye, were the only chiefs who re-
mained faithful, and they retired with him and his party within
the fortified village of Kaleh Acheg, the name of its owner, and im-
mediately set to work to repair the walls and provision it. From
hence a fresh appeal was made to the partizans of the Shah, and,
as the royal treasure was still in his bands, he was joined by a
pretty good number of recruits, but much more in the hope of
receiving high pay than from any devotion to his person. How-.
ever that might be, Zeman again found himself in a position to
give battle to his brother.

After the 15,000 cavalry of Ahmed Khan had joined the army
of Mabmood Mirza, the prince marched rapidly upon and seized
Kabul, without meeting with the slightest resistance. The Emir
Islam Khan and Djaffer Khan, two Kuzzilbash chiefs, who only
could have defended the city, were allied by marriage to the
Mohamedzyes, and went over fo their side the moment they
appeared.

Mahmood, thus successful, decided upon dislodging Zeman
Shah from the fortified position he had taken up. The task was
a difficult onme, for the latter had saved all lis artillery, while
the prince had not ome single piece to oppose to him. Never-
theless, he hesitated not, and again took the field. The armies
of the two brothers met at the halt of Ouchpane, when that of
the Shah was completely beaten and dispersed, and he had the
greatest difficulty in regaining Kaleh Acheg: Mahmood fol-
lowed him, and immediately assaulted his adversary’s stronghold,
but, defended by both nature and art, and garrizoned by brave
men determined to die for their king, it resisted for eleven days
the continuous efforts of the besiegers. Iowever, the time had
arrived when they could hold out no longer, and the Shah, accom-
panied by the serdars who were with him, escaped during the mght,
and retired into another small fortress near Jugdulluk, also belong-
ing to Acheg Khan, This chief, alarmed at the probability
that disastrous consequences might result to him for the hospi-
tality he had shown to his sovereign, sent a messenger to Mahmood
to inform him of the Shah’s retreat. The prince immediately
sent a serdar, with a strong escort and a surgeonm, to the spot
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which the Khan had designated, when Zeman was taken prisoner,
and, in conformity with the orders of Mahmood, his eyes were
immediately put out —a punishment he richly merited for the
same cruelty which he had practised upon Humayoon Mirza,
his elder brother. Vefaudar Khan, Zeman Khan, Popolzye, and
Mohamed Khan, the brother of the Vizier, also taken prisoners
with Shah Zeman, were sent to Kabul, and there publicly exe-
cuted 'Thus terminated the career of this ambitious minister, who
could only govern by intrigue and murder, and this in order that
he might supplant his master, which he would have done, had not
his couragefailed him at the moment his plan was on the eve of
execution. He perished by a death to which he had condemned
hundreds, and which he so thoroughly deserved himself.

Though blind, Shah Zeman, with the assistance of a few devoted
friends, subsequently managed to deceive the vigilance of his guards,
and fled to Bokhara, where fresh misfortunes awaited him. His
daughter, who followed him in his exile, and who was remarkable
for her great beauty, was torn with violence from him by the Emir
Haidar Turreh, who had inherited from his father a hatred of the
Suddozye family. After this abduction he was on the point of
putting Zeman to death, which would infallibly have happened, if
be had not again succeeded in making his escape.

From Bokhara this king, hitherto so powerful, but now so unfor-
tunate, went to Herat, which was then governed by the Prince
Hadji Fircoz Eddin, half-brother of the Shah Mahmood, who
respected his misfortunes and gave him a generous reception;
and after baving treated him in the most hospitable manner
during several months, he gave him an escort which secured
his safe retreat to India. Zeman retired to Loodiana, where
he lived on a pension from the East India Company, devoted to
the observances of his faith, and did not at any subsequent period
mix himself up with the revolutions of which his country was so
frequently the theatre after his fall. He was still living in 1846.
This prince, like all the Afghans, was cruel ; but this arose much
more from the fact that he was influenced by a bad minister,
in whom he placed too much confidence, and who knew how to
inspire him with chimerical fears, than because he was of a na-
turally cruel disposition, and wished to gratify it. His greatest
crime was, that he was abeolute, and would reign on that principle.
This wounded the pride of the serdars, and was in opposition to
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the received opinions amongst them as to the extent of the sove-
reign power. With a different vizier, he might have hoped that
his reign would be as long, and possibly more glorious, than that
of his father, for he was personally very brave, very active, always
on horseback, bringing one war to a conclusion only to commence
another ; nor was he wanting in intelligence: but he lost all his
future chances by making the Mohamedzye chiefs discontented, for
their rights to the great offices of the state were quite as gacred in
the eyes of the Afghans as those of the Suddozyes to the throne,
The moment he endeavoured to abrogate those rights his fall be-
came certain; but, in spite of the sanguinary executions he was
guilty of at the instigation of his minister, the Afghans have a

greater respect for his memory than that of any of the other sons
of Timoor Shah.
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CHAPTER X.

Mahmood ascends the throne — First acts of#the Shah — Revolt of the Ghildj-
gyes — Eaissar Mirza is driven from Herat — Hadji Fircoz Eddin made
governor of that city — Knisear Mirza sttacks him, but is obliged to retire —
Eamran, a son of Mahmood, and Kaissar alternately take possession of Kau-
dahar — Disorders and conflict with the Kuzzilbashes — Peace is restored at
Kabul — Conspiracy against Shah Mahmood — He is dethroned — His brother
Shooja succeeds him — Mahmood rvmains & prisoner — Kamran is expelled
from Kandalar by Kaissar Mirza — The latter, defeated by the Heratees,
evacuates the city — The Persians besiege Herat — They are beaten snd retire —
S8hah 8hooja marches against the Talpooras — Returme to Kabul — English
embassy to Kabul — Difficulties of the reign of Shah Shonja — The Serdar Fethi
Kban intrigues and flies from Kabul — He is arrested by Kaissar Mirza — Doat
Mohamed escapes and pillages Baknoa — Shere dil Khan assists 8hah Mahmood
to escape — The latter and the Mohamedzyee release Fethi Khan — Mahmood
marches on Kabul — Seizea the city — Battle of Nevmla — Bhooja ia put to
flight — Endeavours to keep the field — Retires to Loodiana,

Arrer seven years of conflict and misfortunes Mahmood Mirza
ascended the throne of his fathers in the year 1800, and when
Zeman Shah was overthrown he took the title of Shah, and
made his solemn entry into Kabul. le behaved with the ut-
most generosity to his troops, even to such an extent that he
exhausted the greater part of the treasure accumulated in the
coffers of the state by his father and grandfather. He also
enriched the chiefs who had assisted him, and gave them the
highest appointments at his court : the Serdar Fethi Khan received
the title of Shah Doort Khan;* Shere Mohamed Khan, son of
the Vizier Shah Velee Khan, was named Mooktar-ed-Dooulet, and
to him was delegated the government.of the kingdom ; the Serdar
Abdullah Khan, Ali Kioozye, father of Yar Mohamed Khan,
who had been coofined in the Bala Hissar by Shah Zeman, was
released from that fortress, and made Governor of Cashmeer ; and,
finally, he sent his son Kamran Mirza, with several brothers of the
Serdar Fethi Khan, against Shooja-ool-Moolk, who commanded at
Peshawur, to take the city and seize that prince. Shooja did
not wait for them, but fled at their approach; so Kamran took
possession of Peshawur without any fighting.

* Friend of the king.— Ferrier.
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A few capital punishments, which Mahmood ordered after his
installation to power, excited a little irritation amongst the nomade
tribes, the chiefs of which had more especially felt the effects of
his anger ; but as these rigorous measures affected his adversaries
only, the Shah’s party felt no uneasiness, and considered that he
had a right to chastise those who had been opposed to him.
Nevertheless the Ghildjzyes, the born enemies of every Abdalee
sovereign, revolted at the outset against his authority, and were
desirous of placing one of their own tribe upon the throne;
Mahmood .was obliged to send the Serdars Fethi Khan and
Abmed Khan against the rebels, who beat them in four or five
encounters, and terminated the revolt by makng them conform
to the existing state of things.

On the other hamd, fortune came to the aid of the Shah Mahmood ;
for Kaissar Mirza, the son of Shah Zeman, lost the government of
Herat, and this without any attempt on the part of Mahmood to
dispossess him of it. The circumstances were as follows :—

Mir Efzel Khan, the Vizier of Kaissar Mirza, conceived the
idea of overthrowing the prince immediately after the fall of his
father, and at this intrigue he worked ardently, and formed with
great ease a powerful party on which he could entirely rely.
When he thought he was sufficiently powerful, he resolved on
putting Kaissar to death, but the prince, informed of the plot in
time, escaped from Herat, and sought refuge at Kaff-rooge, a town
of Khorassan, leaving his wives and children under the protec-
tion of the Serdar Kalech Khan, who, though less influential than
Mir Efzel Khan, was still sufficiently powerful not to be apprehen-
sive on account of the support and protection he gave to this
unfortunate family.

After the flight of Kaissar Mirza, Mir Efzel, well convinced that
Shah Mahmood, occupied at this time with the Ghildjzyes, could
not by any possibility come and disturb him, endeavoured to esta-
blish his authority in Herat. I'h: ‘nhabitants, who were attached
to him, would not agree to this except with a certain reserva-
tion; but, on the other hand, they rejected and repelled the
secret intrigues of Kalech Khan, the antagonist of the usurper,
who wished to assassinate him. The Heratees demanded that
Efzel Khan, though retaining the appointment of vizier, which
they guaranteed him, should receive as governor, in the place of
Kaissar Mirza, one of the blood royal, unless he preferred the
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return of that prince himself; but Mir Efzel, fearing the resent-
ment of the latter, hastened to find a successor agreeably to the
wishes of the people.

Hadji Firooz Eddin, who, as we have already remarked, retired
to Teberan, had on leaving that capital gone on a pilgrimage
to Mecca. On his return Afghanistan was groaning under the
sanguinary executions of Shah Zeman, and the war was then going
on between him and Mahmood Mirza ; the Hadji, who was anxious
not to be a witness of these sad scenes, retired therefore to Turchiz
in Khorassan, which the Shah of Persia had assigned to him as his
residence, and here he occupied himself in the purchase and sale
of horses, camels, and other beasts of burden. An envoy from
Mir Efzel Khan came to him there, and proposed for his
acceptance the government of Herat; but this prince, devoid of
ambition, and caring little for the grandeur of such a position,
declined the offer, preferring to continue his commercial pursuits.
This refusal was not at all to the taste of Mir Efzel, who, pressed
by the intrigues of Kalech Khan, was more earnestly solicited from
day to day to recall Kaissar Mirza. To allay, therefore, the
impatience of the people, he pretended that he had received a
letter from Hadji Firooz Eddin accepting the government of the
city ; this, however, he had himself forged, and, contemporane-
ously with making the letter public, despatched in haste a few
horzemen to T'urchiz, who, under the pretext of wishing to purchase
some horses, induced the prince to meet them in a retired spot,
when they carried him off by main force, and brought him to
Herat, nolens volens, where he was obliged to accept the title of
Governor.

Kaissar Mirza, seeing that his uncle had carried the day
against him, would not submit to the decision of the Heratees,
and marched against Herat at the head of a small army of
Afghans and Khorassanees, which he had succeeded in raising,
Hadji Firooz allowed him to advance as far as Shekivar, a
village situated twenty-one miles west of Herat, where he
attacked his adversary, when Kaissar was completely worsted,
and obliged to take to flight. In accordance with a plan
agreed upon previously, and of which the troops had been
informed, the prince after his defeat directed his course south-
ward into the plain of Bakooa, where the fugitives went to

rejoin him ; when they all arrived he marched against Kandahar,
K 2
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hoping to surprise Kamran Mirza, who commanded there, and
capture that city. In this attempt, as it turned out, he was
successful, but a few days after the inhabitants revolted, and drove
him out of Kandahar. Kamran Mirza, who had retired to Kelat
i Ghildjzye, was recalled by them, so that these two princes
succeeded each other three times during the space of two months,
according as the party which supported either had the upper hand ;
nevertheless Kamran Mirza finished by remaining master of the
position, and Kaissar fled once more.

Mahmood Mirza had been the sovereign ruler of Afghanistan
during two years and six months, when the city of Kabul became
the scene of sanguinary disorders, originating in a religious schism
between the Afcghans, who are Soonees, and the Kuzzilbashes
of the sect of Shiahs; these riots seriously compromised the
power of Shah Mahmood, nevertheless he surmounted the diffi-
culty, but the support he gave to the heretical Shiahs alienated
the Afghans from him, and contributed greatly to his fall, which
took place some short time after.

These disorders were occasioned by a circumstance arising out. of
the horrible inclination: the Persians have for a vice which it would
sully these pages to mention. Some of the Kuzzilbashes secreted
for several days a young Afghan lad of great beauty in their house,
during which time he was treated in the most infamous manner,
and this not only from their depraved passions, but from their
hatred to Soonees. Restored to liberty, the youth informed his
parents of what had taken place, when they immediately complained
to Shah Mabmood ; but the king, not wishing to alienate the Kuzzil-
bashes, whose adResion had been, and might be again, of great
service to him, refused to legislate upon the matter, and forwarded
it to the religious tribunal from which it came. The injured
parties, although dissatisfied in that the Shah eluded their com-
plaint, nevertheless conformed to his orders, and procceded to
the mosque to consult the Syud Mir Vaéz, a man highly venerated
by the Afghans, and whose hostility to the Shah Mahmood was no
secret to any one. When the complainants appeared, the Syud
was preaching to an immense crowd of persons, and they inter-
rupted him to make known their business with loud cries and
rending their clothes. On learning the nature of it, Mir Vaez
at once gave them a fetvo authorising the extermination of all the
Shiahs in Kabul, whom he held in detestation. When it was
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known that this fetvo had been issued, the Afghans assembled in
arms, and in great numbers, around the mosque, and afterwards
went, full of excitement, to exterminate the Kuzzilbashes. The
first place to which they proceeded was the quarter of the Khaffis,
a people originally from Khaff, massacred all those whom they met,
and pillaged and burnt their houses. Recovered in some degree fromn
the first movement of surprise which this sudden attack had caused
them, the Kuzzilbashes assembled, fully determined to defend their
property and their lives to the last extremity. Nevertheless, their
situation became every moment more critical, for, after a stout de-
fence of two days, they saw, on the morning of the third, all the
heights that commanded their position occupied by the Afghans
from the neighbouring villages, who had come to the assistance of
the citizens. The Shah Mahmood had sent Mooktar ed Dooulet
and Ahmed Khan several times to the assailants, to endeavour to
prevail upon them to desist from their sanguinary intentions, but
this step, instead of appeasing, only irritated them the more,
excited as they were by the mollahs and some serdars, who were
jealous of the favour shown to the Kuzzilbash chiefs by the Shah.
After four days’ fighting, during which four hundred persons at
least, and on either side, had lost their lives, the Serdar Fethi
Khan, who, by reason of the alliances which existed .between his
family and the Kuzzilbashes, had, up to this time, refrained from
taking any part in the affair, became alarmed, and, apprehensive
that things might take a still more serious turn, was anxious to put
some bounds to the furious harangues of Mir Vagz, who spared not
even royalty itself. Fethi Khan therefore stepped forward, and,
with his brother, declaring in favour of the Kuzzilbashes, rushed at
the head of their partisans upon the disturbers of public order, and

dispersed them with matchlock and sabre, to the great regret
of the serdars opposed to Mahmood, who were also envious of the
favour in which he was held by his sovereign. From this moment
they conspired against them, and sworc to overthrow them both.
An occasion for doing this did not present itself for two years, when
Fethi Khan was obliged to march with an army to Bamian to put
down some disorders amongst the Hazarahs. Immediately after
his departure, Mir Vaéz, the Serdar Ahmed Khan, and Mooktar ed -
Dooulet, the principal chiefs of the conspiracy, sent an express to
the prince Shooja-ool-Moolk, the younger brother of Shah Mah-
mood, requesting him to come immediately to Kabul, and overthrow
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the latter, promising to give him their support and that of the
Afghans in general. This prince, who had received information of
this plot long before, was not very far distant from Peshawur, which
he had secretly approachied, and, on the receipt of the letter written
him by the conspirators, advanced rapidly towards Kabul with all
the men he could collect. Shah Mahmood was one of the last
persons who heard of his arrival, for no one bad revealed the fact to
him, and he only ascertained it by remarking the excitement which
everywhere prevailed. He was not a person who could suggest to
himself the energetic measures which the exigencies of the moment
required, and the man of action who had placed him on the throne,
and through whom he governed, namely, Fethi Khan, was at a
distance, and wholly ignorant of what was passing at Kabul—
all the warriors who had been despatched to him by Shah Mah-
mood had also been detained, and could not join him in person,
for he was closely watched in his palace.

Feeling the imminence of his danger, Mahmood took refuge in
the Bala Iissar, and the inhabitants, satisfied by keeping an eye
upon him from the outside of the citadel, went in crowds to meet
Shooja-ool-Moolk, whom they brought into the city in triumph,
and placed on the throne amidst the loudest acclamations.

I have, up-to this point, followed the manuscripts of two Eastern
authors, whose works I have frequently quoted in the course of my
narrative : that of Mirza Ali Mobhamed has led me only to the
cloee of the Afghan dominion in Persia ; from that period, up to the
arrival of Shah Shooja at Kabul, I have drawn my materials from
the writings of Abdullah Khan Heratee, pich- Khetmet, gentleman
of the chamber, or equerry, to the Shah Kamran of Herat; but
I must add that his narrative is very summary and destitute of
dates; and I have been obliged to make researches elsewhere to
find thoee I have recorded. I have also joined to the information
taken from his manuscript many other particulars which I collected
myself during my travels in Afghanistan, from the mouths of con-
temporaries of Shah Ll'imoor and of his sons, who themselves took
part in the events of those times. 'The reign of Shah Shooja-ool-
Moolk is the one upon which I am not so well informed, and,
having no European library to refer to, it will be impossible for me
to fill up the very important omissions which, without doubt, exist
in the history of this reign.

The first act of Shah Shooja, as king, was to seize Shah
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Mabmood, delivered up to him by his own guards, and to
order the lex talionis to be enforced by putting out his eyes, as
Mahmood had done those of the Shah Zeman; Mooktar ed
Dooulet having interceded for him, Shooja revoked this order out
of consideration to his supporter; but he detained the ex-king a
prisoner, and confined him in a dungeon of the Bala Iissar.

After having taken this precautionary measure, the king confided
a division of his army to s nephew Kaissar Mirza, the son of
Shah Zeman, in order that he might turn Kamran Mirza, a son of
Mabmood Shah, out of Kandahar, where he commanded; but,
meeting half-way Alem Khan, nephew of the Serdar Ahmed Khan,
he learnt, greatly to his satisfaction we may presume, that this had
already been done. The inhabitants had risen at the instigation
of Alem Khan, and driven Kamran from the city ; no opposition,
therefore, was offered to the prince on entering Kandahar, of
which, in virtue of new orders from his uncle, he became governor.
On leaving the city, Kamran Mirza took the road towards Herat,
where his uncle Hadji Firooz Eddin gave him a kind reception, and
confided to him the government of the district of Furrah, adjacent to
Kandahar, where he was in a position to observe the events that
were passing in that city, and to lay hands upon it by surprise, or
otherwise, as occasion might present itself.

Some time after Hadji Firooz Eddin, influenced by his mother,
who was also the mother of Shah Mahmood, consented to march an
army against Kabul, and make an attempt to release his brother ; he
gave the command of these troops to his son Malek Kassem Mirza
and his nephew Kamran Mirza. The prince Kaissar, tardily in-
formed of their march, came out nevertheless from Kandabar and
attacked the Heratees near Kaleh d’Azim Khan, but he was beaten
and forced to fly once more, leaving the victors masters of Kandahar.
Hadp Firooz Eddin had scarcely obtained this success when he
learnt that Mohamed Velee Mirza, Governor-General of Khorassan,
had marched an army commanded by the Naib Mohamed Khan
Kadjar to take Herat. lle therefore recalled his nephew and his
son, who abandoned in their turn Kandahar to Kaissar Mirza.
While awaiting their arrival, Hadji Firooz Eddin assembled in
haste a few thousand horse of the Eimak tribes, and moved out
of Herat to meet the Persians; the encounter took place near
Chekivan, but he was beaten and obliged to make a speedy retreat
into Herat, which was soon besieged by the victors. The Persians
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had good artillery, and their troops had received for some time past
a certain amount of instruction and organization on the European
system ; they might therefore hope to make themselves masters of
the place in a short space of time. But this hope was not realized,
owing to their want of vigilance, for the Afghan princes, returning
from Kandahar, fell upon their rear, which they put to the rout,
while Hadji Firooz sallied from the city and attacked them in
front, so that, taken between two fires, they must have thought them-
gelves fortunate in being able to effect their retreat with the loes
of a few hundred men killed and three or four guns taken. They
repaid themselves however for this check by ravaging the country
through which. they retreated, and bringing with them to Meshed
more than one hundred thousand cattle.

This was the first time after the death of Nadir Shah that the
Persians put forward their claims to Herat; since then they have
made very many attempts to take it, without more success than in
this instance : nevertheless they have exercised from this period a
certain influence upon its governor, who, for the sake of being at
peace with them, acknowledged, although evasively, the suzerainty
of the Shah of Persia after this attack ; and agreed to pay a tribute,
the terms of which were left altogether undetermined : neither the
amount nor the time it was to be paid was stated ; it was much or
little according to circumstances and the means which the Persians
might have of enforcing payment. Shah Shooja had enough trouble
to consolidate his power in Kabul, for a thousand factions were in
a state of agitation around bim; he punished some and compro-
mised matters with others, and had at length succeeded in establish-
ing some order. The Serdar Fethi Khan, after his return from
Bamian, attached himself to his party and became one of his minis-
ters ; it was this chief who advised him to give up his life of repose
and make war, which alone could conciliate and obtain for him the
respect of the Afghans. As the Shah had a predilection for a
military life, this advice was adopted, the invasion of Scinde re-
golved upon, and, after having assembled an army of 30,000 men,
the king marched on that country. The chief of the Talpooras
endeavoured to avoid the storm, and sent his minister Walee
Mohamed Khan to the Shah, offcring to pay him 320,000!. which
he was indebted to him for arrears of tribute ; but the Serdar Fethi
Khan, who saw the king was inclined to accept this offer, opposed it
in every way that he could. His advice would most probably have
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been listened to if disastrous intelligence had not been received from
Kabul : the northern tribes were in a state of agitation, and the
capital itself was not tranquil ; which reasons induced the Shah
to terminate his misunderstanding with the Emirs of Scinde and
accept the 320,0001.,, which having done he returned in great haste
to Kabul. Having restored tranquillity there, he made an expe-
dition eastward, with a view of retaking possession of Cashmeer, and
reducing the Serdar Runjeet Sing, Governor of Lahore, tv obedience ;
but he failed in this enterprise also, and returned to Kabul, having
suffered considerable losses.

Though Shah Shooja’s reign was so short, it was nevertheless one
of those which had the greatest chance of being prosperous. The
Afghans seemed tired of the demon of discord, but unfortunately
there was nothing of a conciliatory character about the Shah; be
alienated those whom he had the greatest interest in attaching to
his cause, and an unforeseen occurrence, by which he ought to have
obtained strength, served only to excite in him the love of absolute
authority, and in the end turned to his prejudice.

The British government, after having subdued in succession all
the sovereigns of India one after the other, saw itself menaced in
the middle of its triumphs by a danger against which it sought
to protect itself by all the means in its power. The Emperors
Napoleon and Alexander had just agreed to undertake an hostile ex-
pedition against India, passing through Persia. Feth Ali Shah, who
then reigned in the latter country, was not so gtanch an ally that
‘England could trust him; she thought therefore of establishing
her first line of defence beyond the Persian frontier, and sought the
fnendshlp of the Afghans to form her advanced guard, With this
policy in view, the Governor-General of India sent Mr. Elphinstone
as ambassador to Kabul, where he made a treaty of alliance offen-
sive and defensive with Shah Shooja-ool-Moolk ; the ambassador
was exceedingly well received, and each day the Shah gave him a
fresh entertainment in the royal palace. The siege of Herat, which
Mohamed Velee Mirza had just undertaken, and the result of
which had been so unfortunate, was the counterpart to this embassy.
It is well known how the rupture which took place between France
and Russia, and the ascendancy obtained by England at the court
of ‘I'cheran by scattering her gold on all sides, led to the failure of
Napoleon’s plans, which might otherwise have been completely
successful, and overthrown the then political state of India.
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Shah Shooja-ool-Moolk had the reputation, and with reason,
of being the most talented of the sons of Timoor Shah. With
great firmness of character and tried courage, it was plamly to be
seen by more than one circumstance that he was not a man to
support intrigues, or serve as an instrument to a party. It was,
therefore, a little against the grain that the serdars had submitted
to the coercion of Mir Vaéz, Ahmed Khan, and Mooktar-ed-
Dooulet, the result of which was the elevation of Shah Shooja to the
throne ; for they clearly saw that under such a sovereign they must
take a straight course and obey without making those representa-
tions which the Afghans love so much to present to their superiors.
Pressed by circumstances, they could not do otherwise than accept
the candidate for the throne without conditions, for his usurpation
was the only means by which they could withdraw themselves
from the vengeance of Shah Mahmood, and that of the Serdar
‘Fethi Khan, in the eyes of whom they had become ostensibly
compromised since the unfortunate day when the Soonees, and
Shiahs had massacred one another in the city of Kabul. Never-
theless, they still hoped that in accepting Shah Shooja as king he
would keep his authority within just limits ; but they were mistaken,
for the Shah, who at once penetrated their intentions, cut short
all their demands from the very day he ascended the throne,
by an act of sovereign power of the most abeolute character. This
tyrannical feeling soon became habitual to him, and it increased
by degrees with all those who displeased him, however powerful or
influential they might be. The Mohamedzyes themselves were
deprived of their appointments, and their chief, Fethi Khan, dis-
graced by the king. The serdars, who vegetated in obecurity and
were the least to be feared, were taken from their retreats and
placed in positions of importance—in a word, Shooja shook himself
free from the yoke, and transformed everything, and he never after-
wards gave any proofs of that independent spirit which had led
others to have such an high opinion of him when he was only a
prince of the blood. But it must be admitted, and to his praise,
that he was always grateful to those who had raised him to power:
Mir Vaéz, Ahmed Khan, and Mooktar-ed-Dooulet, were much
more his friends than his dependents ; but this friendship could not
preserve them from the sad fate that awaited them ; and they fell all
three from the elevated rank in which fortune had placed them by
the revolutions which the Barukzyes and their numerous adherents
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stirred up amongst the Afghans. Mooktar-ed-Dooulet, obliged to
give up the post of vizier in favour of the Serdar Akrem Khan,
was in prison, and it was without doubt from the day that he retired
from affairs that the decadence in the reign of Shah Shooja may be
dated. The Serdar Ahmed Khan, less unfortunate than Mooktar,
died sword in hand, while putting down a revolt in which the
most faithful of the Shah’s friends lost their lives. The sons of
these two chiefs, who exercised so great an influence over the
Afghans, took from that time part in the revolt, and from this
moment the reign of Shah Shooja-ool-Moolk was nothing more than
a succession of dangers, sufferings, and bitter anxiety. If he had
been content to remove with some show of reason those who impeded
the march of government by their intrigues, or if, while repressing
them with more severity, he had acted with justice on the flagrant
proofs of their crimes, the restless dieposition of the Afghans would
not have been alarmed, and he might have aspired to a reign not
less glorious than that of his grandfather Ahmed Shah, with whom
he had more than one point of resemblance. But he was capricious
and singular like his brother Zeman, whose cruelty was necessary
to consolidate the power in his own hands. ‘

Discontent soon became general amongst all classes of Shah
Shooja’s subjects, even amongst his most devoted adherents, who
also murmured loudly ; but without taking into consideration their
irritation and remonstrances, he continued to give vent to his
baughty and absolute disposition. The Afghans, who saw in him
the most talented of the Suddozyes, resisted for a long time the
wishes of their serdars, who, habituated to raise and depose their
kings, were anxious to be rid of him ; and the want of agrecment
on the choice of a successor which they must give the nation
was the reason why they delayed his fall indefinitely. There is
even some probability that this prince would have been able to
maintain his hold upon the throne if the Serdar Fethi Khan had
not been amongst the number of his adversaries ; Shooja imagined
he could despise him, and, instead of conciliating him, which would
have been the wisest course, he did everything to increase his dis-
satisfaction, 'This false policy cost hm dear.

After his disgrace Fethi Khan, disliking Kabul as a residence,
proceeded to Kandahar, his native city, and in the environs of
which the greater part of the tribe of the Barukzyes resided. 'When
he arrived Kaissar Mirza was governor, aund he promised that he
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should be respected and protected by him as long as he did not
interfere in the affairs of government. Fethi Khan was not then in
a position to make conditions, and was obliged to accept those which
were offered him; but he prepared everything in secret for the
restoration of Shah Mahmood. Whether Kaissar was informed of
this, or whether he thought the step necessary to his uncle’s safety,
he ordered the serdar to be seized on his leaving an audience which
had been accorded him; and the officers who were commis-
sioned to arrest him precipitated themselves upon him with such
violence that he fell with his face to the ground, and knocked out
several of his teeth. Profiting by this circumstance, they gagged
him to stop his cries, bound his feet and his hands, and made him
a close prisoner; his young brother, Dost Mohamed Khan, who
was near him, assisted by a few servants, attempted his rescue, but,
overpowered by numbers, he was obliged to take to flight to escape
the same treatment. He succeeded, however, in collecting a few
hundred Barukzyes in the city, and with these attacked the citadel,
but, received by a volley from the garrison, he was obliged to retire,
and, hastily leaving the town, retreated to the fortress of Girshk,
the governor of which was devoted to his family. After this he
scoured the plain of Bakooa with the Barukzyes who had followed
him, plundered the caravans, and soon found himself in possession
of 6)0L., which he spent in obtaining recruits and adherents to his
cause.

The Serdar Fethi Khan had previously to his arrest despatched °
his brother Shere dil Khan to Kabul, with the view of facilitating
the escape of Shah Mahmood from prison, and recommended him,
above all things, not to permit any Afghan to take part in this
enterprise, but to employ Kuzzilbashes exclusively. This Persian
tribe, as we have already stated, consisted of 12,000 families when
they were brought to Kabul by Nadir Shah, but subsequently to the
death of that conqueror their numbers had considerably augmented.
Up to the reign of Shah Mahmood the Afghans treated them
upon a footing of equality, but after the sanguinary conflict
which arose between them on the occasion of the horrible crime
committed by these Persian colonists they were oppressed in every
kind of way, though Fethi Khan had always remained on good
terms with them, which led them very naturally to assist him in
delivering Shah Mahmood. The undertaking was a difficult one,
for Shah Shooja kept him closely guarded ; but whatever might have
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been the vigilance of his gaolers, the Kuzzilbashes finished Ly
evading 1. Tools were sccretly conveyed to the prisoner, and
such was the energy with which he used them, that in eight hours
be had dug down to the conduit by which he was to escape beyond
the city walls. It was night when he gained the outside, and the
Kuzzilbashes, who were on the watch, conducted him to a tomb
in a churchyard situated near the walls of the Bala Hissar,
and, having covered the place of his retrcat with branches and
earth, they retired, recommending him to have patience for a few
days until the pursuit which it was certain would take place began
to slacken. The next morning a hundred emissaries were de-
spatched on every side, with orders to put him to death directly
he fell into their hands, but the majority of them soon returned to
inform the Shah that their endeavours to find him had been
unavailing. After having passed several days in this subterranean
abode, Mahmood learnt that his brother had made useless search for
him : he therefore left his retreat in the middle of the night, and,
accompanied by Shere dil Khan and a few devoted adherents
galloped southward, when they were soon joined by Dost
Mobamed Khan, in whose company they plundered three rich
caravans  With the proceeds of these robberics they were enabled
to raise a small force, after which they acted upon a larger.scale ;
the villages were in their turn put under contribution, and they
then laid siege to Kandabar.

During three months Kaissar Mirza repulsed all the attacks of the
besiegers, but after this, being without either provisions or munitions
of war, he came to a compromise with them, setting the Serdar.
Fethi Khan at liberty, on condition that they raised the siege and
retired from Kandahar. When the serdar was released, Mahmood
Shah was strongly inclined to break his promise, and constrain his
nephew to give up the city, but Fethi Khan prevented himn; he
represented to him that the throne was at Kabul, and not at
Kandahar, and this determined Mahmood to march on the capital ;
they left, nevertheless, two thousand Barukzye horse encamped
within & short distance from the former city.

When Shah Shooja heard that Kandahar was besieged by
Mahmood, he collected his troops and left Kabul with 25,000
picked men to relieve it, but after a few days’ march more than
half deserted ; the Kuzzilbashes especially all left his court and
returned to Kabul, which obliged the Shah to fall back on his
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capital, but he had scarcely arrived there when a revolt forced
him to evacuate it, and he retired and took up a position in a vast
plain surrounding the gardens of Neemla, near Gundamuck. Shah
Mahmood and Fethi Khan, who followed him close, remained in
Kabul only long enough to take possession of it ; they then coufided -
it to the care of the Kuzzilbashes, and hastened against Shah
Shooja, whose army was advantageously posted and numbered
20,000 combatants. Though mustering only 3000 horse, Fethi
Khan charged them with impetuosity at a moment when they
least expected it, and before they had even time to form up in
order of battle: the result was a complete rout, for it threw
the mass into utter confusion ; fear took possession of them, and
they fled from the field. Akrem Khan, the vizier of Shah Shooja,
was killed, and the king escaped to the mountains of the Khyber,
abandoning on the field of battle all his baggage and the royal
treasure, which, independent of a sum of 2,000,000, contained
precious stoncs of immense value. Shah Mahmood secured an
enormous booty, and entered Kabul amidst the acclamations of
the inconstant people of that city, mounted on an elephant which
Shah Shooja had ordered to be richly capﬂrmunﬂd for his own
triumphant entry into the capital.

Shah Shooja remained only a short time in the Khyber, and
retired soon after towards the south, where he hoped, by joining
his nephew, Kaissar Mirza, to take the offensive and regain his
crown. Directing his course towards Kandahar by the mountains
bordering the Indus, he obtained some recruits on the road ; but in
spite of the secrecy with which he endeavoured to conduct his march,
it became known, and, to add to his disgrace, his nephew was
driven from Kandahar by the Serdar Poor dil Khan, a brother
of Fethi Khan. After this Poor dil Khan attacked Shooja
with superior forces, who was fortunate in being able to escape
by a rapid flight; this was in 1809, four months having elapsed
between his first and second defeat. Powerless rather than dis-
couraged, he retired shortly after to Loodiana, where he resided
near his brother the Shah Zeman, living from that time, like that
prince, on the bounty of the East India Company, but not before
he had gone through many severe trials.
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CHAPTER XL

Sir A. Burnes' eketch of Shah Sheoja — Fethi Khan is appointed Vigier — Shalh
Mahmood devoted to pleasure — Influence of the vizier — Kamran, the son of
8hah Mahmood — Hia ferocious disposition — He kills his cousin Kaissar —
Fethi Khan reduces the Belooches — Eatablishes order and security — Afghan
alliance with the Sikhs — They unite and seize Cashimneer — Fethi Khan breaks
his word to the Sikhs — The latter eeize upon Attok — Brilliant exploit of
Dost Mohamed — Panic of the Afghans — Runjeet Sing pillages Cashmeer —
The pretensions of Persin on Herat — Hoosein Ali Mirza marches againat
that city — Fethi Khan marches to the relief of Herat — The vizier arrests
Hadji Firooz Eddin — The prince’s harem is violated and plundered by Dost
Mobamed — Flight of Mir Efzel Khan to Meshed — Battle of Kiuffir Kaleh —
Retreat of both parties — The Afghans obtain the plunder — Kamran conspires
against Fethi Khan — Shah Malmood cowumands the vizier's eyes to be put
out — Kamran arrives at Herat and executes the order — The brothers of the
vizier, Shere dil Khan and Kohendil Khan, escape — Poor dil Khan remains a

prisoner.

Sir ALELANDER BURNES, an enlightened and conscientious traveller
in Afghanistan, gives a sketch of the life which Shah Shooja led
after the battle of Neemla, 'This narrative was taken from a
little work written by Shah Shooja himself; I made every endea-
vour when in Afghanistan and Persia to procure this book, but
without result—as it is highly interesting, I present it here from
the pages of Burnes.

¢« After Shah Shooja-00l-Moolk had been defeated at Ncemla he
had wandered as a fugitive in various corners of his dominions;
and his adventures, which have been detailed by himself in a
small volume, are replete with interest. After his discomfiture at
Kandahar he was seized by Ata Mohamed Khan, the son of
his former vizier, and subjected to much indignity, He was for
some time confined in the fortress of Attok. The lancet was fre-
quently held over his eyes; and his keeper once took him into the
middle of the Indus, with his arms bound, threatening him with
instant death. The object of such severity was to extract from
him the celebrated dianond called Koh-i-Noor, or mountain of
light, which he was known to possess, In the mean while Ata
Mohamed Khan proceeded to Cashmeer, and carried the cap-
tive monarch in his train. On the fall of that valley he was
released by Futeh Khan and joined his family at Lahore. His
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queen, as I may well call the Waffadar Begum, the most influen-
tial lady of his bharem, had used every persuasion to prevent
Shooja’s placing himself in the power of Runjeet Sing, but he dis-
regarded her advice, and in the end had ample reason to regret
his baving neglected it. This lady was a woman of most bold and
determined character ; and her counsel had often proved valuable
to her husband, both in his days of power and disaster.

“ At Lahore, while at the mercy of the Sikhs, and absent from
her husband, she preserved her own and his honour in & most
heroic manner. Runject Sing pressed her urgently to surrender
the Koh-i-Noor, or valuable diamond which was in her possession ;
and evinced intentions of forcing it from her. He also sought to
transfer the daughters of the unfortunate king to his own harem.
The queen seized on the person who conveyed the message, and
had him soundly chastised. She also intimated to the Maharadja,
that, if he continued his dishonourable demands, she would pound
the diamond in a8 mortar, and first administer it to her daughters,
and those under her protection, and then swallow it herself: add-
ing, ¢ May the blood of all of us be on your head!” This lady
succeeded in the end in escaping from Lahore disguised as a
Hindoo ; and planned the deliverance of her husband, which shortly
followed. Thie was only effected at the expense of the great
diamond. A narration of the circumstances relative to its sur-
render would prove interesting, but it would be out of place in
this sketch, It is sufficient to mention that an imprisonment of
the closest nature, insult, aud even hunger, fell to the lot of this
unfortunate monarch.

“ The ungenerous part which the king of the Sikhs was enacting
towards her husband aroused the energies of the queen, who had
settled herself at the British station of Loodiana. She arranged
the placing of horses on the road, and Shooja and his people
made cvery exertion in Lahore. They hired all the houses which
adjoined those in which they lodged, and opened a paseage into
the street by cutting through scven walls. A few hours after
the household had retired to rest, the king descended by the aper-
ture and issued into the street in the dress of the Punjab. The
city wall had yet to be passed, and the gates were shut. Shooja
crept through the common sewer of the city, and fled with two
or three servants towards the hill country of Kishtwar. Here he
once more raised the standard of a monarch, and planned an
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attack on Cashmeer, in which he was assisted by the Rajah of
Kishtwar. The expedition would have been successful, for the
Governor of Cashmeer had evacuated his frontier position, but an
untimely season blocked the roads with snow, interrupted the
supplies, and once more frustrated the hopes of Shah Shooja.
Wandering by a cheerless and ungenial country, the Shah at
length reached the British station of Sabathoo in the outer Hima-
laya, from which he repaired to Loodiana, where his family had
found an asylum. He here joined them, and has since shared the
bounty of the British Government. Few monarchs and few men
have been subjected to greater reverses of fortune than Shooja-ool-
Moolk ; and we find our sympathies enlisted in his cause by a
knowledge of his misfortunes.”

Shah Mahmood had now for the second time reaped the fruits
of the clever combinations of Fethi Khan, whose military talents
were completely developed. It was much more in answer to
his appeal that the Afghans, particularly the powerful tribe of the
Barukzyes, had responded, than from any wish which they had
to see Shah Mahmood again upon the throme. This prince,
altbough tried by many vicissitudes, had learnt nothing by adver-
gity ; he wished for power with reference only to the sweets of
life and the pleasures which it procured, leaving to others the cares
of government. It was on the Serdar Fethi Khan that he heaped
these, either because he was convinced that it was impossible for
him to reign without the co-operation of that chief, or from a feel-
ing of gratitude, or, more likely still,"because he was convinced of
his great capacity; he made bim his prime minister, gave him
the most extensive powers, and laid upon him the difficult task of
governing the Afghan nation. From this time he gave himself
up to, and gratified, his depraved inclinations; effeminate and
gelf-indulgent, he thought of nothing but his pleasures and
orgies of every kind and description, living in utter ignorance
of all that was passing around him. Fethi Kban did not abuse
this unlimited confidence, and soon restored to his country the
splendour and glory of the days of the great Shah Ahmed, which
had totally disappeared since the pacific reign of his son Timoor.

The name of Fethi Khan soon became celebrated and popular
throughout Central Asia; the Afghans more especially held him
in the greatest admiration, and had, on the contrary, the greatest
contempt for their king. Nevertheless such was at this epoch

L
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the veneration they had for the Suddozyes, that they never
thought of dethroning him in favour of his fortunate and able
general. It is true many persons have given Feth Khan credit
for the most ambitious views, but on a close examination of the
facts one remains convinced that this chief was sincere when
he protested his devotion to the Shah, and was contented with the
high position to which his sovereign had raised him. What indeed
could he gain by becoming king? only another title, which would
have caused him immense embarrassment, and a host of enemies,
without giving bim more power. All the affairs of the kingdom
were submitted to his discretion ; he made his brothers in succession
governors of all the provinces; he bad the administration of the
finances and the army ; his orders were not subject to the least
control. What could he desire more? Nothing! and Shah
Mahmood considered himself extremely fortunate in having as
his minister a man who fulfilled his responsible and arduous
duties so well. But those who envied the minister did not find
him to their liking, and were constantly seeking for an opportunity
of inspiring the weak monarch with chimerical fears; amongst
these was his son Kamran, but his intrigues had no other result in
the first instance than to cause his own removal from office, and
under the following circumstances.

Kamran Mirza, after having rejoined his father under the
walls of Kandahar, returned with him to Kabul. This prince,
although still young, had already become remarkable for his
haughty exterior, cruelties without number, and a great inclination
for debauch, and he was on the point of proceeding to Kandahar as
governor of that province when he made himself conspicuous by
circumstances of a most odious character. His cousin Kaissar
Mirza, son of Shah Zeman, had not followed the example of Shah
Shooja, as after having been removed from his government, of
which Kamran was going to take possession, he made his sub-
mission to his uncle Shah Mahmood, and remained from that time
at Kabul under the special protection of the Serdar Fetbi Khan.
Kamran Mirza, who still entertained great resentment against the
prince for all the disappointments he had made him feel on various
occasions at Kandahar, ordered him to be seized one morning, and
put to the torture, with a view of forcing him to give up some
diamonds which he had forgotten to take with him in one of his
hurried flights from that city, and which he pretended had fallen
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mto his cousin’s possession. Shah Mahmood, having been informed
of this circumstance, immediately interfered, and fnade him release
his nephew, but a few days after, Kamran, meeting Kaisar
Mirza in one of the royal gardens, apostrophized the latter in most
opprobrious terms. Kaissar had the imprudence to reply, when
Kamran felled him to the earth with a wrestler's club which he
took from the hands of a person in his suite. Fethi Khan seized
this opportunity of representing to Shah Mahmood how his gon
with such a dispoeition might compromise himself with a nation =o
susceptible as the Afghans, and it was determined between the king
and his minister that no appointment should be given to Kamran
Mirza, and that he should for the future remain at court under the
surveillance of his father. From this moment the hatred of the
prince was redoubled against the vizier, and he was ever after
mixed up in all the intrigues and conspiracies that were formed
against him.

The first object of Fethi Khan, after the restoration of Shah
Mahmood to power, was to make the Emirs of Scinde and Belooch-
istan return to their duty; he then reduced to obedience the
gregter part of the tribe of the Hazarahs, settled in the heart of
the mountains of the Paropamisus. He also restored order in all
the provinces ; made the laws, the observance of which had been
very much relaxed, to be respected ; regulated the adminis-
tration, which, up to that period, had been in a most intricate
state, giving rise to the most nefarious exactions and embezzle-
ments of the most scandalous kind ; and lastly it might be said
that security reigned everywhere. This remarkable man united to
a superior genius a great aptitude for governing and for war:
not one of his predecessors had been able to reduce rebels
to obedience with the same promptitude, or keep them after-
wards in the path of duty; he struck hard, but he was generous
after the victory was gained, and shone by his excessive libe-
rality : always in the midst of combats, he still found time
to direct the helm of state, and was ready for everything,— .
in activity he had no equal. He was the eldest of twenty-one
brothers, all men of mark, who powerfully assisted him by their
support ; he placed them, as we have already said, at the head
of the provincial governments, putting much more faith in
them than in the princes of the blood or ambitious serdars,

who, jealous of his fame, were occupied only in creating embar-
L 2
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rassments for him, or in endeavouring to injure him in the
opinion of his sovereign. Hadji Firooz Eddin was the only prince
whom he allowed to remain undisturbed in his government of
Herat; and this, simply because the troops were occupied else-
where ; his fall was therefore delayed. He intrusted the govern-
ment of Beloochistan to his brother Rahim dil Khan, who re-
sided at Shikapoor. Poor dil Khan was installed at Kandahar ;
Sultan Mohamed Khan at Peshawur ; Shere dil Khan at Ghuznee ;
Kohendil Khan at Bamian; and the others under their orders
in districts of these provinces; he nevertheless retained some of
them near his person. Amongst these were Mohamed Azim
Khan, Djabber Khan, Nawab Assad Ullah Khan, who were men
of capacity, and assisted him in the administration of affairs.
His young brother, Dost Mohamed Khan, had the entire charge
and management of his household, which did not prevent him from
mounting his horse and fighting like his other brothers.

After having completed the preparations for war, in which he
had been engaged during two years, Fethi Khan marched in
1811 against Cashmeer, which had thrown off the Afghan domi-
nion, and was then held by the Serdar Attah Mohamed Khan, a
son of the vizier Akrem Khan, killed at the battle of Neemla. lle
would also bave willingly marched against Runjeet Sing, governor
of Lahore, who, after the fall of Shah Zeman, had proclaimed his
independence in the Punjab, but it would have been undertaking too
much at a time ; moreover the vizier preferred making use of him in
his plans for the reconstruction of the empire, and falling upon
him afterwards when he had no further necessity for his services.
He therefore induced him to sign a treaty, in which he gave him
nine lacs of rupees (90,000..), to be taken from the revenues of
the province of Caslimeer, on condition that the Sikh ariny should
assist him in reconquering that country: this treaty was con-
cluded on the banks of the Jelum, where the two chiefs met,
attended with a sufficient escort. The Afghan minister had
with him eighteen of his brothers, who advised him to put an end
to the Sikh chieftain at this meeting, offering themselves to
be the assassins. Fethi Khan rejected this proposition, but
much less because he would not be guilty of a base action,
a thing which Asiatics never look upon in the light that we do,
than because he required the support of the Sikh army, twelve
thousand men of which formed a junction with his immediately
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after the treaty was signed. On receiving this augmentation of
his forces, he proceeded towards Cashmeer, by way of Bember.
The little army of the rebels had posted themselves in the defiles of
the Pir-pindjal to dispute his passage, but, seeing themselves me-
naced in front by Fethi Khan, and in the rear by his brother -
Kohendil Khan, who had turned their position with a corps of
cavalry, they retired without fighting. The Afghans had, there-
fore, no one to disturb them in their advance, and they took pos-
scssion of the plain of Cashmeer without opposition. The city also
had scarcely been invested when it surrendered at discretion, and
the citadel alone, to which the Serdar Attah Mohamed Khan had
retired, continued to offer any further resistance ; nevertheless, after
thirteen days of negotiation, that chief, rather than be besieged,
capitulated. He was a man of great talent, energetic, brave,
influential, and respected by the Afghans. Fethi Khan wished to
make a friend of him; he treated him, therefore, with great dis-
tinction, and recommended him to the good offices of Shah Mah-
mood. Runjeet Sing tried, but without success, to induce Fethi
Khan to confer upon him the government of Cashmeer; but the
vizier, who saw the drift of his proposal, namely, to reimburse
himself in the first instance the expenses of the war, and after-
wards to ensure to himself the payment of the sum guaranteed
by the treaty, eluded his request, and confided the administration
of this fair province to his brother, the Serdar Mohamed Azim
Khan, who, after him, was the eldest son of Payendeh Khan—
Runjeet was therefore minus his expenses, and did not even
receive the nine lacs of rupces which had been promised him.
Frustrated in his ambitious design, he turned his attention to
Attok, a fortress situated on an eminence close to the Indus,
commanding the principal passage of that river; and the go-
vernor, who was a brother of the Serdar Attah Khan, baving sur-
rendered this important place to him, in consideration of a lac
of rupees, and certain promises which satisfied his ambition, the
Sikhs, on entering Attok, openly abandoned the Afghan party, and
hastened to put the place in a good state of defence.

When Fethi Khan was informed of the desertion of his allics,
he quitted Cashmeer to march against Runjeet; sending for-
ward his brotherr Dost Mohamed Khan, at the head of two
thousand horse, to clear the way, and followed close with all his
forces. On the approach of the advanced guard of the Afghan
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the Sikhs descended into the plain of Tchatch, which lies to the
east of Attok, and took up a position about three miles and & half
from the fortress, on some hills where they had not only the
advantage in the ground, but also that of securing the only
spring of water in the country. Dost Mohamed Khan, who,
for a reason so important, felt the necessity of seizing this point,
and desirous of distinguishing himself in the first command
with which his brother had intrusted him, fell with impetuosity
upon the Sikhs without waiting for the arrival of the Afghan army,
which followed him a league in the rear. In this charge he
captured the enemy’s artillery ; but his success did not last
long ; the Sikhs rallied, and, after having received reimforcements,
renewed the attack with a force eight times superior to his.
Finding that he had committed himself, he sent an express to
Fethi Khan to hasten his march, and while awaiting his reply
valiantly resisted the enemy, and would neither retire himself, nor
could the Sikhs force him to do so. Unfortunately the Dost’s mes-
sage never reached Fethi Khan, the messenger taking a wrong di-
rection and losing his way. The vizier was also led into error by
persons ill-informed of what had transpired, who assured him that
his brother had been killed and his division nearly destroyed, and he
made therefore an echelon movement towards the Indus in order
to avoid the Sikhs, ordered the heavy baggage to be burnt, and
crossed the river without being disturbed by the enemy. Though
tardily made acquainted with the movements of the Afghan army,
Dost Mohamed hesitated not to retreat by the road it had taken,
the Sikhs retiring to Attok. Fethi Khan, under the pressure of
threatening circumstances which arose in the west of Afghanistan,
was obliged to give up for the time his belligerent policy against
Runjeet Sing ; indeed he was compelled to weaken the garrison of
Cashmeer to reinforce his army. This encouraged the Sikh chief-
tain to make several inroads on the territory of that province, the
revenues of which he seized, an act the Afghan governor could not
prevent.

Before entering upon the details of the new campaign which the
Serdar Fethi Khan had to sustain against the Persians, it is neces-
sary, in order that the reader may comprehend the motives which
led to the war, that we should look back a little at the events
recorded in the PI"Eceding pages.

It has been mentioned that the prince Hadji Firoaz Eddin,
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removed with violence from Turchiz by the orders of Mir Efzel
Khan, had in the year 1800 been elected, in spite of himself,
sovereign Prince of Herat. The just and mild character of his
rule had obtained for him the love and respect of all classes of the
population : ambitious individuals, who wished to overthrow him,
were unable to find support anywhere, and during the sixteen years
that he had governed this province he was never seriously disturbed
except by the unfortunate expedition of Kaissar Mirza, and
those which were almost annually sent against him by the Shah
of Persia, Feth Ali, who laid claim to the principality as having
once formed part of that kingdom. But up to this period Hadji
Firooz Eddin had paralyzed his efforts, sometimes by repelling
the Persians by force of arms, but more frequently by paying a
small tribute which was exacted from him ; nevertheless, he had
always protested against the pretensions of the Persian monarch,
and declared that Feth Ali Shah had no more legitimate claim
upon Herat than he had upon the other countries which had
emancipated themselves from the dominion of Persia during the
last century ; that the dynasty of the Kadjars had, it 1s true, esta-
blished itself on the ruins of a vast empire, but that these remains
had been absorbed in the organization of several kingdoms, which
in forming themselves had taken less account of territorial limits
than of the races which inhabited them ; that none of them had the
right to impose laws upon the others without their consent ; that the
independence of these races, particularly that of the Afghans, had
been made sacred by the elevation of the Suddozyes to the throne,
the king then on the musnud being the third of that tribe ; that as
the grandson of Shah Ahmed, founder of this dynasty, he reigned
as the legitimate sovereign over a province the majority of the
inhabitants of which were Afghans; in short, that Feth Ali Shah
in his capacity of Shah of Persia was not more justified in making
this claim upon Herat, than the Afghan princes would be in laying
claim to the possession of Ispahan, Shiraz, or Kerman, for the
simple reason that Mir Mahmood and Mir Echreff had reigued
over those provinces. In support of these arguments, Hadji
Firooz Eddin sent detachments of troops across the frontier to the
assistance of some chiefs in Khorassan whom Feth Ali Shah had
not yet been able to bring under his rule. Of this vast province
he really possessed only Meshed ; Nishapoor, Koochan, Boojnoord,
Tubbus, Toorbut, Haidarieh, and Ghain were pretty nearly inde-
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pendent, and, under the authority of the khans with whom the
Governor of Herat had just entered into alliance, and in exciting
whom against Feth Ali Shah he hoped to give the Persian army
enough occupation to prevent it from being seit against himself.
He was, however, mistaken, for after a vigorous effort Feth Al
Shah finished by triumphing over their insubordination. The
anger which this sovereign felt against Hadji Firooz Eddin, who
had provoked it, became fata]l to the latter; he soon saw Herat
menaced by a formidable army, and necessity obliged him to have
recourse to the aid of Shah’ Mahmood, whose assistance was almost
as dangerous for him as the enmity of the Shah of Persia.

When the Persian battalions were all assembled at Meshed,
Hoosein Ali Mirza, son of Feth AliShah, took the command. Kalech
Khan, the celebrated Serdar of the Taymoonis, a man dreaded by
the Heratees, also joined the Persian prince with a contingent of ex-
cellent troops, and, if they had at once entered upon the campaign,
there can be no doubt that they would have taken Herat; but
IToosein Ali Mirza delayed the march of the army for a reinforce-
ment of several guns of large calibre which he could have done
very well without. This gave the Vizier Fetln Khan time to come
to the relief of the place; his troops cleared the two hundred
leagues which separated them from Herat with a rapidity unex-
ampled in that country, and arrived there before the Persians
had even crossed their own frontier.

It was not without good reason that Hadji Firooz waited till
he was in the last extremity before he claimed the assistance of his
brother. During the sixtcen years that he governed Herat he
had always been independent of him, though they were on good
terms. It was only when the successes of Fethi Khan in Belooch-
istan and Scinde made him fear that he should be removed from
his government, that he wrote to the latter protesting the truth of
his respect for'and submission to the king; but directly the
vizier had left those provinces to proceed to Cashmeer, he kept only
half the promises he had made. It is true he coined money
in the name of the Shah Mahmood, but he never paid him a far-
thing of the tribute which had been agreed upon.

Fethi Khan, who was too much occupied in the East to enforce
a more complete submission, appeared for the moment to rest
satisfied with this state of things at Herat, but Hadji Firooz
Eddin clearly understood that the vizier was only temporizing with
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him, and that, as soon as he was relieved from the embarrassments
which had arisen with Runjeet, he would in his turn be obliged to
conform to his brother’s views. It was, therefore, with very great
regret that he saw himself obliged to call this general to his
assistance, whom he had so great an interest in secing employed
anywhere rather than at Herat; but there was no time to
hesitate, for the*danger that menaced him left him no other alter-
native.

Fethi Kban arrived at Ilerat towardg the close of 1816. Hadji
Firooz received him with great honours, and made him pro-
testations of fidelity and friendship; but his conduct betrayed
the fears that assailed him, and contributed more than anything
else that had occurred up to that time to deprive him of his
government. Well convinced that if Fethi Khan entered the city
his own power was at an end, he permitied him to do so with an
escort of fifty horsemen only; the army was obliged to encamp
under the walls. The vizier dissimulated his displeasure, and
even accepted the proposition with ‘an outward appearance of
respect ; but he rendered this of a very illusory character by
the choice he made of the persons who accompanied him. All
these were allied to some family or other in Ilerat, and they soon
induced their relatives to make common cause with them ; so that
on the fourth day after the vizier’s arrival they delivered up to him
the gates of the city—the citadel surrendered on the following day..
H: also arrested Hadji Fircoz Eddin, and sent him, but under
honourable escort, to Kabul, to give the king an account of his long
administration. Fethi Khan had not up to this point passed the
limits of justice ; but whether he was animated with a certain feeling
of resentment against the prince, or that his orders were exceeded,
he was deprived of all his riches, and, as they were concealed in his
barem, this sacred asylum was forced, and the party deputed to
gseize them, of whom his brother Dost Mohamed was the com-
mander, made an indiscriminate pillage; the princesses were
even stripped of their clothes, and the Dost himself tore off a sash
ormamented with precious stones which supported the trousers of
the daughter of Shah Mahmood, the wife of his own nephew
Malek Kassem Mirza, son of Hadji Firooz Eddin.

- Mir Efzel Khan, Isakzye, who had much assisted in the elevation of
Iadji Firooz Eddin to power, afterwards became his prime minister.
He was the most influential person at Herat after the governor,
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and strongly opposed any appeal to Fetha Khan for assistance, but
the advice of Hadji Agal, one of his officers, had prevailed over hia.
Foreseeing that which subsequently took place, Mir Efzel Khan
resigned the command of the army and retired to Persia before
the arrival of the vizier, and it was a happy thought of his, for the
latter put out the eyes of Hadji Agai, and Efzel Khan would have
ghared a similar fate.

After these measures, which Fethi Khan thought necessary
for the security of the kjngdom, had been taken, he marched
against the enemy, encamped in front of the town of Kusaan,
about sixty miles from Herat, situated in the plain of Kiaffir
Kaleh, on the extreme frontier of Persia and Herat. The battle
commenced at dawn of day. The Persian prince, Hoosein Al
Mirza, had a splendid army under his command, which he dis-
posedl as follows :—In the first line he placed four regiments of
regular infantry, under the orders of the Serdar Zoolfagar Khan ;*
this general, to give confidence to his newly organised troops, who,
appreciating only cavalry, were grievously disconcerted at mnot
being in that arm of the service, killed his magnificent Arab
horse in front of his division, and placed himself at their head on
foot. In spite, however, of this proof of courage, when his corps
was attacked by the cavalry of Shere dil Khan, brother of the vizier,
it was completely routed ; they rallied, however, after a time behind
- the caravanserai and ruins on one side of the plain, and furiously
recommenced the combat, which lasted till four o’clock in the after-
noon, when the Persians, having 10,000 men *ors de combat, began
their retreat. A charge of cavalry made just at the nght moment by
the Serdar Kohendil Khan, also a brother of the vizier, turned this
retreat into a complete rout, and the Persians precipitately aban-
doned the field. Fethi Khan immed:ately advanced to ascertain
the position of things in his front, but he received a spent ball in
his mouth, and, falling from his horse, was obliged to be carried to
his tent, This fact having become known amongst the Afghans,
they thought their chief was dead, and the Persians victorious ; and
losing at once all the courage they had so recently displayed,
broke as if seized with a sudden panic. The first fugitives who
arrived at Herat spread terror through the city ; a part of the inha-
bitants left at once, and the remainder prepared to receive their

* The Sabre of Ali.— Ferrier.
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new masters, when Fethi Khan arrived very & propos to restore
confidence, for his wound was not a serious one, and he was always
able to direct the affairs of government.

The Persians retreated with scarcely a balt as far as Meshed,
and were not a little astonished to learn a few days after their
defeat that the Afghans believed that they were the victors, in
gpite of their having lost their artillery and baggage, which were
not, it is true, taken possession of by their adversaries until nine
days after the battle.

After this victory, which disgusted the Persians for some time
with the idea of attempting to take Herat, Fethi Khan occupied
himself 10 fixing the revenues of the province, and in recon-
structing the dilapidated fortifications of the city. His just and
enlightened administration obtained for him the esteem and affec-
tion of the inhabitants. I have had opportuunities of conversing
with many Heratees who were acquainted with this remarkable
man, and they spoke of him with veneration. His virtues were as
great as his courage ; he was completely devoted to the glory and
interests of his country ; his fame was carried to the highest point
by his last victory ; and he was making his preparations for the
conquest of Khorassan, when a fearful catastrophe deprived
Afghanistan of this worthy man, and annihilated the generous
designs which he bad conceived for her, and which would have
made that kingdom as prosperous and powerful as it had been
under the great Ahmed Shabh.

Kamran Mirza, a monster of vice and ferocity, guiltless of ever
baving felt one noble or generous sentiment, witnessed with the
greatest displeasure the successes of Fethi Khan, by whom he had
been prevented from taking part in the government on account of
the murder of Kaissar Mirza. From that day he had thought only
of taking vengeance upon the vizier, and sought every opportunity of
rendering him an object of suspicion to his father, to whom he spoke
in depreciating terms of all his actions; he tried also in every possible
way to excite the jealousy of the other serdars, who were already
only too much disposed to side with him, and who always fell in with
bis views when he brought any complaints to the notice of the
Shah ; but Mahmood, delighted to find himself powerful with so
little trouble, and enabled to gratify his own depraved inclinations
without being obliged to take any part im .public affairs which
were 80 well conducted, refused for a long time to believe in the
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disloyal and infamous accusations brought against his minister.
Obliged however to listen continually to a repetition of them, and
thinking over his extraordinary success, and the influence he had
obtained in cousequence, he at length finished by entertaining a
few misgivings, but he was completcly amazed when he saw
Hadji Fircoz Eddin arrive at Kabul. This prince protested
loudly against the maoner in which he had been treated by
the vizier, the invasion of his harem, the loss of his property,
and spared no exaggcration to make his brother believe the
accuracy of his statements. Kamran Mirza came to his aid,
and used every effort to convince the king that his royal dignity
had been insulted in the person of his brother, thus brought
before him loaded with chams like a vile criminal, and also in
that of his own daughter, the wife of Malek Kassem, from
whose person Dost Mohamed Khan had stripped the last vest-
ment which could protect her from his gaze and that of his
associates. The serdars, who were jealous of the vizier's power,
gupported these representations, bringing to the notice of the feeble
monarch a host of other disgraceful actions of which they said
Fethi Khan had been guilty. They assured the Shah that he had
determined upon his ruin; that the king ought to be before-
hand with lum, and put him to dcath; that there were at his
court twenty chiefs braver and more capable than he was; until
at length Mahmood Shah, yielding to the lowest feelings of
jealousy, had not the strength of mind to resist their arguments,
and he gave an order that the eyes of Fethi Khau should be
put out.

Kamran would not rely upon any one but himself to execute
this diabolical sentence : he kept thé king’s instructions as secret as
he could, and left for Herat immediatcly, towards the close of
1817, to be sure of his victim. The prince had broken his parole,
for it had been agreed between Mahmood Shah and his wizier
that he was not to leave the court, and that fact must have been a
warning to the latter, who was also told by his friends of the fate
that awaited him; but he would not believe in such base cruclty
and ingratitude, and took no precautions to guard himself from
the malice of his enemies. He received the son of his sovereign
with the most profound respect and the greatest honour, and,
instead of evincing any mistrust, seemed as if he wished to induce
him to forget the past, intreating him that he would for the future
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go hand in hand with him in consolidating the power of the
Suddozye dynasty and raising the glory of the Afghan nation.

The wizier had been to him every morning to receive his orders
since the prince arrived at Herat ; the best intelligence seemed to
exist between them; and Fethi Khan had already accused his
friends of having given themselves up to chimerical fears, when,
one day on entering the Bagh-Shah (a royal palace outside the
city, and the residence of the prince), he was arrested with his
suite, which consisted only of twenty persons, and his eyes were
immediately put out.

The same fate was reserved for the three brothers of the
vizier, namely, Poor dil Khan, Shere dil Khan, and Kohendil
Khao, who, during the time that this abominable cruelty was
being committed, were in the royal palace of the Tchahar-bagh in
the city, quietly playing at chess. Generally speaking, they ac-
companied their brother in his visits to the prince, but on this day,
Poor dil Kban being indisposed, he dispensed with their attend-
ance. ‘When Kamran saw that the threc other victims had
not come within reach of his vengeance, he was suffocated with
rage, and sent a detachment of soldiers to arrest them immedi-
ately. Fortunately, however, one of their servants, hearing by
accident of the danger which threatened them, ran to the palace
and informed them of what had occurred, but he had scarcely
fulfilled this act of devotion when the satellites of Kamran Mirza
filled the court of the Tchahar-bagh. Flight was now almost
impossible, for every mode of egress was carefully guarded,
and the only mode of escape was to put a bold front upon the
matter, which the three brothers did. They were accompanied
by only two servants, one armed with a sabre, the other with a
dagger, and Poor dil Khan, being unwell, retired to a terrace of
the house with them; but Shere dil Khan, arming himself with
the sabre, and Kohendil Khan with the dagger, rushed upon
the soldiers with such impetuosity and resolution, that the fellows,
thinking, in all probability, that they were supported by their
gervants, fled terrified from the house. Taking advantage of
this moment of panic, the two heroes promptly rejoined their
brother, and from the terrace leaped on to that of a house
adjoining the palace without being seen, and escaped to their
residence with the utmost haste. After having armed them-
selves to the teeth, they mounted their horses, and accompanied by
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a few of their followers took to flight, but on arriving at the city
gates they found two hundred soldiers there to dispute their
passage, and through these they bad to cut their way. Shere
dil Khan and Kohendil Kban were fortunate enough to do so
without receiving a scratch, but Poor dil Khan, weakened by sick-
ness, had his horse killed under him, when a score of men threw
themselves upon him, bound his hands, and carried him to Kamran
Mirza. The prince, seeing that two victims bad still escaped him,
dissimulated the regret he felt, and assured Poor dil Khan, whom
he put in prison, that no harm would befall him, hoping that he
would be able to make use of him at a future time as a means of
securing by craft his principal adversaries.

Kamran Mirza remained some time longer at Herat, endea-
vouring by promises and presents to secure the army to his own
interests ; but always preoccupied with the 1dea of completing his
sanguinary work, and putting to death the brothers and adher-
ents of Fethi Khan, he went to Kandahar, where he hoped to

succeed in this object.
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ArTER their flight from Herat Shere dil Khan and his brother
sought refuge in the fortified village of Nadalee, situated about
. twenty-three miles from Girishk, which belonged to Adeh, the
mother of Fethi Kbhan. From thence they despatched emissaries
in all directions to rouse the nomade tribes. A great number of
the Barukzyes responded to their appeal, which formed the nucleus
of a little army, and this was soon increased by numerous deserters
from the royal forces, who would not serve under Kamran,

The prince, observing that the detachments which he sent from
the city were constantly destroyed or repulsed by the partizans of
Fethi Khan, employed the arts of cunmning to lead his brothers
to fall into his net. He had dragged about with him the unfor-
tunate minister, and endeavoured to persuade Poor dil Khan,
whom he took from his prison, that he had put his brother’s
eyes out only to raise him to the post of vizier: at the same
time he gave him a magnificent robe of honour, made him a
serdar, promised that the firman of vizier should be sent to
him as soon as Shere dil Khan and Kohendil Khan had made
their submission, and pressed him to write and tell them to
come to Kandabar, Poor dil Khan appreciated this brilliant
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promise at its exact value, but he appeared as if he believed the
prince and entered into his views; he assured him of his entire
devotion, and behaved as if he intended to keep bis word,
but two days afterwards he fled, and to their great joy reached
his brothers at Nadalee, for their measures had been almost
paralyzed up to that moment by the fear they experienced
that he would be treated by Kamran in the same way that he
had dealt with their eldest brother. His presence also brought
fresh recruits to their ranks, for the Afghans had great confidence
in him ; they considered him as one of the most talented of the
sons of Payendeh Khan, and in the differences which existed
between themselves almost always requested him to be the
arbitrator.

Kamran Mirza, irritated by the flight of Poor dil Khan, which he

might have foreseen, revenged himself on the unfortunate Fethi
Khan, upon whom he inflicted a thousand outrages and cruel
tortures. Having perceived that a ray of light still remained in
the eyes of his victim, he himself introduced a hot iron into the
orbits in order to dry up every part. It was in this condition that
the butcher dragaged him to Ghuznee, where the Shah Mahmood
awaited him, but his courageous minister never asked for mercy,
and, by his firm and resigned bearing, showed himself as great in
adversity as he had been generous in the exercise of his power.

Such cruelties practised upon such a man merited punishment
indeed, and seventeen brothers of the victim soon united to take
their revenge. Their names were as follows :—

The Vizier Fethi KEhan e an
Mohamed Azimm Khan.. .. .. By the same mother
Timoor Khan e aa

Poor dil Khan ..

Shere dil Eban .. .. .. ..

Kohendil Ehan .. .. .. .. ) By the same mother
Rahim dil Khan .. R

Mir dil Khan .. .. .. ..

Dost Mohamed Khan .. .. .. ] -
Emir Mohamed Khan.. .. .. } By the same mother
Djewal Khan .r  as

Sultan Mohamed Khan
Yar Mohamed Khan .

Pir Mohmned Kbsa ..
Syud Mobamed Khan..

Nawab Assad Khan .. .. .. ]
Nawab Samut Khan .. .. .. J>B3 the same mother

** % By the same mother

Nawab Djabbar Khan.. .. ..
Djumhd Khan .. .. .. .. .. Sonofaslave .. .3
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Mohamed Azim Khan, who, after Fethi Khan, was the eldest
of the sons of Payendeh Khan, governed Cashmeer. Being ill at
the time he heard of the atrocious cruelties inflicted on lis blind
brother, he could not then join his relatives, but he raised the
standard of revolt in this province against the Shah Mahmood,
and scot Dost Mohamed Khan before him to Kabul, in order
that he might work upon the population to rise in favour of their
cause, This young chief was the very man for such an under-
taking, for, as it has been shown, he had already made him-
self remarked on’ several occasions for courage and military
talents, though at the moment his services were required he was
in prison, and the following were the reasons that led to his
captivity.

A few days prior to his attacking the Persians at Kiaffir Kaleh,
Fethi Khan ordered him to give up some magnificent pearls the
Dost had purchased, but which the vizier had already selected for
himself, and stated thus much to the merchant who had them on
gale ; he also requred him to restore the girdle ornamented with
brilliants which he bad taken from the daughter of Shah Mah-
mood when he broke into the harem of Hadji Iirooz Eddin. But
Dost Mohamed obstinately refusing to comply with his wishes,
it produced a rupture between them, when the latter, fearing
the consequences of his brother’s anger, departed secretly from
the royal camp, and went to Cashmecer; Mohamed Azim Khan,
who was own brother to the vizier, took his part, and demanded
that the brilliants and the unlucky pearls should be surrendered
to him for the purpose of being forwarded to Fethi Khan, who
had foreseen that the theft would give rise to complaints and fresh
intrigues agmnat his family.

The Dost, again refusing to restore these valuables, was detametl
a prisoner until they came to release him in order that he might
assist in avenging the brother by whom and for whom he had been so
severely treated. The voice of honour, and revenge for bloed, and
still more the conviction that he had been in error, spoke more pow-
erfully to his heart than his resentment ; he therefore collected a
small corps of men, and advanced boldly against the capital. Shah
Mahmood, plunged in debauch, was incapable of watching over his
own safety, and from the moment the insurrection broke out con-
fided the care of Kabul to his grandson Djehanguir Mirza, son of
Kamran, with whom he associated, as his lieutenant and respon-

M
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sible adviser, his new vizier Mohamed Attah Khan, Popolzye:
after this Mahmood retired to the fortress of Ghuznee, from
whence he wrote to his son to come and rejoin him. Dost Mohamed
Kban, having completely beaten the detachments which Djehanguir
Mirza eent against him, entered Kabul, and obliged that prince
to seek eafety in flight; he also took Attah Mobhamed Khan .
prisoner, had his eyes put out on the public square, and sub-
sequently sent him away into the mountains.

After having been rejoined by Djehanguir Mirza, and a few sol-
diers who were with him, it was not long before Shah Mahmood
was surrounded by the troope which his son Kamran brought from
Kandabar—much weakened it is true in numbers, and much
discouraged, but still able to afford him the hope of reducing
the insurgents if he had been a clever man. The army having
halted a few days at Ghuznee to give Kamran a little repose,
he marched to Kabul to put down the rebels; but Mohamed
Azim Kbhan, who, now re-established in health, had just joined
Dost Mohamed, spared him half his journey, and, midway be-
tween Ghuznee and Kabul, offered him battle at the head of four
thousand men. The prince, who had twelve thousand, was not in
the least doubtful of success, but he was wrong in his estimate
of the feeling of his troops; for, on the night preceding the
conflict, they passed over to his adversary. Mohamed Azim aud
the Dost pursued Kamran immediately to the walls of Ghuznee,
and soon obliged his father and himeelf, and those who supported
their party, to evacuate the town.

Shah Mahmood, made desperate by this last disaster, ordered
Fethi Khan, who had now been deprived of his eyesight eight
months, to be brought into his presence, and commanded him to
write to his brothers, and desire them to return to their duty. But
the unfortunate vizier calmly replied that in losing his sight he
had lost also all his influence over his fellow-men, and that he no
longer occupied himself with the affairs of this world. The king,
enraged at this answer, ordered him to be put to death, and his
enemies, the nobles of the court, were charged with the execution
of the sentence; Kamran Mirza, himself the most cruel of the
Suddozyes, struck the first blow, and at this signal the rest drew
their daggers, rushed upon him, and strove who should make him
feel the greatest torture and suffering. They flayed him alive,
disjointed his members, which they drew from his body one by one,

[
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and at length decapitated him, which put an end to his agonies.
His corpse, thus mutilated, was abandoned to the public execu-
tioner, who cut it in pieces, threw them into a sack, and carried
them to Ghuznee, where they were interred.

Not a sigh or complaint escaped Fethi Khan amidst these
horrible tortures : he was sustained by the courage of a hero, and
the calm of a pure conscience.

A general cry of indignation arose from one end of Afghanistan
to the other against the murderers of this great man, and those
who had remained faithful to the Suddozye party, not from a feel-
ing of sympathy, but from a sentiment of duty, now left it; even
the personal friends of the king were moved with compassion at
the manner in which his old and faithful servant was put to death ;
and there were very few serdars whose jealousies were not subdued
by his sad end.

Shah Mahmood, a wanderer and a fugitive, had now only a
few eervants around him, repulsed, harassed, and tracked, and
obliged to shun inhabited places, he dared not stop even in
the most desert spots, so hot was the pursuit 'The dangers he
underwent were incessant; he suffered every kind of privation,
having nothing to support life but roots and wild fruits. Nearly
dead from hunger, and in the last stage of despair, the fugitives
endeavoured to reach Kandahar, which Kamran, on leaving
Ghuznee, had confided to the care of Gul Mohamed Khan,
Popolzye ; but he soon learned that the city bad fallen into the
hands of the Mohamedzyes, and that with the assistance of Mir
Efzel Kban, Isakzye, Poor dil Khan had seized it. After Fethi
Khan lost his sight, Efzel returned from Persia to live in the midst
of his tribe, encamped in the environs of Koohnichine, a fortress
situated on the banks of the Helmund, which belonged to him,
and Poor dil Khan, without giving himself any concern as to the
antagonistic feeling which existed between Mir Efzel Khan and his
elder brother, came to him and demanded his assistance and
that of his tribe; this was conceded, and the Mir juined the
Mohamedzyes. The two chiefs then marched against Kandahar,
which surrendered to them after a feeble resistance; but the go-
vernor Gul Mobhamed Khan escaped, and reached Herat, the
garrison of which was devoted to Kamran Mirza, and the former
knew how to keep them in obedience,

Shah Mahmood, being informed of this fortunate circumetance,

M 2
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immediately directed his steps towards that city, but, being com-
pletely without provisions and menaced on all sides, he was obliged
to take the least frequented and accessible roads; the number of
his followers diminished day by day, hunger, fatigue, and priva-
tion accompanying them everywhere. It was in this condition
that they crossed the Paropamisan chain, inhabited by the Haza-
rahs Poocht-Kooh, who, though enemies of the Afghans, never-
theless inspired them with less terror than the latter. At length
Mahmood reached Herat, baving with him only his son Kamran,
his brother Hadji Firooz Eddin, and eleven servants who were
devoted to him.

But discord soon divided this royal trio. Kamran Mirza had
only desired the fall of Fethi Khan in order that he might himself
direct the government; he commenced therefore by seizing upon
all authority; Shah Mahmood, who, not without reason, attributed
his misfortunes to his son, resisted these attempts and determined
to govern for himself, which daily produced between them the
most violent scenes; and Hadji Firooz Eddin, wearied with these
interminable discussions, obtained permission from the king to retire
to Meshed, which he did immediately.

For some time after their arrival at Herat Mahmond and his
son were alarmed by the threats of the Persians, who seemed
disposed to set up anew their claims wpon the city, but Shah
Mahmood and Kamran did not make this matter so much a question
of amour propre as did Hadji Firooz Eddin, for they admitted
without protest the suzerainty of the Shah of Persia, bound them-
selves to pay him tribute, and thought themselves fortunate in
being able to remain on such conditions the peaceable possessors
of the last refuge that they were able to find in Afghanistan,

In 1819, a short time after this agreement had been concluded,
Kamran Mirza, tired of the tenacity with which his father main-
tained his nghts as sovereign, drove him from Ilerat, but Shah
Mahmood, baving collected a small army amongst the Eimaks,
laid siege to the city in 1820. He was however beaten and
obliged to fly to the Hazarahs Zcidoat: nevertheless he did not
consider himself vanquished, and for a time appeared to have
recovered the energy of his youth to fight his son. After baving
reinforced his army he returned in 1821, and besieged Herat a
second time ; but having invested it for a few days, the serdars
interfered between father and son, and effected a reconciliation,
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upon the understanding that Shah Mabmood was to have the title
of king, and enjoy all the honours, and his son the power he so
much coveted.

While these two princes were disputing in the west the posses-
sion of one corner of Afghanistan, the other portions of the king-
dom passed into the hands of the Mohamedzyes and the Sikhs,
The former were too much occupied with their war against the
latter, and their differences with one another, to carry their arms
against Herat, and repaid themselves by agitating that province
with rumours and secret conspiracies, so that Kamran had at first
great difficulty in making his authority respected, and when it was
a little strengthened he had to repulse the attacks which were
made by his adversaries from the exterior.

When Hadj Firooz Eddin, by no means satisfied with the con-
duct either of his brother or his nephew, retired to Meshed,
he met there the famous Serdar Kalech Khan, Taymooni, who
represented to him how wrong he had been to leave Herat, where
neither Mahmood nor Kamran had the least chance of being
able to maintain his position, while he, Firooz Eddin, who had
governed that country for years to the general satisfaction of the
people, would most assuredly have been before long raised by
them to the sovereign power. This serdar said, in short, all that
he could to awaken his ambition, and offered his support to
reinstate him in power. The prince for a long time resisted
these arguments, but at length, overcome by hi# solicitations, de-
cided upon taking Kalech’s advice and reign again over a people
and a province which he had rendered happy and flourishing
for sixteen years of his paternal administration. Kalech Khan
made all the preparations which could suggest themselves to the
mind of a clever man, and the expedition was undertaken in 1822.
It was kept so secret that Kamran Mirza, who had gone to hunt in
the country round Kusgan, a town situated about fifteen hours from
Herat, on the road to Meshed, was surprised by the advanced
guard of Hadji Firooz, and very nearly made prisoner; the
devotion of four of his servants, who defended his house, and
were all killed at the entrance, while he gained the fields by a back
door, alone secured him the opportunity of flight. Arrived at
Herat, he immediately despatched his minister, Attah Khan, and
several other officers, 1n all dircctions to assemble the contingents of
the nomade tribes, who promptly arrived to his assistance and
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relieved the city. While these troops, under the orders of Attah
Khan, Ali Kioouzye, attacked the army of Hadji Firooz, the
prince Kamran left the city at the head of two thousand Afghans,
and fell upon the enemy's rear. The conflict lasted thirteen hours ;
very little powder was expended, for the two armies fought with
cold steel foot to foot, and perhaps no more obstinate battle was
ever fought under the walls of Herat; when it was over there
might be counted more dead bedies than living men. The vie-
tory nevertheless remained for a long time uncertain, but the
death of Kalech Khan turned the tide of battle in favour of
Kamran. This serdar had singled out and pursued the prince
with fury, and in a few yards more he would have crossed -
swords with the miscreant torturer of Iethi Khan; but fortune
was not in the ascendant for him, his horse came down in a
ravine and injured the khan's neck in the fall. His soldiers,
seeing him in this disabled state, turned and fled, and, the enemy
having made him prisoner, Kamran sabred his foe himself—on
this occasion as on every other he showed himself ferocious in the
combat, and cruel when victorious. Hadji Fircoz was also
captured, and he would not have been spared any more than his
general if Shah Mahmood had not interfered energetically in bis
favour ; but he was subsequently confined in the citadel, where he
was cluael)r watched.

The prince Kamran was scarcely delivered from this danger
when he was called upon to deal with another. The united
chiefs of Khorassan attacked Herat in 1823; this expedition
was undertaken by order of Feth Ali Shah, King of Persia,
to force Kamran to pay the tribute, which under various pre-
texts he had never dome. During thfee months the Khoras-
sanees made many unsuccessful efforts to take the city, and they
did not leave the province until they had completely ravaged it.
These inroads of the Persians were frequently renewed, and
Kamran repulsed them all by force of arms whenever there was a
chance of his coming victorious out of the contest ; but he much more
frequently met and bent to the storm, as Hadji Firooz had been
forced to do before him, by paying a small tribute to the Shab of
Persia, and in conforming to some frivolous ceremonies of vassalage.

Kamran Mirza had scarcely shaken off these enemies from
without when he had to contend with disagreeable complications
within the province of Herat, and in the year 1824 they extended
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to the districts which up to that time had been pretty quiet.
That of Furrah more particularly pushed matters to the last
extremity : the inhabitants finished by separating themselves from
the capital to form an alliance with Kandahar, and Kamran was
obliged to march in person with an army to reduce them to
obedience.

Before departing on this expedition the prince took every pre-
caution to preserve the tranquillity of Herat in his absence. At
the time Shah Mahmood accommodated matters with his son, he
lost all his influence, and was forced by Kamran to retire
to the Bagh Shah, a palace situated about a gumshot fram
the city, where he could at his ease give himself up to his
depraved inclinations. The citadel with a good garrison was
confided to the charge of Moustapha Khan, Zoorn, who had
always been devoted to him, and he appointed his maternal uncle
Mohamed Hoosein Khan governor of the city, with the title of
vekil. These two personages were to have equal authority and a
voice in the direction of affairs, and Kamran hoped that in opposing
one to the other he would be able to secure a greater guarantce
for their fidelity. His eldest son, Djehanguir Mirza, was left in
Herat to control their actions, but they held this prince in little
consideration, who became simply the promulgator of the orders
which they gave, and not the representative of the regal authority.

The Vekil Mohamed Hoosein Khan had great influence in the
city, and the Serdar Moustapha Khan a still greater in the army.
At first they seemed to act perfectly well together, but they werc
united only in appearance ; each sought secretly to overthrow the
other, and to put Kamran on one side that he might govern in
his place. They also attempted to dissimulate their ambitious
purpose from one another, when an occurrence wholly unexpected
arose, and made them participate in concert in a revolt which
each of them had individually premeditated.

The troops left for Furrah in the hope that, as stated by
Kamran, they would receive their pay directly they arrived in that
district, but this promise not baving been performed they began
to murmur, and the prince was forced to send to Herat for money.
One of the officers of his household, by name Meuhvalee Khan,
was charged with this mission, and to him Kamran gave a
note of hand for six thousand tomauns, which he ordered his uncle
Mohamed Hoosein Khan to pay with the least possible delay.
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Mecuhvalee Khan performed this duty in the most haughty and
arrogant manner, because the money was not ready; the Vekil
begged him to have patience for a few days, but the officer de-
manded that the sum should be given him on the instant, and apos-
trophized Hoosein Khan in menacing and opprobrious terms. The
Serdar Moustapha Khan, who was present during this altercation,
represented to his colleague that Meuhvalee Khan must be cogni-
zant of some evil intention which Kamran entertained towards them :
“ For,” said he, *“if a subordinate addresses us in such a manner,
what will not the prince do when he returns?” The imagination
of these chiefs, already prepared for revolt, soon became heated ;
they immediately arrested the messenger, and decided upon over-
throwing Kamran; but when they came to discuss the basis upon
which the government was to be established, and who should be its
chief, they found it was not easy to come to an understanding
between themselves, and the question was adjourned. Never-
theless, they agreed upon the main point—namely, the over-
throw of the prince Kamran; and also that his son Djehanguir
must be compromised in the eyes of the people, and rendered
odious by being induced to commit some unnecessary act of
cruelty. ‘They began, therefore, by making him issue a pro-
clamation that his father’s rule was at an end ; and it would seem
that this prince, then about twenty-two years of age, agreed very
willingly to this proposition, thinking without doubt that there was
no more harm in taking the place of his father Kamran than
there had been in his dethroning Mahmood Shah. Accordingly
Djebanguir was proclaimed Sovereign Prince of Herat, and his
first act was to pronounce the condemnation of Meuhvalee Khan,
The sentence was a terrible one: they first cut off his nose, his
ears, and s fingers, and from hour to hour scored him with sabre-
wounds. The agonies of this unfortunate man lasted two days,
after which one of the officers of Djehanguir Mirza dragged him
through the bazaars, and in & loud voice invited all those who
were friends of the new sovereign to throw a stone at the
wretch, while two hundred men, who had been assembled there
previously by the serdar and the Vekil, also stoned the miserable
sufferer.

Directly Mohamed Hoosein and Moustapha Khan had attaived
their object by compromising Djehanguir with his father, and
making him detested in the eyces of the Heratees, they improvised a
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revolt by which the prince was overthrown and imprisoned, and
the executive power placed in their own hands. This was the cri-
tical moment for these ambitious men, for they had penetrated the
intentions of each other. The Vekil, who did not feel himself
strong enough to attack the serdar openly, and dislodge him from
the citadel, released Hadji Firooz from the prison in which he
was confined, and made the citizens acknowledge him as their
sovereign. Moustapha Khan, thus forestalled, saw very well that
he could not obtain anything from the inhabitants if be stood
alone, for ladji Fircoz was their idol; they still remembered
how much happiness they had enjoyed during his administration of
affairs, and his return to power filled them with joy. As a counter-
poise to this, the serdar went to the Mahmood at Bagh Shah,
where he lived pretty nearly forgotten, and was ignorant of what
was passing in the city, with the intention of setting him up as
an opponent to Hadji Firooz. This done, blood soon flowed in
Ilerat, and Moustapha Khan, defeated in the first conflict, was
obliged to shut himself up with the old king in the citadel, from
whence he cannonaded the city, which, to avoid complete destruc-
tion, surrendered at discretion.

This second reign of Hadji Firooz Eddin lasted only eighteen
days: the victor Moustapha Khan obliged him to return once
more and seek refuge at Meshed, to which city he was followed
by the Vekil. The former was still alive in 1845 ; I saw him in my
way through Meshed in that year, and received these details from
his own lips.

After the deposition of Djehanguir Mirza, and when he saw the
power as he thought escape from him by the election of Firooz
Eddin, Moustapha Khan, thinking his chances of success were
small, and calculating still less upon Shah Mahmood, sent an
express to Kamran Mirza to beg him to hasten his return, pro-
wising to stand firm for his party until he made his appearance.
The prince hastened to adopt this suggestion, and arrived under the
walls of Herat the day after his uncle Hadji Firooz and the Vekil
had retired from the city, but he found the gates closed ; for the
victorious Moustapha, having now no other competitor, replied to
the summons to open them that he knew no other sovereign than
Shah Mahmood, would obey his orders only, and that those
orders were that his son should not be allowed to enter the
city.
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Kamran invested the place immediately after he received
this message, but he had scarcely opened his trenches when he
was obliged to retire to Laush-Jowaine, a fortified castle and
position to the south of Furrah, to avoid a battle with Shere dil
Khan, Mohamedzye, whose forces were much superior to his.
This serdar had been sent against him by his brother Poor dil
Khan, the sovereign of Kandahar, as much to avenge the death of
Fethi Khan as to seize upon Herat, and this conquest, added to
the others which he had made to the eastward since the fall of
Shah Mahmood, would have made them masters of the whole
of Afghanistan, as we shall see hereafter.

Shere dil Khan, not having succeeded in obtaining possession of
the place by simple summons as he had expected, commenced the
siege, but he was soon forced to raise it, and finally to retreat
towards Kandahar, finding himself between two fires; for an army
from Khorassan, commanded by Mohamed Khan, Garai, whom
Moustapha Khan had called to his support, was in the neigh-
bourhood.

"The usurper, now being rid of Hadji Firooz, of Kamran, and of
Shere dil Khan, satisfied the expectations of his ally Mohamed
Khan, Garai, with a sum of money, and by paying his expenses
during the campaign; but not feeling sufficiently secure even
after this, he thought that the best method of maintaining his
position was to destroy all those who had opposed him. Blood
again flowed on all sides, and revolt was the only resource that
remained to the miserable Heratees by which they could deliver
themselves from this tyrant.

Syud Mir Sedik Khan, chief of the Afghan branch of the
Berduranees, a tribe from which the majority of the citizens of
Herat had sprung, invited the prince Kamran to approach the
town as secretly as he could, declaring that when he arrived they
would admit him. Though Kamran had since his last flight been
deserted by very nearly the whole of his army, he did not hesitate
to accept this dangerous invitation to regain his power, and,
reaching Herat about midnight, his march not having been dis-
covered, the Syud admitted him into the place without the prince
having been compelled to fire a single shot., 'The remainder of the
night was occupied in making the arrival of Kamran known to the
inhabitants, and the citadel in which Moustapha Khan resided
was surrounded at sunrise by ten thousand armed men, who aroused
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him by a well-sustained fire of artillery and volleys of musketry.
The serdar, surprised by this sudden attack, lost a few men
in the first instance, but after a few hours he completely or-
ganised the defence, which during a month was most vigorously
conducted, and he only made up his mind to surrender when the
towers, shaken to their foundations by the explosion of mines,
were on the point of falling, and large breaches opened a wide
passace for the besieging army. In this extremity he sent the Serdar
Dost Mohamed Khen, Popolzye, one of his party, to Kamran, to
offer his submission : at the same time he invoked the clemency of
the conqueror, and sent him a Koran, opened at the verse which
recommends Mahomedans to bear no hatred, and forgive each
other their faults ; but the prince, certainly very far from a good
Mussulman, and, as I have already remarked, a rare example of
ferocity, fell upon the messenger and cudgelled him with a der-
vish's stick which he happened to have in his hand.

Moustapha Khan, appreciating clearly from this incident the
kind of fate that awaited him, defended himself with desperation
for ten days more—it was a lion encaged. . . . At last the assault
was given; the place fell; Moustapha was taken prisoner, and
suffered the most dreadful of deaths. His body was burned with
hot irons, his flesh torn with red-hot pincers by shreds; covered
with wounds and nearly flayed, he was bound to a large tree at
the entrance to the citadel, and on this spot the people con-
gregated to spit in his face, and covered him with every kind of
excrement. At last they ripped open his belly, and he expired
after enduring seven days of the most fearful agony. The
tree to which he was bound was standing in 1845. Kamran
Mirza punished his father, Shah Mahmood, for having assisted the
serdar in this revolt, by depriving him of his wine during one
whole month, which was to him a terrible infliction. As to his
gon Djehanguir Mirza, he gave him his liberty, but with it,
as a small recompense for having assisted in dethroning his
father, two thousand cuts with the bastinado on the soles of
his feet, forgetting that he had been guilty of the same crime
himself. In this family the son, grandson, and grandfather were
all equally worthy of each other, and strove to distinguish them-
selves by the most odious crimes. Such is the Afghan character:
the people of Afghanistan honour that which is vile with us.

From the death of Moustapha Khan, not one year went round
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without Kamran’s seeing some ambitious character putting his so-
vereignty m question. Alternately victor and vanquished, his reign
was nothing more than a long drama of intestine wars, conspiracies,
and revolts, followed by the most atrocious executions. He cruelly
put to death all who were opposed to him, even those whom he
merely suspected : and numbers of these unfortunate beings were
thrown under the feet of elephants, or to hungry tigers, which
he kept for this purpose. There was in his revenge a barbarous
ferocity of which it would be difficult to form a conception ; and
the most disgusting feature in it was, that he delighted to be himself
the executioner of the sentences which he pronounced. In Europe
the memory of Kamran would have been execrated for ages, but the
Afghans see things in another point of view ; courage so called is
in their eyes the greatest of all virtues: it stands in place of every
other, and to take vengeance upon an enemy, to kill and massacre
plenty of human beings, passes with them for courage. Directly a
prince, a chief, or a person of lower grade 1s in the possession of ab-
solute power, he ought to prove that he has it by the massacres he
orders. They cannot comprehend why an enemy vanquished or dis-
armed should be pardoned, and they regard thig as an act of weak-
ness and pusillanimity. In their estimation he who makes the most
victims is the most powerful, the most honoured ; and it is very
doubtful whether there iz a family in Herat which has not been
deprived of some one of its members by Kamran, Now that he
18 dead, the people flock in crowds in pilgrimage to his tomb.
With such sentiments it is not surprising to see the history of this
- nation broadly traced in characters of blood.
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CHAPTER XIIL

Death of Shah Mahmood — Kamran is suspected of murdering his father — Ife
indulges in every kind of excess — Death of Attah Khan — Yar Mobamed Khan
is made Vizier of Herat — Hostility of the Persians againat this principality —
Intriguee of Abbas Mirza — Yar Mohamed arrives at Meahed — He is put to the
torture by the Persian prince — Is delivered by the Athar Bashi— Measures of
Yar Mohamed — Revolt of the Syud Mohamed Sedik— He iz betrayed Ly
Kamran and executed — The Shah is closely watched by Yar Mohamed — His
sons are disgraced — Project of Mohamed Shah on Herat — The Barukzyes con-
sent to the restoration of Shah Shooja-— He plays the deapot, and is over-
thrown — Eyoob succeeds him — Mohamed Agzim Khan marches against the
Sikhs — Runjeet Sing successful against the Afghans — The battle of Noo-
chero— The Afghans are beaten — Death of Azim Khan— The character of
that serdar — His son Habib Ullah Khan succeeds him.

KamMran Mirza was generally suspected of having abridged the
days of his father, the Shah Mahmood, who was found dead in his
bath in 1829; some assert that he was poisoned, and some
that he was strangled, by the command of his son, who was tired of
gseeing him raised to power like a puppet every time an ambitious
man revolted against himself From the time of his father’s
decease Kamran took the title of King; he then seemed to have
lost all energy, and retired within the walls of the citadel of
Herat, remaining almost a stranger to the affairs of govern-
ment, the direction of which he gave up to his minister, the Serdar
Attah Khan, Ali Kioouzye, who had given him many marks of
his attachment, and in whom he had entire confidence ; after which,
and following the example of his father, he commenced & life of
drunkenness, opium-eating, and every Eastern vice.

This alteration in the conduct of the prince awakened the hopes
of every party, and each wished to try its strength in several
disturbances, but the vigilance of Attah Khan suppressed them
with 8o much energy that they withdrew into the shade, and made
no further attempts during his lifetime. This able man, who
had distinguished himself as much in war as in the cinil admi-
nistration of his country, died in 1830, leaving three sons, serdars
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like himself. In conformity with the custom of Afghanistan, where
the office of prime minister is hereditary like the crown, it was
expected that the eldest of these sons, the Serdar Dine Mohamed
Khan, would succeed his father as vizier. Though young, he had
ghown himself worthy of this distinction by his bravery in the
field and his military capacity, of which he had given proof on
several occasions; but, surrounded by intrigues, he refused to
accept power, and abandoned his rights to his cousin, the Serdar
Y ar Mohamed Khan, who, having lost his father at a very tender
age, had been brought up with him in the house of Attah Khan.
The minister had always evinced a great predilection for his
nephew, and frequently expressed an opinion anticipatory of his
future greatness; and Shah Kamran, influenced by a certain
mollah, Mohamed Athar Bashi, the apothecary-in-chief, who
flattered his passions, and adwinistered his drugs to excite them,
accepted Yar Mohamed Khan as his vizier.

This young serdar, who was distinguished for his courage
and cleverness, had made numerous partizans amongst the Hera-
tees. His father Abdullah Khan, Ali Kioouzye, although of
noble extraction, was not in the outset a very great person-
age; but he rose by merit, and became governor of Cashmeer
at the period when Shah Mahmood first ascended the throne.
That sovereign released him from prison, in which he had been
confined by Shah Zeman, and placed him in this high position ;
thus fortune favoured him, and his son’s career was even more
successful.

‘The début of Yar Mohamed in administrative affairs justified
the selection which had been made in his person ; it is, however, to
be presumed that he at once turned his views towards the assump-
tion of supreme power, for all his acts tended constantly towards
the accomplishment of his ambitious projects. As firm as he was
vigilant, he always held his adversaries in check by depreciating
them ; he successively removed those most dangerous to his interests
in a manner that did not produce too much discontent, and
endeavoured to smother the rivalry existing between the various
tribes on whose support he could rely ; he proceeded, in short, hike
a clever and intelligent man, and the Shah Kamran, confiding in
him, followed his advice in all respects. But Yar Mohamed had
been minister scarcely a year when one of those events so frequent
in Afghanistan arose to check for a moment his dawning fortunes.
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At the commencement of 1832 Feth Ali Shah, always pre-
occupied with the idea of joining the province of Herat to Persia,
assembled 30,000 men at Meshed under the command of Abbas
Mirza, the heir apparent to the throne. For some years past
Russia had encroached considerably on the north of the Persian
territory ; England had done the same thing in the south, to
the prejudice of the Indian princes. Nevertheless, she had not
made a progress that would enable her to secure as much influence
in Persia as the Tzar. She commenced, therefore, by fearing that
the Shah of Persia, whom she had abandoned to the Muscovites,
would undertake the conquest of Ilerat, and this much more in
accordance with the wishes of the Emperor Nicholas than his own.
England was alarmed at this demonstration on the side of India of
which Herat is the key, and brought forth all the springs of her
clever policy to prevent it, or at least to paralyze the cffects of it.
She was, however, in the first instance, somewhat reassured by the
reflection that, the Persian army being dirccted by English officers,
could only obtain such success as they would permit. The East
India Company was also clever enough to induce Feth Ali Shah to
turn the expedition from its original object for a time, and reduce
the petty chiefs of Khorassan, who had given only a nominal obe-
dience to Persia since the reign of Nadir Shah.

On his arrival at Meshed the prince Abbas Mirza despatched
one of his officers to the Shah Kamran to request him to send his
minister there in order that they might consult together, and
endeavour to terminate their differences in an amicable manner.
The character of the prince inspiring the vizier with every con-
fidence, he accepted this invitation, and went to Meshed attended
by five hundred Afghan horse; but instcad of coming to an
arrangement as Yar Mohamed hoped, Abbas Mirza origin-
ated fresh and serious difficulties, and Yar Mohamed was very
goon obliged to confess to himself that he had been led into a
snare. VY ith great secrecy, therefore, he immediately sent off his
men by small detachments to Kootchan, then governed by Reza
Kooli Kban, who had not been subdued by Abbas Mirza, and
recommended them as brave fcllows who could powerfully
assist the ally of his sovercign in the defence of his fort, which
Yar Mohamed considered one of the outworks of Herat. lle
then addressed a communication to the Persian prince containing
most energetic protestations on his strange proceedings with regard
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to himself ; but it was all very fine for him to invoke the inriola-
bility of an ambassador’s person, or the rights of individuals ; no
one listened to him, and a few days after, the prince, fearing his
energy and talents, gave an order that his movements should be
carefully watched. After this Abbas Mirza endeavoured to bring
him to consent to an arrangement relative to Herat, but the vizier
would not concede anything which he considered prejudicial to the
interests of the Shah Kamran. The prince even went so far as to ex-
tract two of his teeth to cure his obstinacy, when by the intervention
of some great personages this cruelty, unworthy of one of the Persian
royal family, was abandoned. The Athar Bashi, however, soon
arrived to offer himself as an hostage in the place of Yar Mohamed,
who returned to Herat ; but the vizier not having sent the prince
the ransom which he had consented to pay to save his life, the
Athar Bashi was placed in great danger: the death of Abbas
Mirza, which took place towards the close of the “year 1833,
facilitated his release, which he succeeded in obtaining at the cost
of 1000!. paid to those who had charge of him. He also promised
to send them a similar sum when he reached Herat, but this he of
course took very good care not to do.

The intrigues of the English at the court of Feth Ali Shabh to
prevent the expedition against Herat from being carried out, only
partially succeeded ; the troops were occupied in reducing the
small fortresses still unsubdued of Khorassan, and two years
elapsed between the period at which they reached Meshed, and
the time when Mohamed Mirza, the eldest son of the hereditary
prince of Persia, encamped under the walls of Herat with a corps
d’armée to effect a preliminary investment of the place. This
was to be succeeded by a regular siege on the arrival of the rear-
guard under the command of his father, but Mohamed Mirza had
scarcely pitched his tents under the city walls when he heard of
the death of Abbas Mirza, in consequence of which he raised
his camp, and retreated on Meshed.

When Yar Mohamed escaped from the Persians he retook, and
with a strong hand, the reins of government : nevertheless his vigi-
lance could not prevent the revolt of the nomade population in some
of the districts sitnated in the north and east of the principality ;
but, an active géneralas well as a clever politician, he marched
without delay against the rebels,-and subdued them with as much
promptitude as vigour. He subsequently led his troops southward,
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and made Kamran’s authority respected in all the Seistan. After
this he returned to Herat, and continued to take a firm course in
furtherance of his secret designs.

Towards the close of the year 1834 an Indian Mussulman, who
had been a sergeant in the East India Company’s service, came to
Herat, and offered his services to the Shah Kamran, which the
vizier accepted, and from this time the infantry, till then held
in little estimation there, was drilled, though very indifferently,
on the European system.

Taking advantage also of a few years’ peace which ensued after
the retreat of the Persians, Yar Mohamed repaired the fortifications
of the city, which in consequence of the numerous assaults they had
sustained were partly in ruins. He created villages, invited the
populations from a distance to settle in them and cultivate the
land lying untilled or unreclaimed, and would have done at that
time what he did at a later period, encouraged industry and com-
merce, and cleared the roads of myriads of robbers who had
infested them, but such measures would then have injured his
own interests, It is true that he governed, but Shah Kamran
reigned, and he had the tact to make the odium of the plunder-
ing and discontent on the part of the people, fall upon the king,
while he managed to secure to himself all the praise of what-
ever was good. If from the moment of his elevation to the post of
vizier he was remarkable for those qualities which are with difficulty
found united in an Afghan, he was nevertheless not exempt from the
vices of his countrymen. During the entire reign of the Shah
Kamran he was as avaricious, cruel, and implacable as it is possible
for an Afghan to be; but unfortunately this is frequently necessary
with people of this nation, though in his extortions and sanguinary
executions he was not always guided by any regard for the
public weal : his ambition on such occasions was concealed
under a veil of devotion which he affected to feel for his prince
and his country, and the serdars, who were not his dupes, were
continually on the alert to overthrow him, but without the least
success. |

Amongst the numerous revolts which he had to repress, that
which broke out at the commencement of 1837 gave him the most
serious uncasiness. It was headed by the same Syud Mir Sedik
Kban, Berduranee, who had surrendered the town of Herat to the
Shah Kamran when he was dethroned by the Serdar Moustapha

N
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Khan ; but less fortunate on this occasion, Mir Sedik, having failed
in his enterprise, was taken and executed. The unfortunate Syud
had entered into this conspiracy with the full knowledge and con-
sent of the king, who, beginning to perceive that his vizier was
more powerful than himself, and even restricted bis personal liberty,
was anxious to throw off the shackles which impeded the freedom
of his actions. But he did not dare to strike openly, and it was
actually the Shah himself who in a drunken fit revealed the plot
to Yar Mohamed, and thus caused the death of Mir Sedik Khan
as well as that of many other chiefs who were completely devoted
to him.

After this occurrence the vizier removed from the court such
of the king’s advisers as were attached to him, and by degrees
replaced them by his own creatures. He preserved to the Shah all
the external appearances of respect and obedience, but he found a
thousand ways of eluding his orders and his wishes when they were not
in accordance with his own views ; and in fact he did as he pleased.

Shah Kamran, warned by his wives, his sons, and other relatives,
who detested the vizier, at length perceived clearly where all this
would end, but there was not one spark of that feverish ambition
remaining in him which caused the death of Fethi Khan. The
state of drunkenness in which he continually lived paralyzed all
his enmergy, and he never seriously attempted to deliver himself
from the tyranny which his minister imposed upon him. He readily
gave his consent, it is true, to a secret league formed by a powerful
party to overthrow Yar Mohamed, a conspiracy at the head of
which were his own sons ; but he withheld his co-operation on two
or three occasions at the very moment when his minister was to
bave been put an end to, and at length finished by discovering the
plot to him himself. Yar Mohamed disposed of the chiefs who
had formed these intrigues, and punished the gons of his sovereign
by reducing to a very small sum the allowance which they received
from the state.

Such was the situation of affairs at Herat, when towards the close
of the year 1837 Mohamed Shah, King of Persia, again laid
siege to that capital, and took up the idea which his grandfather
Feth Ali Shab had entertained, of adding this province to his do-
minions ; and this desire was all the more intense, inasmuch as he

considered that he was bound in honour to recommence a giege which
the death of his father Abbas Mirza had alone induced him to
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abandon before he had even fired a shot. The execution of this
project was highly eatisfactory to the Russian government, for it
admitted the validity of the Shah’s claims upon Herat, and found
independently of these many other legitimate and powerful motives
for approving of the expedition undertaken by that monarch.
Amongst them was the refusal of Shah Kamran to liquidate the
arrears of tribute which he had pledged himself to pay, and the
sums of money taken by his vizier from several Persian caravans
travelling through his territory. The English, who had done
everything in their power to prevent the first expedition against
Herat from being carried out, opposed the second in a still more
decided manner; but as the consequences connected with this
event were of so grave a nature that we cannot treat them sum-
marily, we will enter at a later period into the details of the
varions phases through which it passed. In the mean while
we must retrace our steps a little to give some account of what
happened in Kandahar, Kabul, and Cashmeer after Shah Mahmood
and his son Kamran had been driven from Afghanistan proper.

Once master of Kabul, the Serdar Mohamed Azim Khan, who,
on the death of the vizier Fethi Khan, became the oldest surviving
son of Payendeh Khan, reunited the scattered remains of the
Afghan army, and re-established security and order; but his
brother the Nawab Djebbar Khan, by whom he was represented in
the government of Cashmeer, had great difficulty in escaping the
snares set for him by Runjeet Sing, and in suppressing the revolts
which arose from the intrigues of his clever and powerful neighbour.
His other brother, Rahim dil Khan, had been obliged to fly from
Shikapoor immediately after the death of Fethi Khan to escape
from the Beloochees, whom Shah Shooja, who had hurried from
India, had induced to revolt against him.

Poor dil Khan bad remained master of Kandahar, but not
thinking himself sufficiently strong to maintain his power as
sovereign, and having no hope of receiving any succour from
Mohamed Azim Khan, who had quite enough to do in Kabul, he
sent his brother Kohendil Khan to Shikapoor, to propose certain
terms to Shah Shooja, which, if accepted, would lead to his resto-
ration to the throne of his ancestors, This prince insisted that
the sons of Payendeh Khan assembled at Kandahar should swear
on the Koran that they were sincere in their devotion to his person,
and after having obtained this pledge he proceeded to that city,

' N 2
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from whence he wrote to Mohamed Azim Khan to claim his rights
over Kabul and Peshawur. Mohamed Azim having given in
writing, a similar declaration to that of his brothers, and sent it to
the Shah, Shooja set off immediately to join him at Peshawur
where he then was, and Poor dil Khan accompanied him with a
strong escort. Mohamed Azim Khan was in perfect good faith
when he consented to the restoration of Shooja-ool-Moolk, for his
position was not less embarrassing than that of Poor dil Khan,
and he had very great difficulty in maintaining his authority over
the northern provinces of the kingdoni. Foreseeing well that the
divisions which had crept in between his brothers would lead, ere
long, to the loss of the sovereign power in his family, he thought
that the only way of consolidating the influence of the Moha-
medzyes was to call in a Suddozye prince, whom they would place
like a puppet on the throne, and preserve for themselves all the
executive power. The restoration of Shah Shooja was therefore to
be effected on this basis and understanding; but such a mode of
proceeding was by no means satisfactory to that prince, whose
imperious and absolute character had not been softened in exile,
and who wished to ascend the throne without making any condi-
tions, or entering into any engagement, either with individuals or
the people at large. Mohamed Azim Khan, thinking that he might
bring the king to admit as sacred the right of his family to the
first offices in the state, re-established him on the throne, and this in
spite of the knowledge that he had of his intractable character.
But Shooja, without taking any account of the ulterior conse-
quences of his conduct, manifested almost from the outset his
arrogance without disguise ; he treated Mohamed Azim Khan
and Poor dil Kban as rebels, took offence because one of their
cousins used a palanquin, and ordered that for the future this honour
should be reserved for the princes of the Suddozye family alone.
Mohamed Azim and his brothers exhausted all the powers of
argument that could be dictated by consideration and wisdom to
induce Shah Shooja to listen to reason, but, finding him immovable
in his absolute views, they would not permit him to proceed to
Kabul ; the prince therefore left the camp, situated thirty-five
miles from Peshawur, and retired within the walls of that town,
with a small body of Sikhs who bad attached themselves to his
person, to which were added a thousand Afghans of the discon-
tented tribe of the Mohamedzyes. Mohamed Azim Khan, des-
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perate at having created fresh difficulties for himself by thus
recalling Shah Shooja, immediately laid siege to Peshawur with all
bis army. The prince could not hope to hold the place for any
length of time; nevertheless, he defended himself, but was even-
tually obliged to evacuate the town sooner than he had expected.
His magazine took fire and destroyed all his munitions of war;
two hundred of his men were killed by the explosion; and an
enormous breach was made in the city wall, which opened an easy
passage for the troops of Mohamed Azim.

Obliged to make a precipitate retreat, the Shah managed to
reach Shikapoor, where the Emirs of Scinde consented to receive
him. Sir Alexander Burnes states that they ceded the place to
bim and adds,—*‘ A series of intrigues set on foot by his enemies
expelled him even from this retreat, and he fled by the circuitous
route of the desert of Jaysalmere to Loodiana. The conduct of
Shah Shooja was ill-calculated to support his falling fortunes: he
forgot the dignity of a monarch in low intrigues with his subjects,
in which he tarnished their honour as well as his own. The
fitness of Shooja-ool-Moolk for the situation of sovereign seems
ever to have been doubtful. His manners and address are highly
polished, but his judgment does not rise above mediocrity.”

In the year 1819 Mohamed Azim Khan gave way to the repre-
sentations of Eyoob Mirza, another son of Timoor Shah, who came
to his camp, and promised bim that, if the Khan would place him
on the throne, he would appoint him his vizier, and give him all
the power, having no other ambition than that of perpetuating
the possession of the throne of the Afghans to the descendants of
the great Shah Ahmed, and to see money struck in his own
name. *‘ In short,” remarks the author of the work we have just
quoted, ** Eyoob said, ¢ Make me but king and permit money to
be coined in my name, and the whole power and resources of
the kingdom may rest with yourself; my ambition will be satisfied
with bread and the title of king.” These conditions were accepted,
nor did this puppet monarch ever violate or attempt to infringe
the terms by which he bad gained the name and trappings of
royalty, but continmed a tool in the hands of Azim Kbhan,
who was nominally his vizier. So degraded was now the state of
the Royal house of Kabul, that the very robe of honour with which
the minister was installed into the viziership of the empire, was a
portion of his own property, and had been sent privately to the
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Shah, who conferred it on the vizier with all the pomp and
display of royalty. Several of the young princes who aspired to
the throne were delivered over to Eyoob and put to death.”

Eyoob kept therefore the promise which he had made to Azim
Khan, even beyond what he had permitted hiwself to hope. The
Afghane will have in their kings activity, courage, and energy of
character, but Eyoob was distinguished only by nullity the most
cornplete : be thought of nothing but himself, and yet he could not
escape the fatality which seemed to pursue the sons of Timoor
Shah. Some letters which he wrote to his brothers Shah Mah-
mood and Shah Shooja bhaving been intercepted, Mohamed Azim
drove him out of Kabul, and put his brother Sultan Ali Mirza to
death, a8 he appeared to have encouraged the king in breaking
the pact which united him with the Mohamedzyes.

This would seem to indicate that Eyoob, in giving up so readily
the royal authority, obeyed from necessity rather than choice,
and without doubt only waited for a favourable opportunity to
obtain it ; but be that as it may, neither plan succeeded. At the
same period at which Sultan Al Mirza was put to death at Kabul
by Azim Khan, another brother of that prince, Mohamed Murad
Mirza, fell under the sword of Kohendil Khan at Kandahar, for a
reason similar to that which had led to the fall of Eyoob.

For several years past the affairs of government had weighed
heavily upon Mobamed Azim Khan; the order he established
after having driven Shah Shooja from Peshawur had, after the
dismissal of Shah Eyoob, again given place to agitation : the public
mind was to be quieted ; the serdars were to be satisfied or put
down to procure tranquillity for the kingdom, and that was not an
easy thing to accomplish. Mohamed Azim Khan in his desire to
smooth all these difficulties wished to proceed with some degree of
regularity ; he commenced therefore by marching against the
Sikhs, who, since they had occupied Attok, had taken possession of
some of the Afghan territory which surrounded it, and began to
be very unpleasant neighbours to the Dooranees.

That remarkable man Runjeet Sing, profiting by the enfeebled
state to which so many troubles had reduced the Afghans, |had
taken from them in succession Attok, Mooltan, Derrehghazee
Khan, Leya, and Cashmeer. Nawab Djabbar Khan, the governor
of this last province, had been forced to evacuate it, and suffered
great loss in effecting his retreat ; the Sikh troops had even pursued
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him to the right bank of the Indus, and at one time menaced
Peshawur. Eight thousand of Runjeet’s soldiers, under the com-
mand of Boodh Sing, bad also just made, from weak entrenchments
hastily thrown up, an heroic defence against a population of fifty
thousand Afghans. The Sikbs, up to this time enslaved, proved
by these brave deeds of arms that their nationality had boldly
developed itself; they felt the necessity of constituting themselves
a sepurate and compact power ; and as this first and sudden impulse
of the natural genius of this people might become fatal to their
neighbours, there was not a moment to lose in repulsing such
formidable adversariesz. ~Azim Khan therefore marched a body
of troops towards the quarter that was threatened ; but though
they obtained marked and somewhat numerous advantages over
Runjeet, they were not able to force him to recross the Indus,
which on his invasion of the Afghan territory his cavalry had
passed by swimming at a spot where there was no ford—a feat
unheard of before in the annals of war in that country.

Mohamed Azim Khan had endeavoured to rouse the fanatical
feelings of his soldiers by proclaiming a holy war, but, not having
been able to arrest the success of this modern Porus by that device,
he was obliged to march in person against him. The Sikh and
Afghan armies met at Noochero in 1822, the latter being divided
into two corps by the Kabul river. The vizier Azzim Khan had
conceived his plan of operations very badly : for he and the greater
part of his brothers were on the southern side of the river with the
second division, which it was impossible to move to the support of
the first when it was attacked in person by the whole of Runjeet’s
forces. Nevertheless it sustained the fight valiantly : the infantry,
posted on an eminence, and protected by several pieces of cannon,
received the onset of the Sikhs without flinching, and repulsed four
succeseive charges which they made with the whole of their cavalry;
it was only when a fifth was given that the Afghans were obliged
to fall back, and with the loss of their guns—Runpjeet conducted
this charge in person, and brought up the whole of his reserves.
Mohamed Azim Khan and his brothers were spectators of
this sad disaster without the power, as it is said, of being able
to remedy it; a circumstance which seems incomprehensible,
for the runaways found no difficulty in crossing the river and
rejoining them, as did likewise a corpe of Sikhs who pursued them,
How then did it happen that Azim Khan could not do the same ?
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But supposing the Afghan general had committed this first error, it
was easy for him to repair it by attacking the Sikhs in their passage
of the river, which he did not do ; the fact was, his heart failed him,
and he took to flight His apologists have endeavoured to justify
his retreat by saying that it was caused by the shouts that were
beard in the Sikh camp on the night preceding the battle, which
led Azim Khan to believe they had received large reinforce-
ments, But even if this version of the affair was correct, the
error, not to say stupidity, of allowing the Sikhs to cross the river
without making any attempt to stop them, is not the less great;
besides, it may always be said that the Afghan general did not
advance merely to retreat, but to fight, and that he might at least
have saved his guns and his baggage which be abandoned. The
Sikhs, taking advantage of the panic that seized their adversaries,
marched on Peshawur, of which they took possession, and destroyed
the citadel. |

The right bank of the Indus remained in the power of the Sikhs
after the battle of Noochero, and Peshawur was an advanced post
over which Runjeet reserved the right of suzerainty. He gave
the government to Sultan Mohamed Khan, one of the brothers of
Azim Khan, enforcing a small tribute, hoping by this means to
increase the disunion amongst the sons of Payendeh Khan, and
turn it to greater account.

Mohamed Azim Khan, overwhelmed by all these reverses, and
suffering from the effects of a wound which, from his habits of
drinking, had become very irritated, left the army, the temporary
command of which he gave to his brother Dost Mohamed Khan,
and took the road to Kabul, where he hoped to recover; but this
hope was never realized, for he had not sufficient strength left to
reach the city, and died at the village of Latu-bend about two
days’ journey from the capital. For some time past he had felt
convinced his end was approaching, and hastened to collect all his
wealth, which amounted to 2,700,000..* Azim Khan left this
enormous sum to his son Habib Ullah Khan, and a few hours
before his death he made him swear to employ it and his Lfe in
revenging his father’s defeat and the misfortunes of his country.

The character of the vizier Mohamed Azim Khan has been
estimated very differently by different persons according as they
were partizans of the Suddozyes or the Mohamedzyes, but the

® I learnt this from Kohendil Khap, his sons, and his brother.— Forreer,
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majority of impartial individualsin Afghanistan are of opinion that
he was a man of moderate abilities, and not equal to his mission;
that he was wanting in firmness ; that his military talents were of
a mediocre character ; and that his love of wine and ardent spirits
was 80 great that he had the command of his faculties but for a
very short time during the twenty-four hours. He was, however,
gentle, conciliating, and showed great urbanity of disposition.
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CHAPTER XIV.

Proceedings of Habib Ullah Khan — Divisions between the sons of Payendeh
Khan — Hahib Ullah Khan at war with his uncles — Poor dil Khan interferas
in Kabul — Union of Sultan Mohamed and Dost Mohamed Ehans — Shere dil
Khan and Poor dil Khan establish peace between their brothers — Dost Mohamed
again at variance — His rivalry with Sultan Mohamed — That prince at
Peshawur — Sir A, Burnea's opinion of him — Kandahar — Pour dil Khan and
Shere dil Khan — Character of the latter — Sir A. Burnes's opinion of the
EKandahar chiefs — Character of Dost Mohamed — Sir A. Burnes's opinion of him.

Hasis UrLLams KraN had sworn to his dying father that he would
take no rest until he had exterminated the Sikhs, but his courage did
not correspond with his promise; it is true he continued the war,
but without energy ; and it was only by the power of money that
he was enabled to maintain for a short time his troops in obedience.
Brutalized by his passion for drink, a vice which he inherited from
his parent, he felt very little for the misfortunes of his country.
His mother endeavoured, but in vain, to stimulate his zeal, and
lead him to appreciate more honourable sentiments; but he
remained deaf to her solicitations. This apathy in their chief
discouraged the inferior officers, who by degrees abandoued him,
while the serdars and his uncles neglected the national defence
and interests to quarrel for power amongst themselves. From this
period the sons of Payendeh Khan were more disunited than even
the Suddozyes, and rushed into a number of little wars which con-
tinued during several years, until a few of them had succeeded in
definitively establishing themselves in the Afghan principalities.
Balkh, Khulm, Koondooz, and Badakshane had shaken off the yoke
since the fall of Shah Zeman, and governed themselves. As to
Scinde, Shah Shooja was the last of the Afghan kings who received
tribute from that country, and after his disaaters the Talpoora
Emirs considered themselves as completely independent.

Hahib Ullah had scarcely exercised his power six months when,
his money being spent, all consideration for him was at an end ; in
Kabul he had only a mere shadow of authority remaining, and that
was soon disputed by his uncles. As to Sultan Mohumed Khan,
who had been made governor of Peshawur by Runjeet, he was not
satisfied with the small revenues of that province, which he was
obliged to share with his two brothers, Pir Mohamed Khan and
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Syud Mohamed Khan. Dost Mohamed Khan had made a party
for himself, and resided at Ghuznee.

The army of Hahib Ullah Khan, considerably weakened by
desertion, was not in & condition {o measure its strength with those
of his uncles united. Aware of this, he sent his brother Akrem
Kban to Kandahar to represent to their uncle Poor dil Khan the
danger there would be to him if he permitted his brothers Sultan
and Dost Mohamed Khan, who then bad the reputation of being
ambitious and restless characters, to acquire an influence in his
neighbourhood superior to his own, for it might lead to their
creating disturbances in the principality of Kandahar, and possibly
end in their taking it from him if he was not upon his guard ;
Akrem Khan also sent him a few of their letters which had
been intercepted, and in which such intentions had been clearly
manifested.

Poor dil Khan, alarmed at the danger which meumd him,
sent his brother Shere dil Khan to Kabul at the head of a few
thousand men, and this serdar met Dost Mohawed Khan on the
road, beat, and forced him to retire upon Jellalabad, and then
proceeded to Kabul. There, however, instead of giving any
assistance to his nephew Habib Ullah Khan, he deposed him,
plundered him of his riches under a threat of killing him, and united
the remnants of his army with his own. The vanquished chief by
way of consolation now plunged into every kind of debauch, and
continued to reside at Kabul, where he still lives in a miserable
plight, given up to excesees of the most filthy kind. Akrem Khan,
his younger brother, died after his return to Kandahar ; he was a
brave and resolute man, and no friend to ambitious characters: his
death was supposed to have taken place from the effects of poison.

When Sultan Mobamed Khan and Dost Mohamed Khan saw
the turn affairs had taken at Kabul, they put a stop for a time to
the fratricidal war they had carried on since the death of Azim
Khan, and united their forces with a view of seizing that province.
They then marched against their brother Shere dil Khan, who at
their approach retired within the walls of the Bala Hissar, not
having sufficient troops to meet them in the field. Here he had
great difficulty in maintaimng himself during the winter of 1825.
The season was very severe ; the roade were covered with snow, and
impaseable ; and it was only in the epring, and after he bad been
five months besieged, that Poor dil Khan could bring bim rein-
forcements from Kandabar. Directly these arrived they attacked
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Sultan Mohamed and Dost Mohamed, and defeated them after
a most sanguinary struggle. Nevertheless, these serdars did not
consider their cause a hopeless one, and again prepared to try the
fortune of war, when Poor dil Khan, by a generous resolution,
stopped the further effusion of blood. lle went almost alone to
the camp of his brothers, and pictured to them all the calamities
which the quarrels and divisions of the sons of Payendebh Khan had
brought upon their country. ¢ Let us stand close,” said he ; ¢ and
to prove to you to what extent our union is dear to me, I will return
to Kandahar, and abandon Kabul to Sultan Mohamed Khan,
our eldest brother; but, before I retire, you must swear to me, as
well as all our brothers now present in both camps, that nothing
shall disunite us for the future.” This generous proposition was
accepted, and a good understanding reappeared for some time
amongst the members of this heroic family.*

But Dost Mohamed Khan took the oath that Poor dil Kban had
exacted only because he felt convinced that his brothers would never
support Azm in his resistance, but he felt very angry that Sultan
Mohamed Khan, who wae already in possession of Peshawur, bad
been preferred to him as sovereign of Kabul, in contempt of the
rights that he thought be had acquired by the courage he had
everywhere displayed, and by his great popularity with the
Afghaus; and without doubt this chief was the bravest and the
most talented politician amongst the brotlers of the vizier Fethi
Khan, and had thus contributed more than any of them to over-
throw the Suddozye family. With him vexation and spite
overruling every other conmsideration, he foreswore himself and
prepared to carry arms against Sultan Mohamed Khan ; howerver,
there was, it i8 true, a deadly enmity between these two brothers,
which had its origin in a love affair. One of the widows of the
Serdar Azim Khan was a member of the royal family of the
Suddozyes, and, according to the established custom in Afghan-
18tan, was obliged to marry one of the surviving brothers of the
deceased. Sultan Mohamed Khan, who greatly admired her,
had, in the first instance, some chance of becoming her husband,
and a few conferences had already taken place on this subject,
when Dost Mohamed, who knew how to render his homage accept-
able, made his appearance and married the beautiful widow. Sultan
Mohamed Khan never forgave him this outrage, and swore to
wash it out in his blood whenever an occasion should present itself.

* All the sons of Payendeh Khan were then in one camp or the other.— Ferrier.
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During the space of two years did Sultan Mohamed and Dost
Mohamed carry on a merciless war one against the other, but it
terminated in 1826, when Dast Mohamed, victorious on all points,
was enabled to establish definitively his authority at Kabul.
Mobamed Khan, Beyat, a serdar of the Kuzzilbashes, gave him his
support in consequence of the blood relationship which united
them. His sister was the mother of Dost Mohamed Khan; and
without the support of the Kuzzilbash chief the Dost would have
had great difficulty in obtaining this triumph over his opponent,
who was assisted by the Sikhs.

Sultan Mohamed Khan, thus thrown back upon Peshawur, had
also the annoyance of finding himself more and more brought
under the power of Runjeet Sing. The Maharadja had, up to this
time, been satisfied with receiving a small annual tribute from the
Afghan chief. but, when he saw that Sultan Mohamed was beaten
by the Dost, he demanded that one of his sons should be delivered
up to him as a hostage, and reside at Lahore. It would have been
easy for Sultan Mohamed to escape this difficulty by becoming
reconciled to Dost Mohamed Khan, who was quite willing to receive
his advances, and had even taken the initiative in this respect ; but
Sultan Mohamed thou